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round program providing access to world class 
exhibitions and programs for all ages as well as 
opportunities for visitors to engage with the 
Museum, its collection and experts online.

Exhibitions at and experiences of our venues are 
informed by the Museum’s commitment to working 
with the best Australian and international partners, to 
making the collection more visible and accessible, 
and to continuing to build longer term relationships 
with our audiences, including reconciliation with 
Indigenous communities. 

This year we welcomed two new Trust members,  
Dr Alex Birrell and Ms Lynne Anderson. They bring a 
wealth of experience from their respective fields and 
I look forward to working with them as we ‘hold in 
trust’ the MAAS collection and plan for its exciting 
future. 

Finally, I would like to acknowledge the dedication 
and commitment of the Museum’s executive, staff 
and volunteers, who continue to deliver acclaimed 
exhibitions and programs, all while planning for a 
new flagship site in Parramatta.

Professor Barney Glover 
President

The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences (MAAS) is 
a Museum of reinvention. We respond to change 
with innovation, and the curiosity to challenge, and in 
doing so, engage an ever-changing audience. 

What began in 1879 with the Industrial, Technological 
and Sanitary Museum at the Garden Palace built in 
the Botanic Garden for the Sydney International 
Exhibition, found its way to Ultimo in 1893 as the 
Technology Museum, before formally being 
recognised as a state institution when the Museum of 
Applied Arts and Sciences Act was enacted in 1945. 
The Museum grew with the addition of sites in Castle 
Hill and Millers Point, with a final move of the 
Powerhouse Museum to its current site in Ultimo in 
1988.

This year, nearly 140 years since its inception, the 
Trustees are pleased to be guiding MAAS into the 
next chapter of its history. Throughout the year we 
have been working with the NSW Government to 
plan for a new, flagship MAAS campus in Parramatta, 
as well as continuing discussions to consider a 
broader range of options for the Ultimo site. 

In this current stage of the business planning 
process, the Trust has been strongly advocating that 
the Museum is considered as a single organisation, 
inclusive of its collection, facilities, stakeholders and 
professional staff working fluidly across the 
Museum’s three current sites — the Powerhouse 
Museum in Ultimo, the historic Sydney Observatory 
in Millers Point, and the world class collection and 
conservation facility at the Museums Discovery 
Centre in Castle Hill. 

MAAS Trustees are working with the NSW 
Government to ensure a sustainable future for the 
Museum and to maximise the benefits for the people 
of NSW. While this planning takes place, all our 
venues will remain open for business, with a year-

PRESIDENT’S  
FOREWORD
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Collaboration is inherent in our Museum’s collection 
and endeavours. It is a recognised and celebrated 
means of driving creativity, and fostering 
entrepreneurship and innovation. 

This year has been significant for us, as it saw MAAS 
take a leading role in the successful delivery of a 
number of cutting-edge projects, all delivered in 
partnership with other key institutions and 
communities. 

In September 2016, we re-opened the Museums 
Discovery Centre (MDC) following refurbishment of 
the public-facing facilities and the back-of-house 
collection storage areas. In a first for NSW, the site is 
now run by MAAS in collaboration with Australian 
Museum and Sydney Living Museums. Not only is this 
a practical and efficient solution to collection storage, 
a critical issue for collecting institutions globally, it also 
provides opportunities for visitors to see more of these 
state-significant collections and draw connections 
between the objects held by each museum.  

Throughout the year, in addition to loaning our 
collection internationally, we have partnered to bring 
the best experiences from around the world to 
Australia in a series of exclusive and Australian 
premiere exhibitions. Working with the Science 
Museum, London, we recreated the Large Hadron 
Collider and explored particle physics with some of 
our own MAAS experts who had worked at CERN. 
Technological advancements in CT scanning meant 
we could share what was beneath the wrapping of six 
mummies from the British Museum collection in our 
summer blockbuster Egyptian Mummies: Discovering 
Ancient Lives, which was seen by over 100,000 
visitors. In Out of Hand: Materialising the Digital we 
built on an exhibition concept from the Museum of 
Arts and Design in New York, and presented work 
from engineers, artists, architects and inventors 
throughout the Asia Pacific who are exploring  

DIRECTOR’S 
REPORT

the cutting edge of additive and subtractive 
manufacturing techniques in their respective fields. 

The award-winning exhibitions and experiences  
that we provided to our visitors through these 
collaborations are like none other in Australia.  
MAAS is Australia’s only museum of applied arts  
and sciences and, as such, is uniquely positioned  
to explore the creative and productive nexus of  
these disciplines.  

Our partnerships are not only between institutions. 
This year, as part of Reconciliation Week, I joined 
with local Indigenous Elders, community, staff and 
volunteers to launch the MAAS Reconciliation Action 
Plan (RAP) and Indigenous Cultural Intellectual 
Property Protocol (ICIP), as well as our Elders in 
Residence program. For MAAS, this was the start of 
an ongoing commitment to working in partnership 
with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
communities to build a culture of mutual respect and 
exchange, and embed Indigenous perspectives in all 
that we do. 

As we plan for the future of our Museum, which will 
include a presence in Western Sydney, we will 
continue to seek out innovative ways to collaborate, 
allowing us to explore new ideas and ways of 
working, and seek to lead the field of applied arts 
and sciences in Australia.

Dolla Merrillees 
Director and CEO
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KEY ACHIEVEMENTS  
2016–17

JULY
Tanabata: Star Village as part of the 
July school holidays
Photo: Lindy Goodwin 

AUGUST
Sydney Mini Maker Faire as part of 
Sydney Science Festival 
Photo: Jayne Ion

SEPTEMBER
The Museums Discovery Centre 
opened as a collaboration between 
MAAS, Sydney Living Museums and 
Australian Museum 
Photo: Marinco Kojdanovski

JANUARY
Dig pit activities at Museums 
Discovery Centre as part of the 
January school holidays
Photo: Ryan Hernadez

FEBRUARY
Sir David Adaye’s keynote lecture

MARCH
The new MAAS Online Collection 
launched
Photo: Felix Warmuth

Month by month highlights
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OCTOBER
Out of Hand: Materialising the Digital 
at the Powerhouse Museum 
Photo: Marinco Kojdanovski 

NOVEMBER
Launch of the Centre for Science, 
Technology, Engineering, Arts and 
Mathematics (STEAM)
Photo: Marinco Kojdanovski 

DECEMBER
Egyptian Mummies: Exploring Ancient 
Lives at the Powerhouse Museum 
Photo: Jayne Ion

APRIL 
Stargazing Live

MAY 
Launch of the MAAS Reconciliation 
Action Plan (RAP)
Photo: Wayne Quilliam

JUNE
Free Weekend at MAAS venues
Photo: Ryan Hernandez
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VISITATION

2016–17 
Visitation

Powerhouse Museum 561,503

Sydney Observatory 149,270

Museums Discovery Centre* 24,143

TOTAL onsite visitation 734,916

TOTAL offsite visitation 344,317

TOTAL visitation 1,079,233

* Museums Discovery Centre is a venue run in collaboration with 
Australian Museum and Sydney Living Museums and visitation to 
this site is attributed to all three collaborating agencies. 

NSW State Priorities
In 2014, the State Government announced the NSW 
State Priorities, which outlines 18 focus areas. In 
addition to the 12 Premier’s Priorities, the focus areas 
form a commitment to whole-of-government 
approaches to increasing quality of life in NSW. 

Amongst the State Priorities is a commitment to 
increasing attendance at cultural venues and events 
in NSW by 15% by 2019. MAAS has been working 
towards increasing attendance at its three venues in 
line with this State Priority. 

In 2014–15 MAAS achieved 573,730 onsite visits across 
venues. With annual onsite visitation in 2016–17 of 
734,916, MAAS has achieved a 28% increase in onsite 
visitation over the reporting period; above the 15% 
growth targeted by the State Priority, with another 
year remaining to complete the target. 

While visitation growth since 2014–15 has been 
strong, in the last year the ratio of paid to unpaid 
onsite visits shifted. The revenue impact of this is 
outlined in the Finances Year in Review. 

Onsite and offsite 
visitation
Visitors to MAAS venues came from across Australia 
and around the world. In 2016–17, 13% of general 
admissions to MAAS venues were from overseas, 
10% from interstate and 11% from regional NSW. 
Sydney Observatory saw the highest proportion of 
international visitors, with 25% from overseas.  

Offsite visitation represents engagements delivered 
by the MAAS team outside of MAAS venues.  
Throughout 2016–17 MAAS had two key travelling 
exhibitions touring throughout Australia — Faith 
Fashion Fusion and Winning Sky Photos. The 
Education team delivered extensive programs via 
video conference and incursions into schools 
throughout Australia, and MAAS staff shared their 
expertise at a range of conferences, seminars and 
specialised workshops.

‘It was nice being in a forum 
where we could learn about a 
new topic and have time to talk 
in depth with the scientist 
afterwards.’ – Visitor, Sydney Science 
Festival

World record attempt for largest number of people dressed as 
mummies. Photo: Leila Berney
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POWERHOUSE MUSEUM

Exhibitions
Egyptian Mummies
The biggest drawcard for visitors in 2016–17 was the 
world premiere exhibition at the Powerhouse 
Museum, Egyptian Mummies: Exploring Ancient 
Lives, direct from the British Museum and supported 
by Strategic Partner, Destination NSW. 

With over 100,000 attendances throughout the 
summer, the exhibition and related programming 
took visitors on a journey through time and culture, 
exploring the lives of six ancient Egyptians through 
innovative CT scanning technology, and artefacts 
from the British Museum and MAAS collections. 

Screens throughout the exhibition provided visitors 
the opportunity to digitally go beneath the wrappings 
and respectfully examine the preserved ancient 

bodies, complete with amulets and tell-tale signs 
which revealed common medical concerns of the 
day, as well as death and burial rituals. This  
award-winning exhibition design was created by 
Studio Plus Three, working with the MAAS  
Exhibition team. 

Costumed characters roamed the Powerhouse 
Museum, bringing the exhibition to life for visitors 
young and old. A school holiday program brought the 
theme of ancient lives and discoveries to audiences 
across all MAAS venues, including Sydney 
Observatory and the Museums Discovery Centre. 

A Guinness World Record attempt saw over 800 
people dressed as mummies (wrapped in toilet 
paper), to take the record for the largest number of 
people dressed as mummies in one place. 

Finally, Egyptology experts from around the world 
also gathered to present the Secrets of the Sand 
Symposium at the Powerhouse Museum. The 
Symposium was organised by Macquarie University, 
the Australian Centre for Egyptology and the  
Rundle Foundation, and presented in association  
with MAAS.

Out of Hand
Headlining the 2016 Sydney Design Festival, Out of 
Hand: Materialising the Digital, an exhibition 
exclusive to the Powerhouse Museum, invited visitors 
to not just see, but experience the future of design 
and manufacturing technology.  

Over 60 artists were exhibited, including 
internationally renowned practitioners such as Barry 
X Ball, Chuck Close and Iris van Herpen, who are 
defining new possibilities, understandings and 
expectations in their fields. A 272-page hard cover 
catalogue featuring the work of all the participating 
artists was published to accompany the exhibition.

The Hon Troy Grant MP, then Minister for the Arts, tours Egyptian 
Mummies with Director Dolla Merrillees and British Museum 
Conservator prior to exhibition launch.
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Works ranged from the interactive to the innovative, 
showcasing additive and subtractive manufacturing 
techniques including 3D printing, CNC routing, laser 
cutting, and digital knitting and weaving. 

MAAS curators added an Asia-Pacific lens to the 
exhibition concept, developed by the Museum of Art 
and Design in New York, with inclusions of works by 
artists such as Louie Pratt, Matthew Gardiner and 
Janelle Dehanne Wilson. Some of these objects from 
the exhibition were acquired for the MAAS collection 
as exemplars of the influence and possibility 
surrounding 3D design.

The exhibition design, realised by Lava, went on to 
win a Gold Award for exhibition and set design in the 
2017 Sydney Design Awards.

‘At its heart is the increasingly 
intense relationship between 
digital manufacturing and,  
well, everything — from art  
and design to science and 
architecture.’ – Review of Out of 
Hand, concreteplayground.com/sydney/
author/jasmine-crittenden/

 Love is …

Love is … Australian Wedding Fashion was the key offer 
from the MAAS Centre for Fashion in 2017, presented 
with support from Principal Partner, Tiffany & Co. The 
exhibition featured 200 years of wedding fashion from 
Australian celebrities and personalities, alongside 
examples of bridal trends across generations. 

Curated and developed inhouse by MAAS, the 
exhibition came at a time of rising national dialogue 
about marriage equality, and presented an opportunity 
to reflect on evolving cultural and societal norms. 

MAAS Conservator Suzanne Chee installing Iris Van Herpen dress 
into Out of Hand.

Contemporary fashion was contextualised with 
significant pieces from the MAAS collection, 
including Australia’s oldest surviving wedding dress, 
worn by Ann Marsden in 1822.

Celebrity garments included Nicole Kidman’s 
Balenciaga gown, Jesinta Franklin’s and Kate 
Waterhouse’s Vera Wang dresses and Anthony Callea 
and Tim Campbell’s Versace and Calibre wedding suits. 
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Programs
The Lab
This year MAAS launched The Lab, a new innovative 
hybrid space which can operate as a gallery space, a 
learning environment and an interactive event space 
at the Powerhouse Museum. With six large-scale, 
interactive projected ‘worlds’ (four of which have 
been created and developed inhouse by MAAS) 
visitors learn through play, manipulating elements 
with screen imagery and gameplay. The games link 
thematically or explicitly to the MAAS collection. 

The Lab also enables new programming through the 
development of new and immersive learning 
experiences. Industrial Revolution and Life on the 
Goldfields schools programs have been reimagined, 
taking advantage of the technical capabilities and 
now incorporate historical imagery projected to 
provide a 360o backdrop to these gamified learning 
programs.

The Lab has increased the offer for  digital 
workshops. This year MAAS ran over 200 digital 
workshops for a variety of audiences during every 
school holidays as well as specific weekends.

MAASive Lates
MAASive Lates, a series of after-hours events at the 
Powerhouse Museum for adults, continued to provide 
visitors with an opportunity to explore and interact 
with the collection in an unconventional and unusual 
way and engage with novel and thought-provoking 
people and ideas. MAAS held four MAASive Lates 
nights this year that focused on both major 
exhibitions and festivals, and welcomed nearly 5000 
attendees. 

‘… I loved the engagement with 
experts and being able to 
discuss shared interests with 
people who are so successful in 
their respective fields.’ – Visitor, 
MAASive Lates (Egyptian Mummies) 

Research Symposia
MAAS continued to hold research symposia for the 
galleries, libraries, archives and museums (GLAM) 
sector audience. This year the symposia were also 
open to students and the public as a way of engaging 
new adult audiences.  

The July symposium focused on archives, and the 
ethics of keeping, in partnership with State Library of 
New South Wales. In February the focus was on 
interpretation and ways of seeing, and the final event 
for the year brought audiences together in July to 
explore media, publics and the past, in partnership 
with Centre for Media History, Macquarie University 
and the Australian Centre for Public History, UTS.
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The Powerhouse Discovery Centre at Castle Hill 
underwent an extensive refurbishment program, 
funded by NSW Government. It re-opened as the 
Museums Discovery Centre (MDC) in September 
2016 as a collections storage facility, collaboratively 
operated by MAAS, Australian Museum (AM) and 
Sydney Living Museums (SLM).

The upgraded MDC site delivers world-class 
collection storage for the three institutions, including 
conservation workshops and laboratories, contained 
within a new 9,000 m² store, shared by each of the 
museums. Storage capacity continues to be a 
challenge for inner-city museums and this new 
facility will assist in sustainable collection growth and 
care for each institution. 

Together, the three collaborating museums care for 
millions of objects and specimens to form part of the 
NSW’s state collections, providing insights into 
engineering, architecture, science, transport, fashion, 
design, health, technology, natural history, domestic 
life, Indigenous and Pacific cultures and more. 

In addition to collection storage, the public access 
display store was also refurbished, providing galleries 
for viewing collections and facilities for public 
engagement and participation in programs. Through 
six themed spaces, which take advantage of visible 
storage display methods, the MDC offers 
unprecedented public access to the diverse and rich 
collections of three of Australia’s leading museums. 

The opening of the venue was celebrated with a free 
open weekend, which saw over 6,000 people over 
the two days, 82% visiting for the first time and 39% 
making their first museum visit in a year. Since 
opening, the MDC has offered regular school holiday 
programs, in addition to talks, workshops, quarterly 
open weekends and behind the scenes tours with 
volunteers and subject experts. 

‘Volunteers were excellent and 
very informative. Tour was 
great.’ — Visitor, MDC Free Weekend

Engagement with schools also continued to grow in 
the first year of operation. A series of co-designed 
learning experiences piloted a new way of working 
with teachers and learners, with MAAS educators 
working with teachers to outline a longer-term 
approach to learning, which consisted of both class 
visits to the MDC and educator visits into the 
classroom. Projects from these pilots have been 
exhibited at the MDC, and featured on ABC Splash.  

MUSEUMS DISCOVERY 
CENTRE

Guests at the opening of the Museums Discovery Centre.  
Photo: Marinco Kojdanovski



15ANNUAL REPORT

Fascination with the Moon was a draw card to the 
Observatory throughout the year, following the 
Perigee Syzygy Moon (or Super Moon) in mid-
November. Sydney Observatory experts were in 
demand from media to provide commentary on the 
event, and night tours on this evening reached 
capacity well in advance. 

Night tours continued to be the most popular of the 
programs at Sydney Observatory, with the tour 
program extending to include a family night tour and 
Sunday evening sessions to meet demand. These 
night tours celebrated the International Year of 
Sustainable Tourism by incorporating the short film 
by National Geographic Lost in Light. 

During the Egyptian Mummies season at the 
Powerhouse Museum, the Observatory featured the 
planetarium show Ancient Egyptian Skies. The 
program, produced inhouse, saw over 500 visitors 
experience the Egyptian sky as it was over 3000 
years ago.

Adult learners were a focus for the Observatory, with 
the Talking Space lecture series, adult astronomy 
courses and weekend workshops providing the 
opportunity for a more in-depth look at the universe 
with guidance from expert Observatory guides and 
guests. 

Sydney Observatory also featured in Stargazing Live 
Australia, a TV series presented by ABC over three 
consecutive nights in April 2017. Presented by 
renowned British physicist, Professor Brian Cox, and 
presenter Julia Zemiro, the program featured a cast 
of Australia’s leading scientists and some familiar 
faces to inspire Australians to ‘look up’ and 
appreciate the unique wonders of space.

New exhibitions and displays included the annual 
Winning Sky Photos: The David Malin Awards 2016 
and the Mabo Decision 25th Anniversary.

SYDNEY OBSERVATORY

Winning Sky Photos exhibition entry. Photo: Kristen McEwan

‘We spoke to several staff  
and they were fabulously 
knowledgeable, patient and 
generous with their time.’ – Visitor, 
Sydney Observatory Free Weekend 
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Families and children
Families programming across the three MAAS venues 
focused on giving children a sense of autonomy and 
agency by providing experiences that are self-
directed, co-created and participatory.

The school holiday offer across MAAS venues 
continued to evolve in response to the major ticketed 
exhibitions at the Powerhouse. The school holiday 
program focused on large-scale, immersive 
installations including the Ancient Lives Dig Zone 
where play, storytelling and craft-based activities 
took place. 

MAAS Minies and Tinies, an educator-led program 
for 0–5s, was piloted with MAAS Members, and 
proved successful in engaging carers and their 
children in informal learning and play as tools for 
exploring the Powerhouse Museum and collection 
disciplines. The program will be available across all 
three MAAS venues later in 2017.

UPSTARTS, the MAAS Youth Advisory Committee, 
launched in 2017. The committee comprises 16 young 
people aged 12–17 working with MAAS staff to devise 
and refine programming options for an audience of 
their peers and to deliver youth-focused programs. 

‘Every school holidays my 
children love going to the 
Museum … We never miss an 
opportunity to drop in and 
spend literally the whole day 
there …’ – Visitor, Summer School 
Holidays

LEARNING

Schools
For school audiences, the informal learning 
environment of the Museum extends and enriches 
learning capacity through a unique blend of 
technologies, collection, exhibitions and resources. 
MAAS builds curriculum bridges to optimise 
classroom outcomes, and creates engaging 
opportunities for learners to apply, challenge and 
develop their scientific and historical enquiry skills.

Dedicated programs for schools were offered at all 
MAAS venues, as well as via video conference to 
Regional NSW, incursions, and pop-ups in locations 
such as Parramatta. In total, over 60,000 learners 
participated in the schools program over the year. 

New learning programs were developed, and others 
have been reconsidered to accommodate curriculum 
changes and technological opportunities presented 
by tools such as Augmented Reality (AR), new 
learning environments such as The Lab learning 
space at the Powerhouse Museum, or through direct 
collaborations with teachers.

Video conferencing continues to be a vital delivery 
mode, with schools from NSW and Australia 
connecting. Again this year, the Mars Lab programs 
have proven popular with regional schools with over 30 
sessions delivered as well as extending the museum’s 
reach to schools around Australia and internationally.

With a commitment to trialling new ways of working, 
a co-designed learning collaboration was initiated 
with St Catherine’s Primary School in Waverley. The 
cross-curricula project-based learning unit involved 
the Year 1 and 2 learners in researching the history 
and geography of Centennial Park. MAAS Educators 
delivered school incursions, and the school visited 
the Powerhouse Museum for an interactive learning 
program in The Lab.
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MAAS continued to demonstrate its commitment to 
strengthening engagement with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander stakeholders and its leadership 
in this space is acknowledged locally, nationally and 
internationally. The MAAS approach to programming 
ensures Indigenous cultural perspectives are 
represented in all offerings, which has resulted in 
growth in  Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
visitation at the Powerhouse Museum. 

Highlights of the 2016–17 program include the 
instigation of the MAAS Indigenous Sciences 
Symposium, the Death and Dying in-conversation 
series and the school holiday tutting workshops with 
Mununjali hip-hop artist, Darren Compton, all in 
association with the Egyptian Mummies exhibition at 
the Powerhouse Museum.  

MAAS also partnered with Indigi Lab on their 
STREAMS IQ series, which brings together experts 

INDIGENOUS  
ENGAGEMENT

STREAM IQ panel from left Professor Peter Radoll, Dr David Suzuki and Robynne Quiggin.

on environmental sustainability, arts, science and 
Indigenous social rights to share their perspectives 
on how Indigenous and Western sciences and 
knowledge systems can work together to tackle 
major global issues. The first panel discussion in this 
series brought together celebrated scientist and 
environmental activist, Dr David Suzuki, Deputy 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social Justice 
Commissioner, Robynne Quiggin, as well as Director 
of the Ngunnawal Centre and Dean of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander Leadership and Strategy at the 
University of Canberra, Professor Peter Radoll.

Commemorative displays were presented at the 
Powerhouse Museum to recognise the 50th 
anniversary of the 1967 Referendum, and at Sydney 
Observatory to celebrate the 25th Anniversary of the 
Mabo Decision, which demonstrate the deepening of 
the Museum’s relationships with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities.
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In 2016–17 MAAS Regional Program focused on 
diversifying learning experiences, broadening access 
and sharing expertise.

The Designing Regions video conferencing series 
brought together regional tertiary students in 
creative industry courses with designers and curators 
to focus on design practice and career pathways. 

‘I have seen staff and students 
return from these video 
conferences both excited and 
inspired by the work presented.’ 
– Lorrae O’Brien, Teacher, TAFE,  Port 
Macquarie 

OUTREACH

The MAAS 3D-printing mobile unit presented printing 
and an open source workshop to participants at the 
National Regional Arts Conference in Dubbo. During 
the conference MAAS also collaborated with Central 
West Makers Place for a free 3D-printing meet-up. 

MAAS also continued to run popular outreach 
workshops in conservation and curatorial practice.  
A public programs-focused workshop was added  
to the schedule this year. These workshops were  
well attended by a variety of regional stakeholders 
including Bega Valley Museum, Bombala Historical 
Society, Old School Museum Merimbula, Eden Killer 
Whale Museum, Cobargo Museum, Cooma Monaro 
Historical Society, Snowy River High School, 
Bermagui Museum, Mallacoota High School and the 
Mallacoota WWII Bunker Museum. 

Designing Regions video conference with product designer Adam Goodrum.



MAAS Outreach workshop attended by a school group.



THE COLLECTION
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A total of 176 new acquisitions were added to the 
MAAS collection throughout 2016–17 as MAAS 
continued to enhance collection strengths and 
acquire objects that highlight the uniquely 
interdisciplinary nature of the collection. A strategic 
emphasis was placed on significant and innovative 
objects that demonstrate how technologies, science 
and design impact developments in Australia and 
around the world.

Objects were acquired through the Museum of Applied 
Arts and Sciences Foundation as well as through 
donations and the generous support of donors 
including the Designers Circle. Key acquisitions 
across the MAAS disciplines are outlined below. A 
full list of acquisitions can be found in Appendix 5.

ACQUISITION 
HIGHLIGHTS

Technology
Brionvega Cubo television 
This Cuboglass television was designed in 1992 by 
leading Italian industrial designer and architect, 
Mario Bellini. Produced in collaboration with 
Brionvega, the television exemplifies Bellini’s interest 
in suppressing the technical dimension of domestic 
consumer products and creating an object that 
adapts to any space it occupies through its use of 
highly reflective glass.

This object was purchased with funds from the Museum 
of Applied Arts and Sciences Foundation in 2016.

Cuboglass television by Mario Bellini.
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Health and Medicine
Rivet 3D-printed prosthetic limb cover
The Rivet cover clips onto a lower leg prosthesis and 
can be customised to the wearer’s anatomy and 
designed to reflect their personal style. It links 
together the disciplines of contemporary design, 
cutting-edge technology and health and medicine, 
and was displayed as part of Out of Hand: 
Materialising the Digital.

This object was purchased with funds from the 
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Foundation in 
2016. 

Physical Sciences
Silicon Sphere
This silicon sphere represents a major scientific 
breakthrough, forming part of an international 
project to redefine the kilogram standard in terms of 
fundamental constants. Made and used by Achim 
Leistner at CSIRO as part of the Avogadro Project, 
this prototype enabled scientists to measure the 
exact number of atoms in the sphere, allowing the 
kilogram to be redefined in terms of atomic 
properties, rather than weight due to gravity.

This object was a gift of Achim Leistner in 2016. 

Engineering
Wind Tunnel Models for Central Park No 1
These innovative contemporary wind tunnel models 
were used to test the effect of high winds on the 
proposed design for Sydney’s Central Park No 1 
which included the likely impact on people in the 
surrounding streets.

This object was a gift of Graeme Wood, CPP Wind 
Engineering & Air Quality Consultants in 2017.

Contemporary Culture 
Deer Vase by Kate Rohde 
Kate Rohde’s spectacularly ornate, multi-coloured 
Deer Vase combines historical decorative motifs and 
contemporary materials. Rohde’s investigation into 
the changing nature and perception of decorative 
arts blurs traditional boundaries between design, 
decorative art and fine art that is reflective of our 
time. Made from a single mould, Deer Vase is Rohde’s 
largest polyurethane work to date and was acquired 
with accompanying digitally designed wallpaper.

This item was purchased with funds from the Museum 
of Applied Arts and Sciences Foundation in 2017.
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Kate Rohde's spectacular Deer Vase was acquired for the collection in 2017.
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Fashion
Two costumes from La Bohème
These two costumes designed by Catherine Martin 
from La Bohème, Baz Luhrmann’s first production with 
Opera Australia, were acquired from the Opera 
Australia: Costumes and Memorabilia auction in June 
2017.  

Martin’s full-skirted 1950s-inspired red dress 
enhanced the flirtatious and feisty character of 
Musetta, worn by Nakajima Akiko. This item was 
acquired with funds from the Museum of Applied 
Arts and Sciences Foundation in 2017.

Martin’s three-quarter-length black and red dress 
constructed in a 1950s silhouette with black 
embellished net over red satin lining was worn by 
Christine Douglas. This item was purchased through 
the generous support of Designer’s Circle member 
Elizabeth Pakchung in 2017.

In addition, this year MAAS acquired a collection of 
designer clothing, shoes and bags from the personal 
wardrobe of Catherine Martin, including costumes 
and accessories from Strictly Ballroom, Australia, and 
Moulin Rouge.

Costumes for La Bohème.

Design and Decorative 
Arts
Chinese Propaganda and New Year Posters
This group of 40 propaganda posters is a striking 
example of Chinese political visual culture from the 
second half of the 20th century, charting an era of 
extraordinary political and social change in China.

A selection of these posters was displayed at the 
Powerhouse Museum to coincide with the 2017 Lunar 
New Year celebrations.

The posters were purchased with funds from the 
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Foundation in 
2016.
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Outgoing
Relationships with cultural institutions locally and 
internationally were strengthened through the 
outgoing loans program.

The ArtScience Museum in Singapore borrowed a 
prosthetic arm and attachments for their Human+: 
The Future of Our Species exhibition.

Throughout NSW and locally MAAS supported 
exhibitions by lending to organisations, including 
those in Murwillumbah, Penrith and Manly. The 
collection was represented nationally in a diverse 
range of contexts, including exhibitions at the 
National Museum of Australia, Museum of Old and 
New Art (MONA), Australian Centre for the Moving 
Image, Heide Museum of Modern Art and the 
Museum and Art Gallery of the Northern Territory.

In total, 380 collection objects were on loan in 
Sydney, across NSW, interstate and internationally. 
Throughout the year, 28 loans comprising 253 objects 
returned to MAAS following the completion of loan 
arrangements across Australia and around the world. 

Visitation of 2,335,278 was recorded at borrowing 
venues where an exhibition featured a MAAS object. 

LOANS

Incoming
This year MAAS managed the incoming loan of 1301 
objects from 164 lenders. 

Several wedding dresses were borrowed for the 
exhibition Love is … Australian Wedding Fashion 
including Nicole Kidman’s Balenciaga wedding outfit, 
which she wore when she married Keith Urban in 
2006.

MAAS borrowed objects from Gail Mabo and the 
National Aboriginal Islander Skills Development 
Association for the Mabo Decision 25th Anniversary 
display at the Sydney Observatory.

Local students lent material to the Museum for a 
number of exhibitions, including the Special Object 
exhibition at the Museums Discovery Centre, Shape 
2016 and Student Fashion on display at the 
Powerhouse Museum.
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Digitisation of the MAAS collection continued to 
increase a further 2.9% this year with more objects 
photographed and documented. A total of 40,894 
new images were added to the database and new 
images were attached to 10,342 object records. Close 
to 50% of the MAAS collection is now digitised.  

These newly digitised records were made available 
through the redesigned MAAS online collection, 
which launched in March.  

The new online collection allows visitors from all over 
the world to search and explore over 130,000 objects 
from the Museum’s diverse collection. The new 
design was informed by user testing with our 
audiences about how they engage online, across a 
variety of mobile devices and with an emphasis on 
visual imagery. High-resolution images of most 
collection objects with zooming functionality allow 
for detailed exploration. 

Behind the scenes, the site is powered by new 
infrastructure allowing for almost real-time  
collection updates and continued growth of the 
MAAS collection. A powerful, fast search interface 
for the collection accommodates complex searches 
as well as providing a simple way to filter results. 
Recommendations of related objects, as well as 
related events, articles and exhibitions have been 
included. A new feature, collection sets allow 
galleries of objects united by a theme to be 
presented, inviting users to make connections 
between objects that may not have been  
immediately obvious.

Following the launch of the new online collection, 
users on the site increased by 62%, average session 
time increased by 31% and pageviews per session 
increased by 62%.

Digitisation also opens up opportunities for more 
experimental ways of exploring the collection, such 
as collaborating with industry to use new 
technologies such as virtual reality (VR) and 
augmented reality (AR) offering exciting new 
possibilities for museum visitor experiences. 

In 2017 MAAS collaborated with CSIRO Data61 to 
develop an augmented reality experience around the 
iconic Frigate Bird II Catalina flying boat. Using 
Microsoft’s HoloLens headset, this prototype allows 
visitors to explore a virtual map of the Catalina’s 
famous journey to South America captained by  
P J Taylor, presented with archival photographs, 
information about the voyage and a holographic 
model of the famous plane. The experience is 
designed to showcase possible future applications of 
AR and VR technology for MAAS.

DIGITISATION

Browsing the new MAAS Online Collection.
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This year MAAS completed and opened its new 
storage facility, a three floor, 9000 m2 storage 
building at the Museums Discovery Centre in Castle 
Hill. The I Store is part of a joint shared storage and 
access project with Sydney Living Museums and the 
Australian Museum. MAAS occupies 4700 m2 of the  
I Store, across two floors. Designed to store the 
growing MAAS collection, the state-of-the-art store 
is best suited to housing small to medium objects in a 
range of media.

In September 2016, MAAS commenced a project  
to relocate 10,000 objects from Ultimo to I Store. 
Each object was documented, conserved and 
photographed to best practice standards. Exceeding 
the initial project aims, a team of registrars, 
conservators, photographers and collection officers 
relocated a total of 37,000 objects including 
ceramics, lace, botanical prints, toy cars and glass 
plate negatives. As part of this project 2966 objects 
were photographed producing 11,393 new images 
added to the online collection. The project was 
completed on 31 March 2017.

Since opening MAAS staff have conducted tours of 
the I Store with international and local museum 
professionals, including the Museum of Transport 
and Technology (MOTAT) Auckland, New Zealand 
and the Auckland War Memorial, New Zealand, 
interested in learning about the world class storage 
facility.

I STORE

MAAS provided collection access to over 180 groups 
who visited the Harwood basement store in Ultimo or 
the Museums Discovery Centre deep stores in Castle 
Hill. This included educational tours by UTS, 
Queensland College of Art, Taree High School and 
UNSW Computational Design students; industry 
groups such as Atlassian, Speedo designers, and 
Pacific Brands; government stakeholders including 
the Hon Don Harwin MLC, Minister for the Arts; and 
other cultural institutions staff observing our best 
practice storage at the MDC.

TOURS AND 
ACCESS

Curator Matthew Connell (left) gives British physicist Professor 
Brian Cox and competition winner Tamara Stanley a tour of the 
Powerhouse Museum basement storage, August 2016.



COLLABORATION
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The MAAS Centres are a strategic approach to 
working with education and industry partners in 
focus discipline areas.

Centre for STEAM
In September 2016 MAAS launched the Centre for 
Science, Technology, Engineering, Arts and 
Mathematics (STEAM). The MAAS Centre for 
STEAM brings to life the interdisciplinary nature of 
STEAM and its impacts on everyday life.

The Centre for STEAM sees MAAS collaborate with 
corporate and education partners, including principal 
partner, Microsoft, and tertiary education partner, 
Western Sydney University, to deliver a range of 
STEAM-based initiatives that improve the 
accessibility, quality and creativity of learning 
opportunities for teachers, parents and the young 
people themselves. 

In November 2016, the Centre for STEAM, together 
with the Australian Business and Community 
Network (ABCN) and Microsoft presented Full 
STEAM Ahead, a program designed to give over 
2000 under-represented Year 8 students across 
Australia the STEAM skills they need to create 
change in the world. The program, held both on site 
at the Powerhouse Museum and via video conference 

to schools across the country provided the 
opportunity to explore careers in technology, ranging 
from technology engineering, video game design and 
virtual reality to brand design and holographic design 
using Microsoft’s HoloLens. Educators were also 
provided bespoke professional development 
experiences that increased their ability and comfort 
level in teaching coding in their own classrooms.  

A new hands-on digital learning space, The Lab, and 
refreshed interactive science gallery, Experimentations 
opened in the Powerhouse Museum coinciding with 
the launch of the Centre, and MAAS-developed 
ThinkerShields will be distributed to schools and 
students to support the Western Sydney Coding 
Club.

The MAAS commitment to embedding Indigenous 
cultural perspective across all its domains is 
particularly visible within the Centre for STEAM and 
its support for young Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander learners. MAAS regularly play host to the 
Aboriginal Education Consultative Group’s STEM 
Camp participants who are drawn from across the 
State; as well as delivering a range of interactive 
workshops via video conference to remote and 
regional primary and secondary schools supporting 
the NSW Reconciliation Council’s Schools 
Reconciliation Challenge.

MAAS CENTRES
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Wedding outfits of Australian-Indian couple Sonia Bhuta and  
Asis Tewari, designed by Sabyasachi Mukherjee, 2016, featured  
in Love is … Australian Wedding Fashion.

Centre for Fashion
The MAAS Centre for Fashion, established in 2015, 
unites a diverse range of specialists, industry figures 
and audiences to celebrate, experience and think 
deeper about the evolution, business, context and 
the art of fashion. 

This year the Centre for Fashion collaborated with 
the Isabella Blow Foundation, Westfield Sydney and 
Australian Wool Innovation to bring the collection of 
late fashion muse and personality, Isabella Blow, to 
Australia. The collaboration culminated in an 
Australian exclusive exhibition, Isabella Blow: A 
Fashionable Life, which ran from May to August 2016.

The Centre for Fashion also presented the exhibition 
Love is … Australian Wedding Fashion which opened 
on 13 May 2017 in partnership with Garde Robe, 
Tiffany & Co, and Etihad Airways.

The Centre for Fashion welcomed key international 
guests for speaking engagements including US 
InStyle Editor-in-Chief, Laura Brown, style.com 
Creative Director and designer, Yasmin Sewell and 
Vogue Australia’s Fashion Director, Christine 
Centenera.

Through the generous support of the Centre for 
Fashion’s Designers Circle, MAAS acquired a number 
of new pieces for the MAAS collection. This included 
an Iris Van Herpen dress from the Lucid collection, 
which is the product of a collaboration between van 
Herpen and artist and architect Philip Beesley, two 
dresses designed by Catherine Martin for Musetta in 
the 1996 Opera Australia production of La Bohème, 
and a dress from designer Yousef Akbar, who 
presented his first full collection at Mercedes Benz 
Fashion Week 2017.
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For Meriam visual artist and choreographer, Gail 
Mabo, award winning Mununjali writer and poet, 
Sam Wagan Watson, and performer and social 
advocate, the celebrated Uncle Jack Charles, the 
MAAS Indigenous Cultural Development Residency 
Program resulted in the creation of new work 
inspired by the MAAS collection. This included Gail’s 
sculptural, multidimensional artwork showcased at 
the Cairns Indigenous Art Fair, the commissioning  
of Sam Wagan Watson to write for an upcoming 
MAAS publication and Uncle Jack’s series of tours of 
The International Exhibition of Sherlock Holmes from 
his own cultural perspective.

ICIP and RAP
MAAS has continued to demonstrate its commitment 
to strengthening engagement with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities and our leadership 
in this space is acknowledged locally, nationally and 
internationally.  

This year MAAS launched the MAAS Australian 
Indigenous Cultural and Intellectual Property (ICIP) 
Protocol which provides a ground-breaking 
philosophical statement of intent built around ten key 
principles that guide custodial handling of Indigenous 
cultural material, both tangible and intangible. The 
ICIP Protocol is directly aligned to the United Nations 
Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples.

The ICIP Protocol also informs the content of the 
MAAS Innovate Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) that 
provides a suite of strategic actions and targets for 
the Museums implementation over the 2017–19 
operational years.  The MAAS RAP is built on three 
pillars of respect, relationship and opportunity.

One of the key actions was the establishment of an 
Elders in Residence program, with Uncle Bruce 
Pascoe (sciences) and Aunty Phemie Bostock 
(applied arts) to undertake a variety of projects with 
MAAS over the next year. 

MAAS also established an Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Consultative Group to provide a 
platform for the ongoing presence of Indigenous 
voices in decision making. Members of the group are 
drawn from all areas of community and industry, 
providing high-level expertise and ensuring that 
Indigenous cultural perspectives can be embedded 
across all areas of the Museum’s operations, 
providing support and guidance to the Head of 
Indigenous Engagement and Strategy.

INDIGENOUS LEADERSHIP

Indigenous dancer Nathan Leslie performing at the RAP launch, 
May 2017.
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Sydney Science Festival 
Following its launch in 2015, the Sydney Science 
Festival (SSF) continued to develop, consolidate and 
amplify the reach of National Science Week events 
across the Greater Sydney region.

The 2016 Sydney Science Festival, produced by 
MAAS in partnership with Inspiring Australia, 
delivered over 100 events to 62,270 attendees, 
delivering a 63% increase in participation from 2015. 
The ten-day festival showcased the work of nearly 
300 scientists and researchers and garnered over 
$1.7m in media coverage, all with the aim to increase 
the visibility of science in Sydney and inspire young 
people to study and practise science.

Astrophysicist and science communicator Dr Alan 
Duffy served as the festival ambassador and 
delivered a sold-out lecture on the world of particle 
physics. The festival also included international 
scientists Professor Brian Cox, Amy Shira Teitel and 
Dr Ellen Jorgensen. Australian scientists were 
represented through Dr Karl Kruszelnicki, Adam 
Spencer, Dr Astrid Zeman and Dr Lisa Harvey–Smith. 

Sydney Design Festival
The Sydney Design Festival, now in its 19th year, 
programmed around the theme ‘Make or Break’, 
examined the tension between success and failure 
and explored how designers creatively use and 
deconstruct production methods and design histories 
to create solutions. 

An advisory board assisted in building greater 
engagement with key industry stakeholders. The 
Festival attracted over 65,000 participants over the 
10-day period, with support from 65 program 
partners. International and national talent highlights 
included Kat Holmes, Head of Inclusive Design for 

Microsoft; Tea Uglow, Creative Director of Google’s 
Creative Lab; Felicity Coonan, Art Director Animal 
Logic; Sasha Coles, Director Aspect Studios; and 
Liane Rossler, Director Super Local Studio. 
Partnership programs with the Australian Graphic 
Design Association, Design Institute of Australia, 
Australian Architects Association and General 
Assembly were also well received features of the 
festival offering.

‘Super inspiring panelists with 
an obvious and genuine passion 
for their topic areas …’ – Visitor, 
Sydney Design

FESTIVALS

Dr Karl Kruszelnicki at BAHFest! Sydney, part of Sydney Science 
Festival, August 2016.



33ANNUAL REPORT

MAAS published four new publications throughout 
the year, focusing on the Museum’s collection and 
expertise, and collaborating with creative and 
academic authors, artists, designers and illustrators.

Out of Hand: Materialising the Digital  
September 2016 
Published to accompany the Out of Hand exhibition, 
the book is an exploration of art, craft, design and 
science in the light of ever-evolving technologies, 
processes and materials. It features the work of 
almost 60 international artists, architects, designers 
and scientists, from fields as diverse as sculpture, 
furniture, fashion, transport and medicine. Some of 
the issues and concepts in the Out of Hand exhibition 
are further explored in this limited-edition publication 
through two essays by MAAS Principal Curator 
Matthew Connell and academic Thomas Birtchnell, 
and a conversation with Ron Labaco, who curated 
the first iteration of Out of Hand in 2013 at the 
Museum of Arts and Design, New York. 

Icons 
October 2016  
Published to accompany the Icons exhibition, the book 
presents more than 70 beautifully photographed objects 
from the MAAS collection, and considers the notion of 
‘icon’ in all its complexity. The objects featured in the 
exhibition and book present various aspects of luxury, 
celebrity, status, spirituality, value and genius. The 
publication includes an essay by acclaimed Australian 
author Drusilla Modjeska, ‘The Wonder World of 
Things’, essays by lead curator Jacqui Strecker on 
reimagining the Museum’s icons, and Jennifer Isaacs 
on artist Thancoupie’s work, and short essays by 
MAAS curators on selected collection objects. 

Drusilla Modjeska’s collaboration on the Icons project 
was made possible by a grant from the Copyright 
Agency Cultural Fund. 

‘For many objects in this 
exhibition, it is the thinking 
hand of the artist that gives 
iconic status.’ – Drusilla Modjeska, 
writing in Icons publication

2017 Australasian Sky Guide  
September 2016 
Published annually, and written by astronomer and 
author Dr Nick Lomb, the 2017 guide contains 
monthly astronomy maps, viewing tips and 
highlights, and details of the year’s exciting celestial 
events. The publication is also available as an ebook. 

Love is … Australian Wedding Fashion 
Colour-in Paper Dolls 
May 2017 
Like the exhibition, this selection of 24 black-and-
white finely detailed illustrations covers nearly 200 
years of wedding fashion and accessories in Australia 
and draws on the extensive MAAS collection, one of 
the largest public fashion collections in Australia.  

Presented by the MAAS Centre for Fashion. 

MAAS Magazine  
December 2016 and June 2017
The summer and winter issues of MAAS Magazine 
were produced with contributions from external 
collaborators, including guest curators and program 
producers, and staff across the museum. MAAS 
Magazine is distributed to Members and other 
Museum stakeholders. It is also available for sale in 
the MAAS Store and online in a flipbook format. 

PUBLICATIONS
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MAAS continued to build upon its reputation for 
research with three ongoing collaborative projects 
funded through the Australian Research Council 
(ARC) and a joint research project on museums and 
learning expectations for children under five funded 
through Macquarie University.

Innovative Learning Environments and 
Teacher Change (ILETC), 2016–2020 
Funding body: ARC Linkage Grant 
Project leader: Dr Wesley Imms, University of 
Melbourne; MAAS project lead: Peter Mahony, 
Education and Digital Learning Manager 

The IELTC is an ongoing ARC Linkage Project led by 
the University of Melbourne’s Learning Environments 
Applied Research Network (LEaRN). MAAS is a 
partner on this project, along with four education 
departments in Australia and New Zealand, the 
Catholic Education Diocese of Parramatta, key industry 
partners and leading research focused schools.

The project explores how space enhances teaching 
practices by collecting a range of data from 
principals and teachers. This data will be used to 
design, test and implement practical tools and 
strategies to assist teachers in maximising learning in 
both physical and virtual environments.

Curating Third Space: the value of art-
science collaboration, 2015–2018 
Funding body: ARC Linkage Grant 
Project leader: Professor Jill Bennett, UNSW Art & 
Design; MAAS project lead: Katie Dyer, Curator 
Contemporary

Work continued on this project, which applies an 
innovative research methodology, the visual matrix, 
to involve audiences in the exhibition aspect of the 
research. The exhibition and audience involvement 

RESEARCH PROJECTS

with MAAS will comprise Case Study 4. The project 
will include an exhibition to be held at MAAS in 
August 2018, alongside a conference to coincide with 
the Sydney Science Festival. 

A national framework for managing 
malignant plastics in museum collections, 
2016–2019
Funding body: ARC Linkage Grant 
Project leader: Dr Petronella Nel, University of 
Melbourne; MAAS project lead: Sue Gatenby, 
Conservator

This project is in the early stages of consolidating its 
research focus, methods, and resources. The project 
team meets monthly (virtually) and the focus for 
MAAS is on a collection condition survey focusing on 
fashion accessories. MAAS is working closely with 
project partner, Museums Victoria, on the survey of 
its doll collection.

‘Let’s go to the museum’: an investigation of 
the expectations and learning engagement 
of prior-to-school aged children and their 
families, 2016–2017 
Funding body: Macquarie University Enterprise 
Partnerships Scheme 
Project leader: Associate Professor Sheila Degotardi, 
Institute of Early Childhood, Macquarie University; 
MAAS project lead: Lily Katakouzinos, Head of 
Programs

This pilot study is investigating how museums can 
promote museum-based involvement and learning of 
diverse families with prior-to-school aged children 
(0–5-years-old). The fieldwork for stage one of this 
project has been completed, with the Powerhouse 
Museum used as one of the sites for data collection. 
Some of the preliminary findings informed planning 
for the refresh of The Wiggles Exhibition that 
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occurred in early 2017 at the Powerhouse Museum, 
and the research will continue to shape thinking 
about early learning for MAAS going forward.

The project team is now considering options for 
stage two of the research, which includes the 
possibility of seeking extra funds to test the findings 
and prototyping from stage one.

Visiting fellows
Four Visiting Research Fellows have conducted 
research at MAAS this year, raising the MAAS 
research profile, and its reputation for scholarship 
and collaboration.

Drs Jo Law and Agnieszka Golda from the University 
of Wollongong explored the exchanges between 
traditional and new textile technologies. They looked 
at gold and silver thread embroidery from China and 
Japan in the collection and were particularly 
interested in the depiction of animals in textile 
objects as well as their construction processes. A 
major outcome of their research was discovering how 
lace and embroidery techniques can be combined 
with conductive materials, low energy devices, and 
energy harvesting technologies (photovoltaic cells) to 
invent new materials and sustainable methods of 
making. 

Dr Kate Scardifield from the School of Design at the 
University of Technology, Sydney conducted a 
research project entitled Archival Enactments: New 
Constellations. Kate is currently developing a new 
body of work in response to collections and civic 
archives across regional areas in Scotland. Over the 
course of her fellowship, Kate examined objects and 
ephemera in the MAAS collection linked to the 
former Governor of NSW and Scottish astronomer, 
Sir Thomas Brisbane. Sydney Observatory holds a 
number of astronomical instruments brought to 

Australia by Brisbane in the early 1800s and used at 
the Parramatta observatory to chart the southern sky, 
which were of particular interest to her research. She 
created a small display of her work at the 
Powerhouse Museum which coincided with the 
MicroGravity display and her research fellowship at 
MAAS.

Media and marketing historian, Associate Professor 
Robert Crawford, from the University of Technology, 
Sydney examined the materials contained in the 
Rousel Studios collection. The project analysed these 
materials with a view to understanding the everyday 
operations of the Rousel Studios and contextualising 
them within their broader social, cultural, 
commercial, and economic contexts. By developing a 
clearer outline of Rousel Studios’ operations and its 
interaction with allied and associated businesses 
during the interwar period, this project expanded 
understandings of this business and its operations 
and offered new insights into Sydney’s marketing 
industry during the 1920s and 1930s.

The focus of Dr Justine Lloyd’s research as a MAAS 
visiting fellow was Intimate Geographies of Media: 
Public Service Radio for Women, 1932–1975. A cultural 
and media historian and lecturer from Macquarie 
University, Justine researched the social context of 
radio in the home during the mid 20th century. She 
accessed the MAAS Research Library and Archives 
to explore this process, especially the collection of 
trade literature, magazines and periodicals and 
looked at the MAAS collection of radio receivers and 
photographic archives. This research contributed to a 
set of projects looking at contemporary media forms 
through the lens of listening practices and will be 
included in a book on women as radio producers and 
audiences in the UK, Australia, and Canada 
(Bloomsbury Academic, 2017).
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MAAS is committed to collaborating with education 
partners to showcase outstanding work from 
students each year. 

Shape 2016
Shape 2016 was the 26th annual exhibition of 
selected outstanding HSC major projects from the 
Technological and Applied Studies subject area. This 
valuable and strategic partnership project between 
MAAS and the New South Wales Education 
Standards Authority (NESA) has continued to evolve 
by incorporating a third subject, Industrial 
Technology, to complement Textiles and Design, and 
Design and Technology. 

This year a striking diversity of materials and 
innovations were represented in the 37 objects on 
display, including a universal coffee pod recycle tool 
and a hand-held peak flow meter for young children 
with asthma.

The accompanying SHAPE seminar series was well 
attended with 5221 attendees from 177 schools. This 
aspect of the program was also further developed 
and improved by the inclusion of a skills and careers 
expo held in The Lab, in which invited industry 
experts, along with MAAS educators, shared tips and 
tricks with the learners. An additional enduring value 
was generated through the production of designer 
case study videos which are now available on the 
MAAS website.

EDUCATION

Student Fashion 2017
Australian fashion design schools prepare graduates 
to take on diverse roles in the industry, fostering 
creativity, critical thinking and entrepreneurship. This 
year MAAS collaborated with four fashion schools— 
Fashion Design Studio, TAFE NSW Sydney Institute; 
Raffles College of Design and Commerce; 
Whitehouse Institute of Design, Australia; and 
University of Technology, Sydney — to showcase the 
exciting potential of the next generation of Australian 
fashion designers. The collection of one final year 
student from each school was displayed at the 
Powerhouse Museum from March to October 2017.



Designs on display in the 2017 Student Fashion exhibition.
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This year MAAS collaborated with partners in 
Western Sydney and regional NSW to increase 
access for audiences and stakeholders to cultural 
services, the MAAS collection and staff expertise. 

MAAS worked collaboratively with the Penrith 
Regional Gallery and the Lewers Bequest to curate 
Gravity (and Wonder). The exhibition, presented both 
in Penrith and via the MicroGravity pop-up at the 
Powerhouse Museum, sought to engage with new 
audiences across NSW through the prism of STEAM. 
Rare scientific instruments and inventions, specialist 
objects and archival material from the MAAS 
collection were presented alongside the work of 
contemporary artists who examined gravity as 
scientific phenomena and an invisible force 
surrounded by mystery and wonder. This project was 
supported in its educational and public programming 
objectives through Western Sydney University’s 
Penrith Observatory.

The exhibition won the Museums and Galleries 
Australia National Award in the Temporary Exhibition 
Award (Level 2) category and a Museums Australasia 
Multimedia and Publication Design award for the 
design of the educational posters.

MAAS has also been collaborating on education 
programs in Western Sydney. Through a grant from 
the Crown Foundation and Packer Family Foundation, 
MAAS developed the Western Sydney Coding Club 
(WSCC) to introduce underserved primary and 
secondary school audiences to coding and provide 
comprehensive, sustainable, professional 
development support to teachers.

In 2016–17, MAAS completed a pilot WSCC program 
with selected lower SES schools, providing students 
with an immersive education experience to develop 
coding skills, explore game design, create mobile 
apps and more, along with understanding how these 

skills translate to skills in the 21st century workforce. 
Teachers attended NSW Education Standards 
Authority accredited professional development to 
equip them to teach coding and related skills to 
students. The pilot program has informed a 5-phased 
rollout to schools in the Western Sydney Coding Club 
initiative commencing from Term 3 2017, with a 
completion date of 31 October 2018.

MAAS also partnered with the Information and 
Cultural Exchange (ICE) to run 14 digital programs for 
young people in Parramatta. During Parramasala in 
Parramatta, MAAS also undertook outreach digital 
activities where festival goers could drop in and do 
some stop motion with the MAAS ThinkerShield.

As part of the MAAS regional program, MAAS 
collaborated with the Narrandera Textiles Group  
and the Narrandera community to commission artists 
Vic and Sarah McEwan from the Narrandera-based 
Cad Factory and artist Nicole Barakat to create 
Shadow Places, an exciting multimedia and video 
installation for the 2016 Sydney Design Festival. The 
project highlighted a rural community’s efforts to 
improve sustainable farming practices. Nicole 
Barakat ran three workshops for the Narrandera 
Textile Group and Narrandera community. The 
banners produced were displayed as part of Shadow 
Places and will return to Narrandera to be displayed 
at the new community gallery.

‘We are so fortunate that MAAS 
partnered with local groups and 
artists to create Shadow Places. 
It was a lovely experience for 
the Narrandera community.’ 
– Julie Briggs, Narrandera Textiles Group

WESTERN SYDNEY  
AND REGIONAL
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Celebrating its 29th year, the MAAS Volunteer 
Program continues to be a vibrant force, helping 
reach new communities and providing opportunities 
for visitors to form a deeper connection with the 
MAAS collection.

This year MAAS worked in partnership with 
Macquarie University to recruit specialist volunteers 
for the Egyptian Mummies: Exploring Ancient Lives 
exhibition where a team of 40 archaeology students 
helped visitors explore the stories of Ancient Egypt. 

The reopening of the Museums Discovery Centre in 
Castle Hill also provided an opportunity for new 
volunteer engagement. MAAS successfully recruited 
a team of experienced volunteers, with diverse 

VOLUNTEERS

backgrounds including engineering, education, 
medicine, design and technology to bring collection 
stories at the MDC to diverse audiences.

MAAS also established a regular team of volunteers, 
including the Deloitte Corporate Volunteers, to 
refresh the Sydney Observatory gardens to improve 
the entrance experience for visitors.

‘… the volunteers were happy  
to answer any and all questions 
… having experts talking about 
the topics was a highlight for my 
family …’ – Visitor, Powerhouse Museum

Volunteers Christmas Party at the Powerhouse Museum.
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FUTURE THINKING
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Throughout 2016–17 MAAS progressed planning for 
an iconic New Museum in Western Sydney, on the 
cutting edge of science and innovation and designed 
with community input. Following the appointment in 
late January 2017 of the Hon Gladys Berejiklian MP, 
Premier of NSW, and the Hon Don Harwin MLC, 
Minister for the Arts, the scope of the final business 
case was extended in April to include consideration 
for the retention of an arts and cultural presence in 
Ultimo. 

The management of the final business case was 
assigned to the Department of Planning and 
Environment, through the Cultural Infrastructure 
Program Management Office, with MAAS and the 

NEW MUSEUM PROJECT

MAAS Trust having representation on the project 
steering committee and the supporting committees 
informing the progress of the extended business case. 

Building on consultation undertaken during the 
preliminary business case, a new phase of community 
engagement was scoped in June 2017 to allow further 
community feedback on the planning for the New 
Museum and the ongoing use of the Ultimo site. This 
consultation included a series of public meetings, an 
online survey, stakeholder briefings, pop-up stalls at 
events and sites across greater Sydney, and the 
launch of a dedicated project website. The feedback 
will be used to inform the extended business case, 
due for completion in late 2017. 

Staff design workshops for the New Museum.
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While the business case for the New Museum 
examines a range of technical and operational 
considerations, the MAAS team are working in 
parallel to consider the experiences that are made 
possible with the construction of a new, purpose-
built facility in Western Sydney. 

As part of this experience design process, staff have 
been trained in human-centred design through a 
project called MAAS Next. A set of five pilot teams 
were tasked with exploring ideas and best practice 
for what a museum could look like in the 21st century. 

This included engagement with diverse audiences, 
the MAAS collection, community and public spaces, 
and just as importantly, the museum as a place to 
work.

This pilot program has paved the way for a broader 
interdisciplinary and audience-focused way of 
working within the organisation, to better equip 
MAAS to transform itself to respond to growth, to 
demographic trends, to the transforming social 
landscape, and the changing shape of the city and 
state in which it lives.  

MAAS NEXT

Members of MAAS Next pilot team test their ideas with a museum audience.
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After identifying a gap in the market for reliable, 
entry-level hardware to assist those new to learning 
and teaching coding, MAAS developed an 
educational tool called the ThinkerShield. The 
ThinkerShield is a computer board used with 
electronic prototyping platform, Arduino, that allows 
learners to program and control objects in minutes. 

Throughout 2016–17, MAAS worked with partner 
organisations including Crown Resorts Foundation, 
Packer Family Foundation, Australian Business and 
Community Network (ABCN) and Microsoft to 
deliver meaningful digital education programs to 
schools nationwide using ThinkerShields.   

MAAS is also working closely with the NSW 
Department of Education to integrate the use of the 
ThinkerShield into classrooms syllabus from years 7 
to 10. This year the ThinkerShield was also used to 
deliver learning to regional schools including a pilot 
program with NSW Department of Education virtual 
school, Aurora College, to increase accessibility in 
regional and Western Sydney. MAAS has 
commercialised the ThinkerShield and kits are 
available through the MAAS online store and through 
distributors LittleBird Electronics and Freetronics. 

THINKERSHIELD
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MAAS staff travelled internationally throughout the 
year to build and strengthen relationships, share 
expertise and engage in cultural conversations with 
institutions from around the world. 

In September 2016, the MAAS Director travelled to 
London as the exclusive Australian delegate to 
participate in the Applied Arts Director Network 
meeting, attended by the Directors of all key applied 
arts museums around the world. The Director was 
also invited to participate in a symposium in Venice 
titled Museum and Cultural Space as Motor of Urban 
and Social Progress.

In March 2017, MAAS Director, Curatorial, 
Collections & Exhibitions attended a seminar in Paris 
titled Cultural Institutions in the Service of Urban and 
Territorial Development, at the invitation of the 
French Government. The conference included 
representatives from South Africa, Mexico, Malaysia, 
New Zealand, Brazil, Croatia, Canada, Argentina, 
Greece, Portugal, Romania, Singapore, Serbia, 
Ukraine and Nigeria. The seminar familiarised 
participants with the French context and facilitated 
the development of professional networks between 
France and participating countries.  

MAAS staff also strengthened the organisation’s 
profile by presenting at several Australian 
conferences, including the Museums Galleries 
Australia National Conference in Brisbane, the 
Museum Next Conference in Melbourne, the 
Australian Science Communicators’ Conference in 
Adelaide and Shock of the New: Modern Materials, 
Media and Methods Symposium by the Australian 
Institute for the Conservation of Cultural Material in 
Victoria. 

In March 2017 MAAS provided the venue for the 
Diploma in Law and Collections Management which 
is held biennially by the Australasian Registrar’s 

Committee in partnership with the UK based Institute 
of Art and Law. The Diploma course was attended by 
registration professionals from institutions across 
Australasia and the MAAS support of the course 
demonstrates a commitment to the professional 
development of future collection managers in the 
region.

These are significant forums providing exposure to a 
national and international network of cultural 
colleagues and help further the recognition of MAAS 
and its collection. 

Presence in these forums can result in significant 
international partnerships, and opportunities to work 
with a range of experts in various fields. For example, 
In February 2017, MAAS partnered with the 
Government Architect and University of Technology, 
Sydney to present programs featuring internationally 
renowned architect Sir David Adjaye OBE, including 
a sold-out keynote address that explored his recent 
project with the Smithsonian Institution, the National 
Museum of African American History and Culture in 
Washington DC. In May 2017, MAAS presented a 
lecture by Alice Black, Co-Director of the Design 
Museum, London who spoke about her extensive and 
successful career in museums including moving the 
Design Museum, London to its new home in 
Kensington.

GLOBAL 
ENGAGEMENT



Sir David Adjaye OBE keynote address at the Powerhouse Museum.



SELF-GENERATED 
REVENUE
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Beyond general admissions, sponsorships and 
philanthropy, MAAS generates revenue through 
publications, retail, commercial events, membership 
and café operations, the outcomes of which continue 
to support the Museum’s vision and strategic 
ambitions.

In 2016–17 the income from MAAS and exhibition 
stores, events, catering and cafés totalled $1,989,883 
(excluding GST), a decrease of 4% ($78,963) on the 
commercial income of $2,063,363 generated in 
2015–16.

Retail
The second year of trade for MAAS Store saw an 
expansion and refinement of the existing product 
range in order to better reflect the Museum 
collection and support visiting exhibitions. The Store 
team also developed retail ranges for both Sydney 
Observatory and the Museums Discovery Centre. 

MAAS Store realised actual sales of $550,000 (ex GST), 
a growth of $50,000 on the previous year’s takings. 

Total income for the year across the main store and 
exhibition stores was $965,500 (ex GST). For the 
second year running an above average profit margin 
of 51% was maintained against the accepted industry 
standard of 45%. 

Events, catering and cafés 
For the 2016–17 financial year, the total income from 
venue hire, catering and cafés was $1,018,000 a 
growth of 20% against the previous year’s income of 
$845,659. There were a total of 154 commercial 
events held at MAAS venues during the 2016–17 
financial year, generating venue hire income of 
$667,236, up 36% compared to the $489,819 income 
generated by the 141 events held in the previous 
financial year.

MAAS and the University of Technology Sydney 
entered into an innovative partnership, with MAAS 
hosting UTS student lectures in the Powerhouse 
Museum Theatre during the 2017 autumn semester. 

Create Consultants have been the contract caterers 
for MAAS sites since August 2015. For 2016–17 
Create Consultants have been responding to 
customer feedback by adjusting menu prices and 
offering competitively priced coffee to increase sales. 
A special High Tea linked to Love is … Australian 
Wedding Fashion in the MAAS Café was a popular 
new offer run by Create.

COMMERCIAL INCOME
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After the success of 2015–16, the MAAS development 
program continued its focus on forming strategic 
partnerships and building relationships with 
organisations and individuals that align with the key 
MAAS disciplines.

As a result, Development income for 2016–17 totalled 
$5 million, with over $1m coming from cash support 
of exhibitions, public programs, collection 
acquisitions and school education programs. 

MAAS aligned itself with a number of new sponsors 
and partners. Following the previous year’s MAAS 
Centre for Fashion launch, engagement with MAAS 
fashion initiatives continued through alignment with 
brands including Tiffany & Co, Garde Robe and 
Etihad Airways.

MAAS education programs were generously 
supported across the year with funding from Crown 
Foundation and the Packer Family Foundation 
allowing the Museum to launch the Western Sydney 
Coding Club. Funding from the NSW Office of the 
Chief Scientist and Engineer supported the 
distribution of the MAAS designed ThinkerShield 
school coding sets to schools across the state. 

For the second year, MAAS partnered with the 
Australian Business and Community Network to 
deliver Full STEAM Ahead, funded by Microsoft. The 
program provided access for young people across 
Australia to engage in interactive Science, 
Technology, Engineering, Arts and Maths (STEAM) 
experiences. This year the program had a focus on 
providing access to the program to regional and 
Indigenous youth.

The Centre for Fashion continued to be generously 
supported by the Designers Circle, a group of men 
and women that make an annual donation to MAAS 
to support fashion-focused exhibitions, programs and 
collection acquisitions. 

Meanwhile, the annual appeal raised funds for the 
acquisition of the Cuberider module, made by two 
university students and sent aboard the International 
Space Station (ISS) to gather data to for school 
students to conduct their own scientific research. An 
appeal was also run to help conserve the rare time 
ball at Sydney Observatory, which brought in over 
100 new donors to MAAS. 

DEVELOPMENT

The Full STEAM Ahead program at Kingsgrove North High School, 
NSW.
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MAAS saw a 73% increase in members over the last 
financial year, with a total of 4455 MAAS 
Memberships sold. MAAS welcomed 3225 new 
members to the membership program and saw a 
renewal rate of 47%, with 1186 existing members 
renewing their membership.

This increase in memberships was driven in part by 
the inclusion of a new membership benefit. Starting 
with Egyptian Mummies: Exploring Ancient Lives 
MAAS Members receive free and unlimited 
admission to all special exhibitions at MAAS venues. 

In addition, a range of exclusive events were offered 
to members, including a tour of Egyptian Mummies 
with curators from the British Museum, a members’ 
end of year celebration and shopping night and 
priority booking and free admission to The Wiggles 
concert celebrating the re-opening of The Wiggles 
Exhibition at the Powerhouse Museum in February 
2017.

MEMBERSHIP



PEOPLE
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A focus on improving recruitment processes 
throughout 2015–16 resulted in high-calibre staff 
joining MAAS throughout the year, including several 
senior appointments. 

Tristan Sharp joined MAAS in September 2016 as 
Director, Programs & Engagement. Tristan has 
worked for more than 15 years within the public and 
private sectors and holds degrees in fine arts and 
psychology, education and arts administration. His 
career has included roles in disabilities and education; 
arts administration, and the museum and galleries 
sector, most notably Senior Coordinator of Education 
Programs at the Art Gallery of New South Wales and 
Assistant Director of Newcastle Art Gallery. 

Peter Denham commenced with MAAS as Director, 
Curatorial, Collections & Exhibitions in October 2016.  
Peter is a Churchill Fellowship recipient and has over 
25 years’ experience in the cultural sector, including 
roles at Queensland Art Gallery, Cairns Regional 
Gallery and National Gallery of Victoria. Most 
recently he was Director at the Museum of Brisbane. 
Under his Directorship the Museum won several 
exhibition awards and underwent a major restoration 
and building project.

Senior Management
Structure
The MAAS Director is responsible to the Trustees and 
the Minister for the Arts, through the NSW Department 
of Planning and Environment, for the overall 
management and control of MAAS and its activities.

Review mechanisms
MAAS engages in several levels of performance review 
practice. The MAAS Director has a performance 
agreement with the President of the Board of Trustees 

RECRUITMENT

and the Secretary of NSW Department of Planning and 
Environment, which is reviewed annually. There are also 
performance agreements between the Director and the 
Department Directors. 

Internal review mechanisms include fortnightly 
meetings of the MAAS Executive (Director with 
Department Directors), monthly meetings of the Senior 
Management Team (department heads), monthly all 
staff meetings, meetings of the Finance, Audit and Risk 
Management Committee and management and 
performance reports to the Board of Trustees. 

Movements 
Michael Parry was seconded to the Department of 
Planning and Environment in June 2016, as the Director 
Special Projects, Cultural Infrastructure Program 
Management Office, Arts, Screen and Culture Division. 
In this role, Michael continues to be a key member of 
the team working on the New Museum extended 
business case as part of the centralised project 
management of cultural infrastructure projects within 
the Department of Planning and Environment. 

Professional development
Staff professional development within MAAS has 
been a focus since the 2014 restructure and with the 
implementation of several strategies such as 
Performance Development Plans (PDP), increased 
secondment and higher duties opportunities, 
conferences and seminars, there have been 
significant movements around and outside MAAS.

Research talks continued through the year, with 
leaders in disciplines across the organisation delivering 
talks to staff and volunteers in their field of study or 
expertise. Management workshops and leadership 
talks were also highly attended and will continue into 
next year, with leadership remaining a focus.
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A Rewards and Recognition Program was also 
launched, aiming to recognise teams and individuals 
throughout MAAS who ‘go above and beyond’ in 
demonstrating the organisation’s values and strategic 
ambitions. This program includes both staff and 
volunteers.  Formal rewards occur quarterly and 
recognise collaborations while recognition cards were 
distributed for informal peer to peer recognition.

Staff consultation 
Two forums provide opportunity for staff consultation 
at MAAS. The Joint Consultative Committee (JCC) 
provides opportunities for the Executive team, staff 
and union representatives to address matters relating 
to organisational change and performance. The JCC 
met on six occasions over the year. 

The Staff Consultative Committee (SCC) was 
established in 2014 to provide an additional 
opportunity for a cross-section of MAAS staff to 
engage with the Executive and identify ways to 
enhance the workplace environment.  The 
Committee met on six occasions. 

The Public Service Commission also runs a staff 
engagement survey each year and in the 2017 year 
88% of MAAS staff participated in the survey. The 
results of the survey were strong, particularly around 
pride in working for MAAS, collaboration and 
respect, and striving to meet visitor satisfaction, and 
the results also provided areas for staff engagement 
for improvements in internal communications. 

Volunteers  
In 2016–17, 340 volunteers contributed 30,267 hours 
of their time to support MAAS activities. MAAS 
values the contribution of our volunteers and 
recognises the wide range of skills and knowledge 
they bring to the organisation.

This year there was a focus on recruiting bilingual 
volunteers. Multilingual experiences included Mandarin 
storytelling sessions and bilingual activities at the 
Discovery Stations at the Powerhouse Museum.

MAAS is also committed to improving customer 
service standards through formal training and 
evaluation. Visitor experience volunteers undertook 
accredited Customer Service Training, funded by the 
NSW Government’s Smart and Skilled program. 
Internal Training was provided in See Think Wonder 
learning methodology by the MAAS Education team.

Workplace Health and 
Safety (WHS)
MAAS continues its strong commitment of 
continuous improvement in safety performance by 
reporting, investigating all incidents including near 
miss incidents, as well as identifying, and assessing 
and controlling workplace hazards.

In 2016–17 five workers’ compensation claims were 
recorded, the same number reported for the 2015–16 
period. A focus on lag and lead indicators and 
causative factors of injuries will continue and 
preventative strategies, such as training and 
awareness programs, will be implemented.

As part of the consultation process MAAS has an 
active WHS Committee which meets four times a 
year. The Committee includes representation from all 
areas of the organisation. 

MAAS provides flu vaccinations to staff on a yearly 
basis and this year 103 workers participated. A 
massage therapist is also engaged on a user-pay 
basis and attends the site every two weeks.

WHS is a priority standing item at the Board of 
Trustees meeting and monthly reports are provided.
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MAAS is committed to promoting a fair workplace 
which is free of all forms of harassment and 
discrimination for all staff members. This includes all 
staff, contractors and volunteers. MAAS actively 
promotes policies and practices which establish and 
promote equity principles. Policies protect against 
discrimination or harassment against a staff member 
or job applicant based on age, sex, pregnancy, 
disability, race, colour, ethnic or ethno-religious 
background, descent or nationality, marital status, 
carer’s responsibilities, sexuality or gender.

Our aim is to attract and retain the right people for 
roles regardless of their gender, race, age, religious 
beliefs, or personal preferences.  We promote and 
embed diversity and inclusion in all our recruitment 
processes, workplace culture initiatives, career 
development programs, customer service training 
and policies and processes. 

Improvements in diversity across MAAS over the past 
year include mentorships and career workshops for 
women, a more culturally diverse workforce, an 
increase in participation of people with a disability 
and a range of flexible working options for employees 
transitioning to retirement.  These initiatives will 
continue in the coming year with particular focus on 
improving our representation of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander employees at all levels of our 
workforce, as well as people with a disability. 

INCLUSION AND DIVERSITY

MAAS Reconciliation 
Action Plan
MAAS Innovate Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) was 
launched this year and provides a suite of strategic 
actions and targets for implementation over the 
2017–2019 operational years.  The MAAS RAP is built 
on three pillars of respect, relationship and 
opportunity. MAAS will report regularly on the 
progress against the RAP to the Board of Trustees 
and MAAS executives.

MAAS Disability Action 
Plan 
MAAS embarked on developing its first Disability 
Inclusion Action Plan (DIAP) as part of its 
commitment to strengthen access and equity across 
the Museum. A working group was formed with 
representatives across the organisation.  Working 
closely with Accessible Arts, MAAS has the goal of 
creating and implementing a plan of practical steps 
in removing barriers for people with a disability in the 
community; to enable access to all areas of the 
organisation, including employment and 
procurement opportunities. The plan will be finalised 
in the next financial year and then implemented.



GOVERNANCE
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MAAS is Australia’s only museum of applied arts and 
sciences with an exceptional collection, significant 
venues and location in Sydney, Australia’s global city. 
The MAAS Strategic Plan seeks to position the 
organisation at the forefront of contemporary 
museums. It outlines the MAAS Vision, areas of focus 
and an interdisciplinary way of working. 

MAAS understands that a successful, more culturally 
diverse, innovative society is based on the creative 
use of knowledge. The best ideas emerge from a 
culture that values experimentation, interdisciplinary 
conversation and an openness to the unexpected. 
The MAAS collection is not bound by time or place, 
rather it seeks to represent and encompass human 
creativity in all its expressions across the arts and 
sciences and tells a story of innovation, imagination 
and ingenuity. 

Established as part of the 19th century agenda for the 
advancement of knowledge and social reform 
following the Sydney International Exhibition of 1879, 
MAAS not only honours and continues to build on 
this legacy, but as it has always done, will transform 
itself to respond to growth, to demographic trends, 
to the evolving social landscape and not least to the 
changing shape of the city and state in which it lives. 
In this age, the boundaries between the digital and 
material worlds, and between the arts and the 
sciences, are increasingly blurred. They provide 
infinite opportunities to make relevant our complex 
and interconnected world. 

The MAAS direction in 2016–17 was guided by the 
priorities of the MAAS 2022 Strategic Plan. The  
2022 Strategic Plan is viewable at maas.museum/
strategic-plan/    

STRATEGIC DIRECTION

The updated Experimentations exhibition aims to inspire curiosity 
and questioning for children aged 5–12.



56 2016 – 17

The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences is 
operated and maintained by the Trustees of the 
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences which is 
constituted as a body corporate under the Museum 
of Applied Arts and Sciences Act 1945 (MAAS Act).

The MAAS Act requires the Museum to: effectively 
minister to the needs and demands of the community 
in any or all branches of applied science and art and 
the development of industry by: 

(i) the display of selected objects arranged to 
illustrate the industrial advance of civilisation and 
the development of inventions and manufactures,

(ii) the promotion of craftsmanship and artistic taste 
by illustrating the history and development of 
the applied arts,

(iii) lectures, broadcasts, films, publications and 
other educational means,

(iv) scientific research, or

(v) any other means necessary or desirable for the 
development of the natural resources and 
manufacturing industries of New South Wales.

MAAS is governed by a Board of Trustees appointed 
under the MAAS Act 1945. Under the provisions of the 
Act, the nine Trustees are appointed by the Governor, 
on the recommendation of the Minister, for a term of 
up to three years, and may serve for a maximum of 
three full terms, excepting if their first term was not a 
full term they may be appointed for a fourth term. 
The Trustees represent the community and oversee 
the management and policy direction of MAAS. 

The Act 3(1) states in part ‘There shall be appointed 
nine trustees … who, subject to the control and 
direction of the Minister, shall carry into effect the 
objects and purposes of this Act’ 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Trust met six times in 2016–17 to consider and 
give formal approval to major procedural and policy 
matters on advice from management.

The Board of Trustees from 1 July 2016 to 30 June 
2017 comprised: 

• Professor John Shine AO, FAA (President) to 3.7.2016
• Professor Barney Glover (President) from 3.7.2016
• Mr Robert Cameron AO 
• Ms Lisa Chung (Deputy President)
• Ms Elizabeth Crouch 
• Mr Tim Ebbeck 
• Janet McDonald AO
• Professor Salah Sukkarieh 
• Dr Alex Birrell from 1.1.2017
• Lynne Anderson from 1.1.2017

(For details about the Trustees see Appendix 1) 

Professor Salah Sukkarieh satisfies the requirement 
that ‘at least 1 person has knowledge of, or 
experience in, the arts or sciences’. 

Ms Elizabeth Crouch satisfies the requirement that  
‘at least 1 person has knowledge of, or experience in, 
education.’ 

On appointment Trustees are provided with a 
comprehensive Trustee Handbook, which outlines 
governance and procedural arrangements, and a 
summary of the Museum’s structure and operations. 

Trustees are required to complete a Declaration of 
Pecuniary Interests and a Related Party Disclosure 
Certificate at the commencement of each financial 
year.

The Board of Trustees has established the Finance 
Audit and Risk Management (FARM) Committee in 
compliance with the Internal Audit and Risk 
Management Policy for the NSW Public Sector. 
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The objective of the FARM Committee is to provide 
independent assistance to the Board by monitoring, 
reviewing and providing advice about MAAS governance 
processes, risk management and control frameworks, 
and its external accountability obligations. The FARM 
Committee supports and advises the Board on the 
financial position and performance of MAAS, including 
annual financial statements and annual budget.

The FARM Committee consists of at least three (3) 
members, and no more than five (5) members¹, 
appointed by the President of the Board.

The members should collectively develop, possess 
and maintain a broad range of skills and experience 
relevant to the operations, governance and financial 
management of MAAS, the environment in which 
MAAS operates and the contribution that the FARM 
Committee makes to MAAS. At least one member of 
the Committee must have accounting or related 
financial management experience, with an 
understanding of accounting and auditing standards 
in a public sector environment.

The FARM Committee is directly responsible and 
accountable to the Board for the exercise of its 
responsibilities. In carrying out its responsibilities, 
the FARM Committee recognises that primary 
responsibility for management of MAAS rests with 
the Board.

The FARM Committee, comprised Elizabeth Crouch 
(Chair and Trustee), Tim Ebbeck (Trustee) and Allan 
Cook (Independent), met three times during the 
reporting year as follows:

• 4 October 2016: Elizabeth Crouch, Tim Ebbeck 
and Allan Cook present

• 28 November 2016: Elizabeth Crouch, Tim Ebbeck 
and Allan Cook present

• 3 May 2017: Elizabeth Crouch, Tim Ebbeck and 
Allan Cook present

Internal Audit And Risk 
Management Attestation 
Statement
I, Professor Barney Glover, am of the opinion that the 
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences has internal 
audit and risk management processes in operation 
that are compliant with the eight (8) core 
requirements set out in the Internal Audit and Risk 
Management Policy for the NSW Public Sector, 
specifically: 

Core Requirements 
1.1 The agency head is ultimately responsible and 

accountable for risk management in the agency 
COMPLIANT 

1.2 A risk management framework that is 
appropriate to the agency has been established 
and maintained and the framework is consistent 
with AS/NZS ISO 31000:2009 Internal Audit 
Function COMPLIANT

2.1 An internal audit function has been established 
and maintained COMPLIANT 

2.2 The operation of the internal audit function is 
consistent with the International Standards for 
the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing 
COMPLIANT 

2.3 The agency has an Internal Audit Charter that is 
consistent with the content of the ‘model 
charter’ Audit and Risk Committee COMPLIANT 

3.1 An independent Audit and Risk Committee with 
appropriate expertise has been established 
COMPLIANT 
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3.2 The Audit and Risk Committee is an advisory 
committee providing assistance to the agency 
head on the agency’s governance processes, risk 
management and control frameworks, and its 
external accountability obligations COMPLIANT 

3.3 The Audit and Risk Committee has a Charter 
that is consistent with the content of the ‘model 
charter’ Membership COMPLIANT 

The chair and members of the Audit and Risk 
Committee are: Independent Chair, Ms Elizabeth 
Couch Term: 11 March 2016–31 December 2018 
Independent Member 1, Tim Ebbeck, Term 10 
September 2015–31 December 2017 Independent 
Member 2, Allan Cook, 25 May 2016–24 May 2018.

The Head of Governance Planning and Reporting is 
the Museum’s Chief Audit Executive and Chief Risk 
officer.

The implementation and maintenance of a sound 
governance foundation for MAAS has been the 
priority. MAAS is committed to the development of 
policy and planning frameworks that underpin 
organisational planning and enterprise to improve 
business operations and to ensure MAAS complies 
with all NSW Government obligations.

This year MAAS reviewed internal policies including 
the Code of Conduct, the Gifts and Benefits Policy, 
the Public Interest Disclosure Policy, the Records and 
Information Management Policy, the Smoke Free 
Workplace Policy, the Mobile Device Policy and 
continued support for the development and 
implementation of the Strategic Collections Policy 
Framework. 

Planning has also begun for an upgrade to HP 
Content Manager 9.0 which will integrate 
functionally with Office 365 and be the catalyst for a 
progression to paperless record keeping for MAAS. 

MAAS has finalised the Risk Management 
Framework and Policy in accordance with Core 
Requirement 5 of NSW Treasury Policy Paper 09-05 
Internal Audit and Risk Management Policy for the 
NSW Public Sector. The Risk Management 
Framework is planned for immediate implementation 
and will embed risk management across MAAS and 
provide a structure that will assist staff in managing 
risks and making informed decisions.

CONTINUOUS 
IMPROVEMENT
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YEAR IN REVIEW

The 2016–17 financial year saw MAAS host three 
major exhibitions: Isabella Blow: A Fashionable Life 
which opened in May 2016; Egyptian Mummies: 
Exploring Ancient Lives, which ran through the 
summer season; and The International Exhibition of 
Sherlock Holmes which opened in May 2017. These 
exhibitions contributed to visitation revenue. 

Whilst total onsite visitation remained steady in 
relation to the previous year, the number of total paid 
admissions fell by 15% during the year. As a 
consequence, revenue from the sale of goods and 
services fell by 9%, to $7,117,000 (2015–16: 
$7,826,000).

September 2016 also saw the opening of the 
Museums Discovery Centre at Castle Hill after a 
five-year redevelopment project, which now sees the 
site also providing collection storage facilities for 
Australian Museum and Sydney Living Museums.

The Museum’s staffing levels increased from 213 FTE 
at 30 June 2016 to 216 FTE at 30 June 2017, which 
included temporary project-related roles associated 
with the completion of the Castle Hill Shared Storage 
and Access project and the development of the 
business case for the New Museum proposed for 
Parramatta. Additional casual staffing costs 
associated with supporting the exhibition program 
also contributed to an increase in employee-related 
expenses of 5% over the previous year.

Total government contributions were significantly 
lower at $38,029,000 (2015–16: $51,288,000). Capital 
funding was $10,278,000 lower than the previous 
year mainly due to the completion of the Shared 
Storage and Access project at Castle Hill and the 
associated reduction in funding, with $1,148,000 
being received in 2016–17 (total project funding of 
$33,557,000). Funding received in relation to the 
business case for the New Museum Project totalled 

$2,859,000 with a further $3,261,000 being diverted 
to the Department of Planning and Environment to 
address the extension of the business case and final 
delivery of this stage of the project. Recurrent 
funding was $2,981,000 lower than the previous year. 

Additional expenses were incurred in relation to the 
Museum’s two major capital projects that were 
deemed not to be of a capital nature, and 
subsequently applied to the Museum’s net result. 
These costs totalled $2,790,000 and included 
relocation costs associated with moving parts of the 
Museum’s collection to the upgraded Castle Hill 
facility, and ancillary costs in relation to the business 
case for the New Museum Project.

Depreciation and amortisation continues to be high 
at $14,473,000 which relates to the Museum revising 
the estimated useful life of assets at its Ultimo site 
because of the New Museum Project. The 
completion of building works at the Museums 
Discovery Centre also contributed to an increase in 
depreciation.

Total cash balances reduced due to the completion of 
major capital projects through the year. Cash 
balances are expected to further reduce in 2017–18 
with the completion of minor capital projects that 
were in progress at year end.

Following discussions with NSW Treasury, MAAS 
was advised that the efficiency dividend no longer 
applies to the self-generated revenue of state cultural 
institutions. 
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STATEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 41C (1B) OF THE PUBLIC FINANCE AND AUDIT ACT, 1983  
          
Pursuant to Section 41C(1B) of the Public Finance and Audit Act, 1983 and in accordance with a resolution of the Trustees 
of  the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences we state that:
     
(a) the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Public Finance 

and Audit Act 1983, the applicable clauses of the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015, the Treasurer’s Directions 
and relevant Australian Accounting Standards;     

(b) the financial statements and notes thereto exhibit a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2017 and 
the results of the operations for the year ended on that date;

(c) at the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances that would render the financial statements misleading 
or inaccurate.

Professor Barney Glover Dolla Merrillees 
President Director and CEO

26 September 2017
     
      

TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES STATUTORY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2017



 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
Trustees of the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences 

 

To Members of the New South Wales Parliament 

Opinion  
I have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Trustees of the Museum of Applied Arts 
and Sciences (the Museum), which comprise the statements of financial position as at 30 June 2017, 
the statements of comprehensive income, the statements of changes in equity and the statements of 
cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information of the Museum and the consolidated entity. The consolidated entity 
comprises the Museum and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the 
financial year. 

In my opinion, the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Museum and the consolidated entity as 
at 30 June 2017, and of their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards  

• are in accordance with section 41B of Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (PF&A Act) and the 
Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015. 

 

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report. 

Basis for Opinion 
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements’ 
section of my report.  

I am independent of the Museum and the consolidated entity in accordance with the requirements of 
the: 

• Australian Auditing Standards  
• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants’ (APES 110). 
 

I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110. 

Parliament further promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of 
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by: 

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an Auditor–
General 

• mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of public sector agencies 
• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services.  
 

I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.



 
 

2 

The Trustees’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements  
The Trustees of the Museum are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the PF&A Act, and for such 
internal control as the Trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees must assess the ability of the Museum and the 
consolidated entity to continue as a going concern except where operations will be dissolved by an Act 
of Parliament or otherwise cease. The assessment must, disclose, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and the appropriateness of using the going concern basis of accounting. 

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and  

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion.  
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on the financial statements. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: 
http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar3.pdf. 
The description forms part of my auditor’s report. 

My opinion does not provide assurance: 

• that the Museum or the consolidated entity carried out their activities effectively, efficiently and 
economically 

• about the assumptions used in formulating the budget figures disclosed in the financial 
statements 

• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial 
statements on any website where they may be presented 

• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements. 
 

 

 

 

James Sugumar 
Director, Financial Audit Services 

 

29 September 2017 
SYDNEY 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Notes 

Economic Entity Parent

Actual
2017

$000

Budget
2017

$000

Actual
2016

$000

Actual
2017

$000

Actual
2016

$000

Expenses excluding losses            

Operating expenses            

Personnel services 2(a)                  -                  -                  - 26,179 24,902

Employee related 2(b) 26,179 25,629 24,902                  -                  - 

Other operating expenses 2(c) 17,598 16,959 17,133 17,598 17,133

Depreciation and amortisation 2(d) 14,473 5,940 13,900 14,473 13,900

Other Expenses 2(e) 2,790 - 2,127 2,790 2,127

TOTAL EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES   61,040 48,528 58,062 61,040 58,062

Revenue            

Sale of goods and services 3(a) 7,117 7,610 7,826 7,117 7,826 

Investment revenue 3(b) 139 265 98 139 98 

Grants and contributions 3(c) 41,943 44,790 55,651 42,723 56,948 

Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits  
and other liabilities

3(d) 780 923 1,297 - -

Other revenue 3(e) 715 250 692 715 692 

Total Revenue   50,694 53,838 65,564 50,694 65,564

Gain/(Loss) on disposal 4 7 - - 7 -

Other gains / (losses) 5 (13) - (156) (13) (156)

Net result   (10,352) 5,310 7,346 (10,352) 7,346 

Other comprehensive income for the year            

Items that will not be reclassified to net result            

Net increase / (decrease) in property, plant and equipment 
revaluation surplus

                 -                  -                  -                  -                  - 

Total other comprehensive income                    -                  -                  -                  -                  - 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   (10,352) 5,310 7,346 (10,352) 7,346 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 June 2017

Notes 

Economic Entity Parent

Actual
2017

$000

Budget
2017

$000

Actual
2016

$000

Actual
2017

$000

Actual
2016

$000

ASSETS            

Current Assets            

Cash and cash equivalents 6 5,489 1,477 12,676 5,489 12,676

Receivables 7 1,061 998 1,439 1,061 1,439

Inventories 8 264 169 159 264 159

Total Current Assets   6,814 2,644 14,274 6,814 14,274

Non-Current Assets            

Financial assets at fair value 9 2,578 2,544 2,447 2,578 2,447

Property, plant and equipment            

Land and buildings 11 171,274 205,698 183,530 171,274 183,530

Plant and equipment 11 13,141 6,874 5,419 13,141 5,419

Collection Assets 11 311,525 312,080 310,990 311,525 310,990

Total Property, plant and equipment   495,940 524,652 499,939 495,940 499,939

Total Non-Current Assets   498,518 527,196 502,386 498,518 502,386

Total Assets   505,332 529,840 516,660 505,332 516,660

LIABILITIES            

Current Liabilities            

Payables 13 2,995 2,373 4,239 2,995 4,239

Financial Liabilities at fair value 14 36                  -                55 36                55 

Provisions 15 2,706 2,064 2,393 2,706 2,393

Total Current Liabilities   5,737 4,437 6,687 5,737 6,687

Non-Current Liabilities            

Financial Liabilities at fair value 14                  -                  - 23                  - 23

Provisions 15 56                32 59 56 59

Total Non-Current Liabilities   56                32 82 56 82

Total Liabilities   5,793 4,469 6,769 5,793 6,769

Net Assets   499,539 525,371 509,891 499,539 509,891

EQUITY            

Reserves   164,197 164,197 164,197 164,197 164,197

Accumulated funds   335,342 361,174 345,694 335,342 345,694

Total Equity   499,539 525,371 509,891 499,539 509,891

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Notes

Economic Entity Parent
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$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Balance as at 1 July 2016 345,694 164,197 509,891 345,694 164,197 509,891 

Net result for the year (10,352) - (10,352) (10,352) - (10,352)

Total other comprehensive income - -  - - - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year (10,352) - (10,352) (10,352) - (10,352)

Balance as at 30 June 2017 335,342 164,197 499,539 335,342 164,197 499,539

Balance as at 1 July 2015 338,348 164,197 502,545 338,348 164,197 502,545

Net result for the year 7,346  - 7,346 7,346 - 7,346 

Total other comprehensive income - - - - - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year 7,346 - 7,346 7,346 - 7,346 

Balance as at 30 June 2016 345,694 164,197 509,891 345,694 164,197 509,891

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 30 June 2017

 Notes

Economic Entity Parent

Actual
2017

$000 

Budget
2017

$000 

Actual
2016

$000 

Actual
2017

$000

Actual
2016

$000 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES            

Payments            

Personnel services   - -                  - (25,929) (23,705)

Employee related   (25,929) (24,631) (23,705) -                  - 

Other   (18,435) (17,800) (15,837) (18,435) (15,837)

Total Payments   (44,364) (42,431) (39,542) (44,364) (39,542)

Receipts            

Sale of goods and services   7,099 7,610 7,917 7,099 7,917 

Interest received   13 140 52 13 52 

Grants and contributions   38,029 40,290 51,288 38,029 51,288 

Other   2,211 4,650 2,307 2,211 2,307 

Total Receipts   47,352 52,690 61,563 47,352 61,563

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 17 2,988 10,259 22,021 2,988 22,021

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES            

Purchases of property, plant and equipment and  
Collection assets

  (10,178) (15,908) (17,330) (10,178) (17,330)

Proceeds from sale of investments   7                  -                  - 7                  - 

Purchase of investments   -                  -                  - -                  - 

NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES   (10,171) (15,908) (17,330) (10,171) (17,330)

NET INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS

  (7,183) (5,649) 4,691 (7,183) 4,691 

Opening cash and cash equivalents         12,676 7,026           7,985 12,676           7,985 

Reclassification of cash equivalents   (4) 100                  - (4)                  - 

CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 6 5,489 1,477 12,676 5,489 12,676 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Reporting Entity
 The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences (the Museum) is a NSW government entity and is controlled by the State of NSW, 

which is the ultimate parent. The Museum is a not-for-profit entity (as profit is not its principal objective).

 The Museum, as a reporting entity comprises all the entities under its control, namely: the Powerhouse Museum, the Sydney 
Observatory, the Powerhouse Discovery Centre, and the Powerhouse Foundation (all comprising the parent entity), and the 
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency.

 The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency, is an executive agency related to the Museum that was established on 24 
February 2014, by the Administrative Arrangements Order 2014. The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency’s 
objective is to provide personnel services to the Museum.

 In the process of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the economic entity, consisting of the controlling and 
controlled entities, all inter-entity transactions and balances have been eliminated and like transactions and other events are 
accounted for using uniform accounting policies.

 These financial statements have been prepared with the knowledge and in consideration of, the NSW Government’s proposal to 
relocate the Powerhouse Museum to Parramatta. As a consequence, and in accordance with requirements under the accounting 
standards, the Museum has reassessed the useful lives of assets at its Ultimo site resulting in the acceleration of depreciation of 
those assets, significantly impacting the Museum’s net result. However, these estimates may change in the future in line with the 
outcome of the final business case for the proposed relocation.

 These financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2017 have been have been authorised for issue by the Trustees on 26 
September 2017.

(b) Basis of Preparation
 The Museum’s financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared on an accrual basis in 

accordance with:

 • applicable Australian Accounting Standards (which include Australian Accounting Interpretations)
 • the requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015 and
 • the Financial Reporting Directions mandated by the Treasurer.

 Property, plant and equipment including collection assets, and financial assets at ‘fair value through profit or loss’ are measured at 
fair value. Other financial statement items are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention. Judgements, key 
assumptions and estimations management has made are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial statements.

 All amounts are rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars and are expressed in Australian currency.

(c) Statement of Compliance
 The financial statements and notes comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian Accounting 

Interpretations.

(d) Insurance
 The Museum’s insurance activities are conducted through the NSW Treasury Managed Fund Scheme of self-insurance for 

Government entities.  The expense (premium) is determined by the Fund Manager based on past claims experience.

(e) Accounting for the Goods and Services Tax (GST)
 Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where:

 • the amount of GST incurred by the entity as a purchaser that is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) is 
recognised as part of the cost of an assets’ cost of acquisition or as part of an item of expense

  and
 • receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

 Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. However, the GST component of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office are classified as 
operating cash flows.

(f) Income Recognition
 Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration or contribution received or receivable. Comments regarding the 

accounting policies for the recognition of income are discussed below.

 (i) Sale of Goods
  Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised as revenue when the Museum transfers the significant risks and rewards of 

ownership of the goods, usually on delivery of the goods.

 (ii) Rendering of Services
  Revenue is recognised when the service is provided or by reference to the stage of completion (based on labour hours 

incurred to date).
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 (iii) Investment and Other Revenue
  Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 

discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where 
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

  Rental income from operating leases is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms.

  Royalty and copyright revenue is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreement.

  TCorp Hour Glass distributions and dividend revenue are recognised when the Museum’s right to receive payment has been 
established.

 (iv) Grants and Contributions
  Grants and contributions include donations, and are recognised as income when the Museum obtains control over the assets 

comprising the grants and contributions. Control over grants and contributions is normally obtained upon the receipt of cash.

  Contributions are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are recognised when and only when a fair value of 
those services can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not donated.

(g) Property, plant and equipment

 (i) Acquisition of Assets
  Assets acquired are initially recognised at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less accumulated depreciation and 

impairment. Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other consideration given to acquire 
the asset at the time of its acquisition or construction or, where applicable, the amount attributed to that asset when initially 
recognised in accordance with the requirements of other Australian Accounting Standards.

  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at 
measurement date.

  Assets acquired at no cost, or for nominal consideration, are initially recognised at their fair value at the date of acquisition.

  Collection items acquired during the year are recorded at cost or valuation, for donated items, including a processing cost 
incurred in relation to the research and selection, transport, documentation and cataloging, condition assessment and 
conservation treatment required to acquire items into the Museum’s collection, and are recognised as assets. Processing 
costs are dependent on the nature, size, availability in the market and knowledge of the history of the item and consist of 
staff salary and freight costs.

 (ii) Capitalisation thresholds
  Property, plant and equipment costing $5,000 and above individually are capitalised. Computer related assets costing 

individually $5,000 or less but which form part of a network with a cumulative value in excess of $5,000 are also capitalised.

 (iii) Assets not able to be reliably measured
  The Museum holds a certain asset that has not been recognised in the Statement of Financial Position because the Museum 

is unable to measure reliably the value for that asset and that asset is likely to be material. This asset is the 1785 Boulton and 
Watt steam engine. The steam engine is one of the earliest rotative (wheel turning) steam engines to be built and is the 
oldest in existence. The engine is also one of the few in the world to work regularly under steam. The Boulton and Watt was 
excluded from the last valuation of the Museum’s Collection on the basis that its value was deemed by the independent 
valuers to be unable to be reliably measured due to its unique nature.

 (iv) Revaluation of property, plant and equipment
  Physical non-current assets are valued in accordance with the “Valuation of Physical Non-Current Assets at Fair Value” 

Policy and Guidelines Paper (TPP14-01). This policy adopts fair value in accordance with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, 
and AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment.

  Property, plant and equipment is measured at the highest and best use by market participants that is physically possible, 
legally permissible and financially feasible. The highest and best use must be available at a period that is not remote and 
take into account the characteristics of the asset being measured, including any socio-political restrictions imposed by 
government. In most cases, after taking into account these considerations, the highest and best use is the existing use. In 
limited circumstances, the highest and best use may be a feasible alternative use, where there are no restrictions on use or 
where there is a feasible higher restricted alternative use.

  Fair value of property, plant and equipment is based on a market participant’s perspective, using valuation techniques 
(market approach, cost approach, income approach) that maximise relevant observable inputs and minimise unobservable 
inputs. Also refer Note 11 and Note 12 for further information regarding fair value.

  Revaluations shall be made with sufficient regularity to ensure the carrying amount of each asset in the class does not differ 
materially from its fair value at reporting date. The Museum conducts a comprehensive revaluation at least every  three  
years for its land and buildings where the market or income approach is the most appropriate valuation technique, and at 
least every five years for other classes of property plant and equipment. The last comprehensive valuation was completed 
on 30 April 2015 and was based on an independent assessment.

  Any balances of accumulated depreciation at the revaluation date in respect of those assets are credited to the asset 
accounts to which they relate. The net asset accounts are then increased or decreased by the revaluation increments or 
decrements. Revaluation increments are recognised in other comprehensive income and credited to the revaluation surplus 
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in equity. However, to the extent that an increment reverses a revaluation decrement in respect of that class of asset 
previously recognised as an expense in the net result, the increment is recognised immediately as a gain in the net result.

  Revaluation decrements are recognised immediately as a loss in the net result, except that, to the extent that a credit 
balance exists in the asset revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of assets, they are debited directly to the 
revaluation surplus. As a not-for-profit entity, revaluation increments and decrements are offset against one another within a 
class of non-current assets, but not otherwise. Where an asset that has previously been revalued is disposed of, any balance 
remaining in the asset revaluation surplus in respect of that asset is transferred to accumulated funds.

  The Museum mainly owns specialised assets, including heritage assets, such as Museum buildings which are valued using 
the current replacement cost. However, if a specialised asset is decommissioned and rezoned by Government Property 
NSW, a revaluation at market value will be obtained for the land and buildings.

  If such specialised assets are not decommissioned by Government Property NSW, such assets remain on the books at 
current replacement cost, until a determination is made on the future of these assets.

 (v) Impairment of property, plant and equipment
  As a not-for-profit entity with no cash generating units, impairment under AASB 136 Impairment of Assets is unlikely to arise. 

As property, plant and equipment is carried at fair value, impairment can only arise in the rare circumstances where the 
costs of disposal are material. Specifically, impairment is unlikely for not-for-profit entities given that AASB 136 modifies the 
recoverable amount test for non-cash generating assets of not-for-profit entities to the higher of fair value less costs of 
disposal and depreciated replacement cost, where depreciated replacement cost is also fair value.

 (vi) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
  Except for certain heritage assets, depreciation is provided for on a straight-line basis for all depreciable assets so as to 

write off the depreciable amount of each asset as it is consumed over its useful life to the Museum.

  All material separately identifiable component assets are depreciated over their useful lives.

  Land is not a depreciable asset. Certain heritage assets, such as the Museum’s collection items, may not have a limited 
useful life because appropriate curatorial and preservation policies are adopted. Such assets are not subject to depreciation. 
The decision not to recognise depreciation for these assets is reviewed annually.

  Depreciation rates are reviewed each year taking into consideration the condition and estimated useful life of the assets.

  Category: Depreciation Rate for 2016 and 2017:
  Buildings 2.00 – 14.30%
  Buildings — internal services and major components 4.00 – 50.00%
  Plant and equipment 3.33 – 50.00%
  Computer equipment 15.00 – 33.33%
  Motor Vehicles 10.00 – 20.00%
  Exhibitions 5.88 – 50.00%
  Collections 0.00 – 20.00%

 (vii) Restoration costs
  The present value of the expected cost for the restoration or cost of dismantling of an asset after its use is included in the 

cost of the respective asset if the recognition criteria for a provision are met.

 (viii) Maintenance
  Day-to-day servicing costs or maintenance are charged as expenses as incurred, except where they relate to the 

replacement of a component of an asset, in which case the costs are capitalised and depreciated.

(h) Inventories
 Inventories held for distribution are stated at cost, adjusted when applicable, for any loss of service potential. A loss of service 

potential is identified and measured based on the existence of a current replacement cost that is lower than the carrying amount. 
Cost is calculated using the ‘first in first out’ method.

(i) Financial Instruments
 A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument 

of another entity.

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit and loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, 
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in net result.

 The Museum determines the classification of its financial assets and liabilities after initial recognition and, when allowed and 
appropriate, re-evaluates this at each financial year end.

 (i) Financial assets
  Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 

receivables, held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets, or as derivatives designated as hedging 
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial 
assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
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  • Loans and receivables
   Trade receivables, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 

market are classified as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment. Changes are recognised in the net result for the year when impaired, 
derecognised or through the amortisation process.

   Short-term receivables with no stated interest rate are measured at the original invoice amount where the effect of 
discounting is immaterial.

  • Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
   The Museum subsequently measures financial assets classified as ‘held-for-trading’ or designated upon initial 

recognition ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ at fair value. Gains or losses on these assets are recognised in the net 
result for the year. Financial assets are classified as ‘held-for-trading’ if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or 
repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives are also classified as held-for-trading unless they are designated as effective 
hedging instruments under AASB 139.

   The Hour-Glass Investment Facilities are designated at fair value through profit or loss as these financial assets are managed 
and their performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management strategy, 
and information about these assets is provided internally on that basis to the Museum’s key management personnel.

   The movement in the fair value of the Hour-Glass Investment Facilities incorporates distributions received as well as 
unrealised movements in fair value and is reported in the line item ‘investment revenue’.

  • Impairment of financial assets
   All financial assets, except those measured at fair value through profit or loss, are subject to an annual review for 

impairment. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or 
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows have been 
affected.

   For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, the entity first assesses whether impairment exists 
individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually 
significant. Assets are assessed for impairment on a collective basis if they were assessed not to be impaired individually.

   For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the allowance is the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. The 
amount of the impairment loss is recognised in the net result for the year. Any reversals of impairment losses are 
reversed through the net result for the year. Reversals of impairment losses of financial assets carried at amortised cost 
cannot result in a carrying amount that exceeds what the carrying amount would have been had there not been an 
impairment loss.

 (ii) Financial Liabilities
  Financial liabilities are classified as either ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ or ‘at amortised cost’.

  • Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
   Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held-for-trading and financial liabilities 

designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

   Financial liabilities are classified as held-for-trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near 
term. Gains or losses on liabilities held-for-trading are recognised in the net result.

   Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on 
remeasurement recognised in the net result.

  • Financial liabilities at amortised cost (including borrowing and trade payables)
   Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. These are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, with interest expense recognised on 
an effective yield basis.

   Payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Museum and other amounts. Short-term payables 
with no stated interest rate are measured at the original invoice amount where the effect of discounting is immaterial.

   Finance lease liabilities are determined in accordance with AASB 117.

 (iii) Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities
  A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expeire; or if the 

entity transfers the financial asset:

  • where substantially all the risks and rewards have been transferred; or
  • where the entity has not transferred substantially all the risks and rewards, if the entity has not retained control.

  Where the Museum has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards or transferred control, the 
asset continues to be recognised to the extent of the Museum’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the 
Museum also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis 
that reflects the rights and obligations that the Museum has retained.

  A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires.
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(j) Personnel services and other provisions

 Personnel Services Arrangements
 All payments to personnel and in relation to related obligations are made by the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff 

Agency, and are classified as an ‘Employee Related’ cost on consolidation in these financial statements.

(k) Employee benefits

 (i) Salaries and wages, annual leave, and sick leave
  Salaries and wages (including non-monetary benefits) and paid sick leave that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 

months after the end of the period in which the employees render the service are recognised and measured at the 
undiscounted amounts of the benefits.

  Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period in which 
the employees render the related service. As such, it is required to be measured at present value in accordance with AASB 
119 Employee Benefits (although short-cut methods are permitted). Actuarial advice obtained by Treasury has confirmed that 
the use of a nominal approach plus the annual leave on annual leave liability (using 7.9% of the nominal value of annual leave) 
can be used to approximate the present value of the annual leave liability. The Museum has assessed the actuarial advice 
based on its circumstances and has determined that the effect of discounting is immaterial to annual leave. All annual leave 
is classified as a current liability even where the Museum does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months as the 
Museum does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement.

  Unused non-vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability as it is not considered probable that sick leave taken in the 
future will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future.

 (ii) Long service leave and superannuation
  The Museum’s liabilities for long service leave and defined benefit superannuation are assumed by the Crown Entity. The 

Museum accounts for the liability as having been extinguished, resulting in the amount assumed being shown as part of the 
non-monetary revenue item described as ‘Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities’.

  Long service leave is measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided 
up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to certain factors based on actuarial review, including expected future wage 
and salary levels, experience of employee departures, and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted 
using the Commonwealth government bond rate at the reporting date.

  The superannuation expense for the financial year is determined by using the formulae specified in the Treasurer’s Directions. 
The expense for certain superannuation schemes (i.e. Basic Benefit and First State Super) is calculated as a percentage of 
the employee’s salary. For other superannuation schemes (i.e. State Superannuation Scheme and State Authorities 
Superannuation Scheme), the expense is calculated as a multiple of the employees’ superannuation contributions.

 (iii) Consequential on-costs
  Consequential costs to employment are recognised as liabilities and expenses where the employee benefits to which they 

relate have been recognised. This includes outstanding amounts of payroll tax, workers’ compensation insurance premiums 
and fringe benefits tax.

(l) Provisions
 Provisions are recognised when: the Museum has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event; it is 

probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation.

 Any provisions for restructuring are recognised only when an entity has a detailed formal plan and the entity has raised a valid 
expectation in those affected by the restructuring that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or 
announcing its main features to those affected.

(m) Fair value hierarchy
 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 

participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the 
asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability or in the absence of a principal 
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

 A number of the Museum’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both financial and non-
financial assets and liabilities. When measuring fair value, the valuation technique used maximises the use of relevant observable 
inputs and minimises the use of unobservable inputs. Under AASB 13, the Museum categorises, for disclosure purposes, the 
valuation techniques based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows;

 • Level 1 — quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets / liabilities that the Museum can access at the 
measurement date.

 • Level 2 — inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly.
 • Level 3 — inputs that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

 The Museum recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during which the 
change has occurred. Refer Note 12 and Note 18 for further disclosures regarding fair value measurements of financial and non-
financial assets.
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(n) Equity and Reserves

 (i) Revaluation Surplus
  The revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets. This accords 

with the Museum’s policy on the revaluation of property, plant and equipment (refer Note 1(g)(iv)).

 (ii) Accumulated Funds
  The category ‘Accumulated Funds’ includes all current and prior period retained funds.

(o) Conditions on contributions
 The Museum receives funds of which the expenditure is restricted by the conditions under which the donation or bequest is 

made.  These funds are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are received.

(p) Non-Monetary Assistance
 The Museum receives assistance and contributions from third parties by way of the provision of volunteer labour, donations and  

bequests  to  the  collection  and  the  provision  of  goods  and  services  free  of  charge.  Non-Monetary contributions are 
recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are to be recognised when and only when a fair value of those services can 
be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not donated (refer Note 1(f)(iv)).

(q) Taxation Status
 The activities of the Museum are exempt from income tax. The Museum is registered for GST purposes and has gift deductible 

recipient status.

(r) Trustees Benefits
 No Trustee of the Museum has entered into a material contract with the Museum since the end of the previous financial period 

and there are no material contracts involving Trustee’s interests existing at the end of the period.

(s) Budgeted Amounts
 The budgeted amounts are drawn from the original budgeted financial statements presented to Parliament in respect of the 

reporting period. Subsequent amendments to the original budget (eg. Adjustment for transfer of functions between entities as a 
result of Administrative Arrangements Orders) are not reflected in the budgeted amounts. Major variances between the original 
budgeted amounts and the actual amounts disclosed in the financial statements are explained in Note 16.

(t) Comparative information
 Except when an Australian Accounting Standard permits or requires otherwise, comparative information is presented in respect of 

the previous period for all amounts reported in the financial statements.

(u) Changes in accounting policy, including new or revised Australian Accounting Standards

 (i) Effective for the first time in 2016–17
  The accounting policies applied in 2016–17 are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as a result of the 

following new or revised Australian Accounting Standards that have been applied for the first time in 2016–17.

  • AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures
  • AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards — Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101

  With regard to AASB 124, the impact of this standard in the period of initial application relates to an increased level of 
disclosure required for related party transactions.

  With regard to AASB 2015-2, the impact of this standard in the period of initial application relates to minor alterations to the 
detail and order in which disclosure notes are presented.

 (ii) Issued but not yet effective
  NSW public sector entities are not permitted to early adopt new Australian Accounting Standards, unless Treasury 

determines otherwise.

  The following new Australian Accounting Standards have not been applied and are not yet effective as specified in NSWTC17-04.

  • AASB 9 regarding Financial Instruments, which are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2018.

  • AASB 15, AASB 2014-5 and AASB 2016-3 regarding Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which are applicable to 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

  • AASB 2015-8 regarding Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which is applicable to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2017.

  • AASB 16 regarding Leases, which is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
  • AASB 1058 regarding Income for Not-for-profit entities, which is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2019.
  • AASB 2016-2 regarding disclosures relating to AASB 107, which is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 2017.
  • AASB 2016-4 regarding the Recoverable Amount of Non-Cash-Generating Specialised Assets of Not-for-Profit Entities, 

which is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017.
  • AASB 2016-7 regarding the Deferral of AASB 15 for Not-for-Profit Entities, which is applicable to annual reporting 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017.
  • AASB 2016-8 regarding Australian Implementation Guidance for Not-for-Profit Entities, which is applicable to annual 

reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
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  The Museum has assessed the impact of these new standards and interpretations and considers the impact to be 
insignificant except for the following observations;

  • AASB 1058 dictates that volunteer services be accounted for as a revenue and expense. The Museum currently only 
makes note disclosure of the fair value of volunteer services.

  • AASB 1058 and AASB 2016-8 dictates that revenue received from a grant which generates a performance obligation 
shall be recognised as the performance obligation is met, rather than upon receipt of the grant funding.
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2. EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES

 (a) Personnel Services Expenses        

  Salaries and wages (Including Recreation Leave)                 -                 -       22,017       20,462 

  Voluntary Redundancy Program                 -                 -              25              52 

  Superannuation — Defined benefit plans                 -                 -            360            384 

  Superannuation — Defined contribution plans                 -                 -         1,829         1,661 

  Long Service Leave and Oncosts                 -                 -            367            905 

  Workers compensation insurance                 -                 -            224            166 

  Payroll tax                 -                 -         1,355         1,270 

  Other payroll and fringe benefit taxes                 -                 -                1                2 

                  -                 -       26,179       24,902 

 (b) Employee related expenses        

  Salaries and wages (Including Recreation Leave)       22,017       20,462                 -                 - 

  Voluntary Redundancy Program              25              52                 -                 - 

  Superannuation — Defined benefit plans            360            384                 -                 - 

  Superannuation — Defined contribution plans         1,829         1,661                 -                 - 

  Long Service Leave and Oncosts            367            905                 -                 - 

  Workers compensation insurance            224            166                 -                 - 

  Payroll tax         1,355         1,270                 -                 - 

  Other payroll and fringe benefit taxes                2                2                 -                 - 

          26,179       24,902                 -                 - 

Increased levels of casual staffing relating to the delivery of the Museum’s program of activity contributed to the increase in 
employee related expenses.

In addition, employee related expenses have been incurred on capital projects, including $48,000 (2016:  $287,000) for processing 
costs in accessioning additions to the collection (refer notes 1(g)(i) and 11). Non-cash contributions of $757,000 (2016: $766,000) 
were also received.

 (c) Other Operating Expenses        

  Advertising and publicity         1,039         1,953         1,039         1,953 

  Auditor’s remuneration        

  – audit of Financial Statements              87              83              87              83 

  – other audit fees                 -              24                 -              24 

  Cleaning and laundry            899            975            899            975 

  Computer software            325            380            325            380 

  Consumables            395            597            395            597 

  Exhibition fit-out            893            247            893            247 

  Exhibition hire         1,411         1,248         1,411         1,248 

  Fees — contract services         6,496         4,722         6,496         4,722 

  Freight, cartage and handling            916            397            916            397 

  Insurance            383            359            383            359 

  Maintenance         2,037         1,278         2,037         1,278 

  Operating lease rental payments        

  – minimum lease payments              12              15              12              15 

  Power and water supplies         1,493         1,424         1,493         1,424 

  Printing and publications            414            407            414            407 

  Travel and accommodation            372            366            372            366 

  Other expenditure            426         2,658            426         2,658 

    17,598 17,133 17,598 17,133 

Economic Entity  Parent

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000
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Economic Entity  Parent

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

Reconciliation — total maintenance        

  Maintenance expenses — contracted labour and other  
(non-employee related), as above

        2,037         1,278         2,037         1,278 

  Personnel services maintenance expense included in Note 2(a)                 -                 -         1,019            639 

  Employee related maintenance expense included in Note 2(b)         1,019            639                 -                 - 

  Total maintenance expenses included in Note 2(a), 2(b) & 2(c) 3,056 1,917 3,056 1,917

(d) Depreciation and Amortisation Expense        

  Buildings       12,902       12,660       12,902       12,660 

  Plant & equipment         1,548         1,225         1,548         1,225 

  Collections              23              15              23              15 

  14,473 13,900 14,473 13,900

 
 

Depreciation charges on buildings and plant and equipment located at the Museum’s Ultimo site are based on the useful lives of 
such assets extinguishing as at 30 June 2022 (refer note 11).

(e) Other Expenses        

  Collection Relocation Expenses         2,264            868         2,264            868 

  Parramatta Business Plan Development            526         1,259            526         1,259 

            2,790         2,127         2,790         2,127 

Other Expenses includes expenditure funded via the museum’s Capital Grant for major capital projects, and originally budgeted as 
additions to land and buildings, but identified as not being capital in nature under the accounting standards. As a consequence 
these amounts represent a variation to the Museum’s original budget.

3. REVENUE

(a) Sale of goods and services        

  Sale of goods        

  Shops 971 1,149 971 1,149

  Publications 26 36 26 36

    997 1,185 997 1,185

  Rendering of Services        

  Admissions 4,708 5,590 4,708 5,590

  Members organisation 414 214 414 214

  Leased operations 196 315 196 315

  Venue hire and catering 751 500 751 500

  Fees for staff services 51 22 51 22

    6,120 6,641 6,120 6,641

    7,117 7,826 7,117 7,826

(b) Investment Income        

  TCorp Hourglass investment facilities 127 47 127 47

  Interest received                 - 33                 - 33

  Dividend income 12 18 12 18

    139 98 139 98
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Economic Entity  Parent

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

(c) Grants and contributions        

  From NSW Department of Justice:        

  Recurrent Grants 31,174 34,155 31,174 34,155

  Capital Grants 6,855 17,133 6,855 17,133

  Total grants from Department of Justice 38,029 51,288 38,029 51,288

Recurrent Grants for 2017 comprised of $31,174,000 (recurrent grants $29,674,000 plus $1,500,000 from the Department of 
Planning and Environment in relation to the Museum’s cash management position). Recurrent Grants for 2016 comprised of 
$34,155,000 (recurrent grants $29,139,000 plus $5,016,000 from NSW Treasury in relation to cash management reforms).

Major Capital Grants include $1,148,000 (2016: $11,065,000) received for the Shared Storage and Access project, and $2,859,000 
(2016: $3,380,000) received for the proposed Parramatta Relocation.

Capital Grants totalling $3,261,000 relating to the proposed Parramatta Relocation were redirected to the Department of Planning 
and Environment in line with the Department assuming responsibility for this project (refer note 16).

Unspent Capital Grants are included in Cash at Bank and comprise funds relating to the Shared Storage and Access project 
($669,000) and other minor capital projects ($188,000) (refer notes 6 and 16).

 
 

Personnel services benefits and liabilities provided free of charge  
by Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency:

  Superannuation — defined benefit                 -                 - 360            384 

  Long service leave                 -                 - 400            893 

  Payroll taxes                 -                 - 20              20 

                    -                 - 780 1,297

  From other institutions and individuals:        

  Grants — Other              91              77              91              77 

  Bequests              93                 -              93                 - 

  Public Donations            200            124            200            124 

  Industry donations and contributions            833         1,213            833         1,213 

  Collection Donations — in kind            293         1,401            293         1,401 

  Other Donations — in kind         2,404         1,548         2,404         1,548 

  3,914 4,363 3,914 4,363 

    41,943 55,651 42,723 56,948 

(d) Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits  
and other liabilities

     

  Superannuation — defined benefit            360            384                 -                 - 

  Long service leave            400            893                 -                 - 

  Payroll tax              20              20                 -                 - 

    780 1,297                 -                 - 

(e) Other revenue        

  Rental and Other income            715            692            715            692 

    715 692 715 692 

4. GAINS / (LOSSES) ON SALE OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS

  Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment                7                 -                7                 - 

  Written down value of assets disposed                 -                 -                 -                 - 

                   7                 -                7                 - 
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Economic Entity  Parent

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

5. OTHER GAINS / (LOSSES) 

  Unrealized Foreign Exchange losses from forward contracts (13) (78) (13) (78)

  Write off Joint Venture Investment                 - (70)                 - (70)

  Increase/ (Decrease) in value of Shares                 - (8)                 - (8)

    (13) (156) (13) (156)

6. CURRENT ASSETS — CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

  Cash at bank and on hand 5,489 12,676 5,489 12,676

    5,489 12,676 5,489 12,676

  The reduction in cash balances relates to unspent Capital Grants from prior years ($7,303,000) being expended during 2016/17.

7. CURRENT ASSETS — RECEIVABLES 

  Sale of goods and services 500 478 500 478 

  Less: Allowance for impairment (34) (49) (34) (49)

  Other debtors 268 563 268 563 

  Prepayments 327 447 327 447 

    1,061 1,439 1,061 1,439 

  Movement in the allowance for impairment:        

  Balance at 1 July              49                6              49               6 

  Amounts written off during the year                 -                 -                 -                 - 

  Receipts against prior impairment provisions (15)                 - (15)                 - 

  Increase/(decrease) in allowance recognised in profit and loss                 -              43                 -              43 

  Balance at 30 June              34              49              34              49 

 
 

Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including financial assets that are either past due or impaired, are 
disclosed in Note 18.

8. CURRENT ASSETS — INVENTORY

  Held for resale        

  Finished goods at cost               264 159            264 159 

                  264             159            264            159 

9. NON-CURRENT ASSETS — FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

  TCorp Hour-Glass investment facilities (Medium Term Growth)            2,297 2,167         2,297 2,167 

  Shares 281 280 281 280 

    2,578 2,447 2,578 2,447 

Refer to Note 18 for further information regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk arising from financial instruments.
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Economic Entity  Parent

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

 10. RESTRICTED ASSETS

  Included in investments are funds donated or bequeathed to the Museum for specific purposes.  They are made up of amounts 
that are expendable at any time in the future by the Trustees in accordance with the donation or bequest.

  Restricted Bequests 1,162 1,018 1,162 1,018

Land and 
Buildings

$000

Plant and 
Equipment

$000

Collection 
Assets

$000
Total
$000

11. NON-CURRENT ASSETS — PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

  2017 Economic Entity (including parent at same values)        

  At 1 July 2016 — fair value        

  Gross carrying amount        304,193        46,831     311,041     662,065 

  Less Accumulated depreciation and impairment (120,663) (41,412) (51) (162,126)

  Net carrying amount        183,530          5,419     310,990     499,939 

           

  At 30 June 2017 — fair value        

  Gross carrying amount        304,912        55,947     311,598     672,457 

  Less Accumulated depreciation and impairment (133,638) (42,806) (73) (176,517)

  Net carrying amount        171,274        13,141     311,525     495,940 

Collection items acquired free of charge during the year have been valued, where values can be reasonably determined, at 
$293,000 (2016: $1,401,000). This amount has been treated as additions under collection at valuation.  Further details regarding 
the fair value measurement of property, plant and equipment are disclosed in Note 12.

Reconciliation

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of each class of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of each reporting 
period are set out below.

For the year ended 30 June 2017  

Net carrying amount at start of year 183,530 5,419 310,990 499,939 

Additions 800 9,116 557 10,473 

Disposals                  -                  -                  -                 - 

Net revaluation increment less revaluation decrement                  -                  -                  -                 - 

Depreciation Expense (13,056) (1,394) (22) (14,472)

Net carrying amount at end of year 171,274 13,141 311,525 495,940

 
 
 
 

Major additions in relation to plant and equipment relate to the completion of the fitout of new buildings at the Museum’s 
Discovery Centre at Castle Hill as a part of the Shared Storage and Access project, giving rise to a material variation to budget.

The useful lives of buildings and associated plant and equipment at the Museum’s Ultimo site have been reassessed effective from 
1 July 2015 as a consequence of the Museum’s proposed relocation to Parramatta. An additional annual depreciation charge of 
$9,077,000 has been incurred commencing from the year ended 30 June 2016, and for each subsequent year until the year ended 
30 June 2022. Further reviews of the useful lives of the relevant assets will be undertaken, and depreciation charges amended, as 
the timetable for the proposed relocation project becomes more certain.
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2016 Economic Entity (including parent at same values)        

At 1 July 2015 — fair value        

Gross carrying amount      288,234        47,542      309,301     645,077 

Less Accumulated depreciation and impairment (108,003) (41,938) (36) (149,977)

Net carrying amount      180,231          5,604      309,265     495,100 

At 30 June 2016 — fair value        

Gross carrying amount      304,193        46,831      311,041     662,065 

Less Accumulated depreciation and impairment (120,663) (41,412) (51) (162,126)

Net carrying amount      183,530          5,419      310,990     499,939 

Reconciliation        

Year ended 30 June 2016  

Net carrying amount at start of year      180,231          5,604      309,265     495,100 

Additions 15,959 1,040 1,740 18,739 

Disposals                  -                  -                  -                 - 

Net revaluation increment less revaluation decrement                  -                  -                  -                 - 

Depreciation Expense (12,660) (1,225) (15) (13,900)

Net carrying amount at end of year 183,530 5,419 310,990 499,939

12. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Level 1
$000

Level 2
$000

Level 3
$000

Total Fair
Value
$000

 (a) Fair value hierachy        

  2017 Economic Entity (including parent at same values)        

  Property, plant and equipment (Note 11)        

  Land and Buildings                 - 131,420       39,854 171,274 

  Collection Assets                 -     280,501 31,024 311,525 

                    - 411,921 70,878 482,799 

  2016 Economic Entity (including parent at same values)        

  Property, plant and equipment (Note 11)        

  Land and Buildings                 - 143,676       39,854 183,530 

  Collection Assets                 -     280,501 30,489 310,990 

                    - 424,177 70,343 494,520 

(b) Valuation techniques, inputs and processes

 Fair value of the Museum’s main Property, plant and equipment assets is estimated based on appraisals performed by 
independent, professionally qualified valuers. Land assets are valued using the market approach. Buildings and associated plant 
are valued using the depreciated cost approach. Certain collection assets such as coins, philately, jewellery, books and furniture 
that have observable market prices are valued using the market approach. Other collection assets are valued using the cost 
approach via a reproduction or recollection cost. The last revaluation of property plant and equipment was completed on 30 April 
2015, assuming that the use of the assets at the time of the valuation were the highest and best use.

 Because the Government’s mandate specifies that services are provided to the public via the use of the Museum’s land and 
buildings, restrictions are imposed on the sale or use of these assets, because the Museum is unable to sell them or change their 
use, unless approved by the Government. These restrictions on the use and disposal of these public sector assets are a 
characteristic of these assets.

Land and 
Buildings

$000

Plant and 
Equipment

$000

Collection 
Assets

$000
Total
$000
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 In the case of the Museum’s land which are specialised assets, Management has considered the current use of the land and 
determined the current use is in fact the highest and best use, given there is no feasible alternate use.

 Management’s view is that where there are natural, legal, financial or socio-political restrictions on the use and disposal of  
land such that there is no feasible alternative use in the relatively near future, such land should be valued at fair value on its 
existing use.

 However this approach may not reflect the actual value of the land should Government announcements lead to the sale of the 
Ultimo site. In this situation, valuations may be materially different.

 The valuation of collection assets involves the use of sampling techniques by professional statisticians. All assets regarded as 
highly significant or of high value are individually valued, with other assets valued by category of item using appropriately sized 
samples to determine the overall value of the relevant category. Categories vary from having observable established active 
markets to an absence of an active market, and unobservable inputs such as the provenance of an item has a significant impact on 
its value.

Land and
Buildings

$’000

Collection
Assets
 $’000

Total 
Recurring

Level 3
Fair Value

$’000

(c) Reconciliation of recurring Level 3 fair value measurements

  2017 Economic entity (Including parent at same values)      

  Fair value as at July 2016       39,854 30,489 70,343 

  Additions                 - 557 557 

  Depreciation                 - (22) (22)

  Fair value as at June 2017 39,854 31,024 70,878 

2016 Economic entity (Including parent at same values)

Fair value as at July 2015       39,854 28,764 68,618 

Additions                 - 1,740 1,740 

Depreciation                 - (15) (15)

Fair value as at June 2016       39,854 30,489 70,343 

Economic Entity Parent

2017
$000

 2016
$000

 2017
$000

 2016
$000

13. CURRENT / NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES — PAYABLES

  Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs                  90              15                 -                 - 

  Accrued personnel services expenses                     -                 -            240            156 

  Trade Creditors                873         1,269            873         1,269 

  Accruals             1,526         2,720         1,376         2,579 

  Income paid in advance                506            235            506            235 

                2,995         4,239         2,995         4,239 

Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, inlcuding maturity analysis of the above payables are disclosed in Note 18.

14. CURRENT / NON-CURRENT CAPITAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE 

  Derivative Liability — Current                  36              55              36              55 

  Derivative Liability — Non-Current                     -              23                 -              23 

                     36              78              36              78 

Details regarding market risk, including currency risk, are disclosed in Note 18.
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Economic Entity Parent

2017
$000

 2016
$000

 2017
$000

 2016
$000

15. CURRENT / NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES — PROVISIONS 

  Employee benefits and related on-costs        

  Annual leave             1,796         1,513                 -                 - 

  Annual leave on-costs                169            121                 -                 - 

  Payroll tax on annual leave                102              83                 -                 - 

  Long service leave on-costs                424            458                 -                 - 

  Payroll tax on long service leave                271            277                 -                 - 

                2,762         2,452                 -                 - 

  Provisions for personnel services expenses        

  Annual leave                     -                 -         1,796         1,513 

  Annual leave on-costs                     -                 -            169            121 

  Payroll tax on annual leave                     -                 -            102              83 

  Long service leave on-costs                     -                 -            424            458 

  Payroll tax on long service leave                     -                 -            271            277 

                        -                 -         2,762         2,452 

Aggregate employee benefits and related on-costs        

Provisions — current         2,706         2,393                 -                 - 

Provisions — non-current              56              59                 -                 - 

Provisions — personnel services — current                 -                 -         2,706         2,393 

Provisions — personnel services — non-current                 -                 -              56              59 

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs (Note 13)              90              15                 -                 - 

Accrued personnel services expenses (Note 13)                 -                 -            240            156 

          2,852         2,467         3,002         2,608 

Total current provisions not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date amount to $343,000  (2016 $397,000).

16. BUDGET REVIEW

 The budget process is finalised prior to the beginning of each financial year. Events can arise after that date that necessitates 
variations to the planned activities of the Museum for that year. This in turn may cause variations to the financial activities. Major 
variations between the original budget and actual amounts are outlined below. Note that budget figures shown in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income and Statement of Financial Position provide greater detail than budget figures published in the NSW 
Government Budget Papers 2016–17. Museum management is of the opinion that the greater level of detail provides a more 
accurate indication of the Museum’s performance against budget.

 Net Result 
The actual net result was lower than budget by $15,662,000. The following factors contributed to this result.

 Total Revenue was $3,144,000 lower than budget. The main factor impacting revenue was a reallocation of $3,261,000 from the 
Museum’s Capital Grant relating to the Parramatta Business Plan Development to the Department of Planning and Environment. A 
further $500,000 of the Museum’s Capital Grant was deferred to 2017/18 as a consequence of project timing.

 Sales of goods and services was lower than budget by $493,000 which is a reflection of a downturn in Museum visitation 
coinciding with the proposed Parramatta relocation announcement. Industry donations and contributions is lower than budget by 
$380,000 for a similar reason. The Trustee’s note that the uncertainty surrounding the proposed relocation of the Museum to 
Parramatta has materially impacted upon the Museum’s commercial operations. 

 The Department of Planning and Environment provided the Museum with an additional grant of $1,500,000 during the year to 
assist with supporting ongoing operations as a result of the Museum’s downturn in commercial revenue.
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 Total Expenditure was $12,512,000 higher than budget. The main factor impacting expenditure is accelerated depreciation rates 
being applied to Museum buildings at the Ultimo site, on the basis of the Government’s announcement of the selected site for the 
Museum’s proposed relocation to Parramatta. An additional $9,077,000 in depreciation expense has been incurred in relation to 
the reassessment of the useful lives of these assets (refer note 11). Costs totalling $526,000 incurred in relation to the Parramatta 
business case development have been expensed rather than capitalised as per the original budget (refer note 2(e)). Costs totalling 
$2,264,000 associated with the relocation of Collection items to the new collection storage facility have also been expensed 
rather than capitalised (refer note 2(e)).

 Assets and Liabilities 
Current assets are higher than budgeted, as a result of unspent capital grant funding resulting from delays to minor capital 
projects. Non-current assets are lower than budgeted due to the impact of accelerated depreciation on Museum assets at the 
Ultimo site. The decision to reassess the useful lives of the buildings at Ultimo was taken after the preparation of the 2017 budget 
and as at 30 June 2017 the cumulative impact of this decision is an $18,144,000 accelerated write-down of the carrying value of 
the asset and equivalent increased depreciation charge.

 Cash flows 
Net cash flows from operating activities were lower than budget due to the reduction in the Museum’s capital grant, reduced 
revenue from commercial operations, and the expensing of additional relocation costs associated with the Parramatta relocation 
and the relocation of the Collection to the Museum’s Castle Hill storage facility.

 17. RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES TO NET RESULT

Economic Entity  Parent

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

  Net cash used on operating activities 2,988 22,021 2,988 22,021 

  Adjustments for items not involving cash        

Depreciation (14,473) (13,900) (14,473) (13,900)

Donations to the collection 293 1,400 293 1,400 

Realised and unrealised gains & (losses) 130 47 130 47 

Impairment Allowance                 - (42)                 - (42)

  Decrease / (increase) in creditors 1,296 (1,735) 1,296 (1,735)

  Decrease / (increase) in employee entitlements (305) (357) (305) (357)

  Increase / (decrease) in receivables (274) (267) (274) (267)

  Increase / (decrease) in inventory 105 90 105 90 

  Increase / (decrease) in prepayments and other assets (113) 167 (113) 167 

Net gain / (loss) re investments 1 (78) 1 (78)

  Net Result (10,352) 7,346 (10,352) 7,346 

 18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

 The Museum’s principal financial instruments are outlined below. These financial instruments arise directly from the Museum’s 
operations or are required to finance the Museum’s operations. The Museum does not enter into or trade financial instruments, 
including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.  
  
The Museum’s main risks arising from financial instruments are outlined below, together with the Museum’s objectives, policies 
and processes for measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative and qualitative disclosures are included throughout these 
financial statements. 
 
The Audit and Risk Committee has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of risk management and reviews and 
agrees policies for managing each of these risks. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced 
by the Museum, to set risk limits and controls and to monitor risk. Compliance is reviewed by the internal auditors, with reporting 
to the Audit and Risk Committee, periodically.

TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2017



85ANNUAL REPORT

(a) Financial instruments categories

Financial Assets Note Category

Economic Entity Parent

Carrying Amount Carrying Amount

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

  Cash and cash 
equivalents

6 N/A 5,489 12,676 5,489 12,676

  Receivables1

 
7
 

Loans and Receivables (at 
amortised cost)

466 429 466 429

 
 

Financial assets at fair 
value
 

9
 

At fair value through the profit 
and loss — designated upon 
initial recognition

2,578 2,447 2,578 2,447

Financial Liabilities Note  Category 

Economic Entity Parent

Carrying Amount  Carrying Amount

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

 
 

Payables
 

13
 

Financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost

2,380 4,092 2,380 4,092 

 
 
 

Financial liabilities at fair 
value
 

14
 
 

At fair value through the profit 
and loss — designated upon 
initial recognition

36 78 36 78 

 Notes
 1. Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (i.e. not within the scope of AASB 7).
 2. Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (i.e. not within the scope of AASB 7).

(b) Credit risk 

 Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Museum’s debtors defaulting on their contractual obligations, resulting in a 
financial loss to the Museum. The maximum exposure to credit risk is generally represented by the carrying amount of the 
financial assets (net of any allowance for impairment).

 Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Museum, including cash and receivables. No collateral is held by the Museum. 
The Museum has not granted any financial guarantees. Credit risk associated with the Museum’s financial assets, other than 
receivables, is managed through the selection of counterparties and establishment of minimum credit rating standards. 

 Cash 
Cash comprises cash on hand, bank balances with the Westpac Banking Corporation and deposits in TCorp Hour-Glass Cash 
Facilities. Interest is earned on daily bank balances at the weekly average of the 30 day Bank Bill rate adjusted for a management 
fee to Westpac.

 Receivables — Trade debtors 
All trade debtors are recognised as amounts receivable at balance date. Collectability of trade debtors is reviewed on an ongoing 
basis. Procedures as established in the Treasurer’s Directions are followed to recover outstanding amounts. Debts which are 
known to be uncollectible are written off. An allowance for impairment is raised when there is objective evidence that the entity 
will not be able to collect all amounts due. This evidence includes past experience, and current and expected changes in 
economic conditions and debtor credit ratings. No interest is earned on trade debtors. Sales are made on 30 day terms.

 The Museum is not materially exposed to concentrations of credit risk to a single trade debtor or group of debtors.  
Based on past experience, debtors that are not past due (2017 $219,000; 2016 $142,000) and less than 60 days past due  
(2017 $35,000; 2016 $153,000) are not considered impaired. Together these represent 60% of the total trade debtors.  
There are no debtors which are currently not past due or impaired whose terms have been renegotiated.

 The only financial assets that are past due or impaired are ‘sales of goods and services’ in the receivables category of the 
statement of financial position.
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Total Past due but not impaired1,2 Considered Impaired

Economic
Entity
$000

Parent
$000

Economic
Entity
$000

Parent
$000

Economic
Entity
$000

Parent
$000

  2017

  < 3 months overdue 16 16 16 16 - -

  3 months – 6 months overdue 19 19 19 19 - -

  > 6 months overdue 175 175 141 141 34 34

  2016

  < 3 months overdue 126 126 126 126 - -

  3 months – 6 months overdue 17 17 17 17 - -

  > 6 months overdue 85 85 36 36 49 49

 Notes
 1. Each column in the table reports ‘gross receivables’
 2. The ageing analysis excludes statutory receivables, as these are not within the scope of AASB 7 and excludes receivables that are not past due 

and not impaired. Therefore, the ‘total’ will not reconcile to the receivables total recognised in the statement of financial position.

(c) Liquidity risk

 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Museum will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due. The Museum 
continuously manages risk through monitoring future cash flows and maturities planning to ensure adequate holding of high 
quality liquid assets. The objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility.

 During the current and prior years the Museum did not have any borrowings. The Museum’s cash position will be monitored on an 
ongoing basis in collaboration with the Department of Planning and Environment to ensure the Museum’s ability to continue to 
fund its operations.

 The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether or not invoiced. 
Amounts owing to suppliers (which are unsecured) are settled in accordance with the policy set out in NSW TC 11/12. For small 
business suppliers, where terms are not specified, payment is made not later than 30 days from date of receipt of correctly 
rendered invoice. For other suppliers, if trade terms are not specified, payment is made no later than the end of the month 
following the month in which an invoice is received. For small business suppliers, where payment is not made within the specified 
time period, simple interest must be paid automatically unless an existing contract specifies otherwise. For payments to other 
suppliers, the Head of an authority (or a person appointed by the Head of an authority) may automatically pay the supplier simple 
interest. No interest was paid on late payments during 2017 (2016: Nil).

 The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Museum’s financial liabilities, together with the interest rate exposure.

  Maturity analysis and interest rate exposure of financial liabilities      

Economic Entity
(including parent at same values)

$000
Interest Rate Exposure

$000
Maturity Dates

 
 
 
 

  Weighted 
Average 
Effective 

Interest Rate

Nominal 
Amount1

Fixed  
Interest  

Rate

Variable  
Interest  

Rate

Non-interest 
bearing < 1 yr 1–5 yrs > 5 yrs

  2017 

  Payables n/a 2,380 - - 2,380 2,380 - -

      2,380 - - 2,380 2,380 - -

  2016 

  Payables n/a 4,092 - - 4,092 4,092 - -

      4,092 - - 4,092 4,092 - -

 Notes
 1. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities and therefore may not reconcile to the 

statement of financial position.

TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2017



87ANNUAL REPORT

(d) Market risk 

 Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices. The Museum’s exposures to market risk are primarily through other price risks associated with the movement in the unit 
price of the Hour Glass Investment Facilities. 

 The effect on profit and equity due to a reasonably possible change in risk variable is outlined in the information below, for other 
price risk. A reasonably possible change in risk variable has been determined after taking into account the economic environment 
in which the Museum operates and the time frame for the assessment (i.e. until the end of the next annual reporting period). The 
sensitivity analysis is based on risk exposures in existence at the statement of financial position date. The analysis is performed on 
the same basis as for 2016. The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. 

 Other price risk — TCorp Hour-Glass facilities 
Exposure to ‘other price risk’ primarily arises through the investment in the TCorp Hour-Glass Investment Facilities, which are held 
for strategic rather than trading purposes. The Museum has no direct equity investments. The Museum holds units in the 
following Hour-Glass investment trusts:

  Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

 
 

Facility Investment Sectors Investment 
Horizon

2017
$000

2016
$000

Cash facility Cash, money market instruments Up to  
1.5 years

                  -                   -

 
 
 

Medium-term growth facility Cash, money market instruments, 
Australian and international bonds, 
listed property and Australian shares

3 to 7 years
 

2,297 
 

2,167
 

 The unit price of each facility is equal to the total fair value of the net assets held by the facility divided by the number of units on 
issue for that facility. Unit prices are calculated and published daily.

 NSW TCorp as trustee for each of the above facilities is required to act in the best interest of the unit-holders and to administer 
the trusts in accordance with the trust deeds. As trustee, TCorp has appointed external managers to manage the performance 
and risks of each facility in accordance with a mandate agreed by the parties. TCorp has also leveraged off internal expertise to 
manage certain fixed income assets for the Hour-Glass facilities. A significant portion of the administration of the facilities is 
outsourced to an external custodian. 

 Investment in the Hour-Glass facilities limits the Museum’s exposure to risk, as it allows diversification across a pool of funds with 
different investment horizons and a mix of investments.

 NSW TCorp provides sensitivity analysis information for each of the investment facilities, using historically based volatility 
information collected over a ten year period, quoted at two standard deviations (i.e. 95% probability). The TCorp Hour-Glass 
Investment facilities are designated at fair value through profit and loss and therefore any change in unit price impacts directly on 
profit (rather than equity). A reasonably possible change is based on the percentage change in unit price (as advised by TCorp) 
multiplied by the redemption value as at 30 June each year for each facility (balance from Hour-Glass Statement).

  Other price risk — Tcorp Hour-Glass facilities

Economic Entity (including parent at same values) Impact on profit/loss

  Facility Change in  
unit price

 2017
$000

 2016
$000

  Hour-Glass Investment — Medium-term growth facility +/- 7% 161 152 
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Interest rate risk
The Museum does not hold any interest bearing liabilities. The Museum does not account for any fixed rate financial instruments 
at fair value through profit or loss or as available for sale. Therefore for these financial instruments a change in interest rates would 
not affect profit or loss or equity. A reasonably possible change of +/- 1% is used, consistent with current trends in interest rates. 
The basis will be reviewed annually and amended where there is a structural change in the level of interest rate volatility. The 
Trust’s exposure to interest rate risk is set out below.

Carrying 
Amount

$000

-1% 1%

Profit
$000

Equity
$000

Profit
$000

Equity
$000

  2017

  Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

  Financial Assets          

  Cash and cash equivalents 5,489 (55) (55) 55 55 

  Receivables 466                       -                     -                    -               - 

  Other financial assets 2,578                       -                     -                    -               - 

  Financial Liabilities          

  Payables 2,380                       -                     -                    -               - 

  Other financial liabilities                36        

  2016 

  Economic Entity (including parent at same values)          

  Financial Assets          

  Cash and cash equivalents 12,676 (127) (127) 127 127 

  Receivables 429                       -                     -                    -               - 

  Other financial assets 2,447                       -                     -                    -               - 

  Financial Liabilities          

  Payables 4,092                       -                     -                    -               - 

  Other financial liabilities 78                       -                     -                    -               - 

  Currency risk
 
 
 
 

The Museum is currently exposed to currency risk on purchases made in currencies other than Australian Dollars. The Museum 
hedges between 80 and 100 percent of any substantial future foreign currency purchases when contracted. The Museum uses 
forward exchange contracts to hedge its currency risk, as soon as the liability arises, with maturity dates on the same dates as the 
contracted payments. Hedge accounting has not been applied.

The following table details the forward foreign currency (FC) contracts outstanding as at 30 June.

 
 
 
 

Outstanding 
Contracts

Average exchange  
rate

Foreign Currency Notional Value Gain/(Loss) on  
FX Contract

2017  2016 
2017

FC’000
2016

FC’000
2017

$000
2016

$000
2017

$000
2016

$000

  Buy US Dollars                

  < 3 months - 0.697                     - 250             - 335                    - (23)

  3 to 6 months 0.686 0.693 231 125 299 167 (13) (12)

  > 12 months                - 0.686                     - 231                  - 307                    - (23)

                (13) (58)

                   

  Buy GB Pounds                

  < 3 months                  - 0.481                     - 42                  - 76                    - (11)

  3 to 6 months - 0.479                     - 32 - 57                    - (9)

                                   - (20)
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At 30 June 2017, the aggregate amount of losses under forward foreign exchange contracts totalled $36,000 (2016 $ 78,000).

The following table details the Museum’s sensitivity to a 10% strengthening or weakening in the Australian Dollar against the US 
Dollar and the GB Pound. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management 
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. 

 
 
 

 Foreign Currency Exposure Change in 
AUD

Impact on profit/loss

2017
$000

2016
$000

 
  US Dollars

10% -20 -73

-10% 26 90

 
  GB Pounds

10% 0 -12

-10% 0 15

(e) Fair value measurement

 (i) Fair value compared to carrying amount

  Financial instruments are generally recognised at cost, with the exception of the TCorp Hour-Glass facilities which are 
measured at fair value. Except where specified below, the amortised cost of financial instruments recognised in the 
statement of financial position approximates the fair value, because of the short-term nature of the financial instruments. 

  (ii) Fair value recognised in the statement of financial position

2017
Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

Level 1
$000

Level 2
$000

Level 3
$000

 Total
$000

  Financial assets at fair value        

  TCorp Hour-Glass Investment Facilities - 2,297 - 2,297

  Shares 281 - - 281

    281 2,297                  - 2,578

  Financial liabilities at fair value        

  Forward foreign currency contracts (36) - - (36)

    (36)                  -                  - (36)

2016
Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

Level 1
$000

Level 2
$000

Level 3
$000

Total
$000

  Financial assets at fair value        

  TCorp Hour-Glass Investment Facilities - 2,167 - 2,167

  Shares 280 - - 280

    280 2,167                   - 2,447

  Financial liabilities at fair value        

  Forward foreign currency contracts (78) - - (78)

    (78)                   -                   - (78)

 19. NON-CASH FINANCING AND INVESTING ACTIVITIES

 Assistance and contributions received free of charge from third parties are recorded in the financial statements in relation to 
donations to the collection. Total assistance and contributions received free of charge are detailed below: 

 Donations of collection items are brought to account by creating an asset and crediting non-cash donations (refer notes 3(c), 11 
and 18).
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 20. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE
 Economic Entity  Parent

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

 (a) Capital Commitments        

 
 

Aggregate capital expenditure contracted for various
refurbishment projects at balance date and not provided for:

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  Not later than one year           1,013           4,783           1,013           4,783 

  Later than one year and not later than 5 years                   -                   -                   -                   - 

  Total (including GST)           1,013 4,783           1,013 4,783

 The total commitments above include input tax credits of $92,000 (2016: $437,000) that are expected to be recovered from the 
Australian Taxation Office.

21. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

 The Trust is unaware of the existence of any contingent liabilities as at balance date (2016: Nil).

22. PAYMENTS MADE TO CONSULTANTS 

 Total payments made to consultants and expensed to profit or loss during the year totalled $38,000 (2016: $1,248,000).

23. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

 The Museum’s key management personnel compensation are as follows:

  2017 Economic Entity (including parent at same values) $000

  Total employee benefits:  

  Salaries 1,411

  Total remuneration 1,411

During the year the Museum did not enter into any transaction’s on arm’s length terms and conditions, or otherwise,  with key 
management personnel, their close family members and controlled or jointly controlled entities thereof.

During the year, the entity entered into transactions with other entities that are controlled/jointly controlled/significantly 
influenced by the NSW Government. These transactions in aggregate are a significant portion of the Museum’s rendering of 
services and receiving of services.

24. POST BALANCE DATE EVENTS

 On 31 July, 2017 the NSW Government announced the in-principle agreement with Parramatta Council for the acquisition of the 
riverfront site at Parramatta, for the proposed relocation of the Museum.

 As at the date of this report, no further information is available in relation to the future use of the Museum’s existing site at Ultimo.

 The announcement has had no impact on the Museum’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2017.

END OF AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FINANCIAL  
REPORT

STATEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 41C (1B) OF THE PUBLIC FINANCE AND AUDIT ACT, 1983

Pursuant to Section 41C(1B) of the Public Finance and Audit Act, 1983 and in accordance with a resolution of the Trustees 
of  the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences we state that:      

(a) the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Public Finance 
and Audit Act 1983, the applicable clauses of the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015, the Treasurer’s Directions 
and relevant Australian Accounting Standards;

(b) the financial statements and notes thereto exhibit a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2017 and 
the results of the operations for the year ended on that date;     

(c) at the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances that would render the financial statements misleading 
or inaccurate.     

Professor Barney Glover Dolla Merrillees 
President Director and CEO

26 September 2017

TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES STAFF AGENCY STATUTORY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2017



 

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
Trustees of the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency 

 

To Members of the New South Wales Parliament 

Opinion 
I have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Trustees of the Museum of Applied Arts 
and Sciences Staff Agency (the Staff Agency), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 
30 June 2017, the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement 
of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information. 

In my opinion, the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Staff Agency as at 30 June 2017, and of 
its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards  

• are in accordance with section 41B of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (PF&A Act) and 
the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015. 

 

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report. 

Basis for Opinion 
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements’ 
section of my report.  

I am independent of the Staff Agency in accordance with the requirements of the: 

• Australian Auditing Standards  
• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants’ (APES 110). 
 

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110. 

Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of 
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by: 

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an Auditor-
General 

• mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of public sector agencies 
• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services. 
 

I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.  

 



 

2 

The Director’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements  
The Director of the Museum is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the PF&A Act, and for such 
internal control as the Director determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, the Director must assess the Staff Agency’s ability to continue 
as a going concern except where the Staff Agency will be dissolved by an Act of Parliament or 
otherwise cease operations. The assessment must disclose, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and the appropriateness of using the going concern basis of accounting. 

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion.  
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take based 
on the financial statements. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. 
The description forms part of my auditor’s report. 

My opinion does not provide assurance: 

• that the Staff Agency carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically  
• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial 

statements on any website where they may be presented 
• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements. 
 

 

 

 

James Sugumar 
Director, Financial Audit Services 

 

29 September 2017 
SYDNEY 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Actual
2017

$000

Actual
2016

$000

EXPENSES    

Salaries and Wages 21,568 19,927 

Redundancy Payments 25 52 

Annual Leave 880 535 

Long Service Leave 367 905 

Superannuation — Defined Contribution Plans 1,829 1,661 

Superannuation — Defined Benefits Plans 360 384 

Payroll Tax 1,355 1,270 

Fringe Benefits Tax 1 2 

Workers Compensation 224 166 

Total Expenses 26,609 24,902 

    

REVENUE    

Personnel Services 25,829 23,605 

 Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities 780 1,297

Total Revenue 26,609 24,902 

Net Result                      -                      - 

Other Comprehensive Income                      -                      - 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME                      -                      - 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 June 2017

Notes
Actual

2017
$000

Actual
2016

$000

ASSETS      

Current Assets      

Receivables 3 2,946 2,549

Total Current Assets   2,946 2,549

       

Non-Current Assets      

Receivables 3 56 59

Total Non-Current Assets   56 59

Total Assets   3,002 2,608

       

LIABILITIES      

Current Liabilities      

Payables 4 240 156

Provisions 5 2,706 2,393

Total Current Liabilities   2,946 2,549

       

Non-Current Liabilities      

Provisions 5 56 59

Total Non-Current Liabilities   56 59

Total Liabilities   3,002 2,608

Net Assets   - -

       

EQUITY      

Accumulated funds 6                 -                 - 

Total Equity                   -                 - 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 June 2017

 Notes
Accumulated Funds 

2017
$000

2016
$000

Balance at 1 July 2016                 -                 -   

Net result for the period                 -                 -   

Total other comprehensive income                 -                 -   

Total comprehensive income for the period                 -                 -   

Balance as at 30 June 2017                 -                 -   

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Notes
Actual

2017
$000

 Actual
2016

$000

Net cash flows from operating activities                 -                 -   

Net cash flows from investing activities                -                 -   

Net cash flows from financing activities                 -                 -   

NET INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS                 -                 -   

Opening cash and cash equivalents                 -                 -   

CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS                 -                 -   

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES      

        

(a) Reporting Entity
 The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency, is an executive agency related to the Museum that was established on 24 

February 2014, by the Administrative Arrangements Order 2014. The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency’s 
objective is to provide personnel services to the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences. The reporting entity is consolidated as 
part of the Trustees of the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences.

 The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency commenced operations on 24 February 2014, when it assumed 
responsibility for the employees and employee related liabilities of the former employer, the Department of Trade and Investment, 
Regional Infrastructure and Services. The assumed liabilities were recognised on 24 February 2014 together with the offsetting 
receivable representing the related funding due from the former employer.

 These financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2017 have been authorised for issue by the Trustees on 26 September 2017.

(b) Basis of Preparation
 The entity’s financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of Australian Accounting Standards which include Australian Accounting Interpretations, the Public Finance and 
Audit Act 1983, the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015, and specific directions issued by the Treasurer.

 Generally, the historical cost basis of accounting has been adopted and the financial statement does not take into account 
changing money values or current valuations. However, certain provisions are measured at fair value (Refer Note 1(g) and 5).

 The accrual basis of accounting has been adopted in the preparation of the financial statements. Management’s judgements, key 
assumptions and estimates are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial statements.

 The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that repayment of debts will be met as and 
when they fall due, without any intention or necessity to liquidate assets or otherwise winding up the operations. 

 All amounts are rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars and are expressed in Australian currency.

(c) Statement of Compliance
 The financial statements and notes comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian Accounting 

Interpretations.

 The Museum has adopted all of the new and revised standards and interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB) that are relevant to its operations and effective from the current annual reporting period. The impact to the 
Museum of the adoption of the new standards and interpretations was insignificant.

(d) Income Recognition
 Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue from the rendering of personnel services 

is recognised when the service is provided and only to the extent that the associated recoverable expenses are recognised.

(e) Receivables
 A receivable is recognised when it is probable that the future cash inflows associated with it will be realised and it has a value that 

can be measured reliably. It is derecognised when the contractual or other rights to future cash flows from it expire or are transferred.

 A receivable is measured initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less 
any allowance for impairment. A short-term receivable with no stated interest rate is measured at the original invoice amount 
where the effect of discounting is immaterial. An invoiced receivable is due for settlement within thirty days of invoicing.

(f) Payables
 Payables include accrued wages, salaries, and related on costs (such as payroll tax, fringe benefits tax and workers’ compensation 

insurance) where there is certainty as to the amount and timing of settlement.

 A payable is recognised when a present obligation arises under a contract or otherwise. It is derecognised when the obligation 
expires or is discharged, cancelled or substituted.

(g) Employee benefits and other provisions

 (i) Salaries and wages, annual leave, sick leave and on-costs
  Salaries and wages (including non-monetary benefits), annual leave and paid sick leave that are expected to be settled 

wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the service are recognised and measured 
at the undiscounted amounts of the benefits.

  Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period in which 
the employees render the related service. As such it is required to be measured at present value in accordance with AASB 
119 Employee Benefits (although short-cut methods are permitted). Actuarial advice obtained by Treasury has confirmed 
that the use of a nominal approach plus the annual leave on annual leave liability (using 7.9% of the nominal value of annual 
leave) can be used to approximate the present value of the annual leave liability. The entity has accordingly adjusted annual 
leave balances to approximate the present value of the annual leave liability.

  Unused non-vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability as it is not considered probable that sick leave taken in the 
future will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future.
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 (ii) Long service leave and superannuation
  The entity’s liabilities for long service leave and defined benefit superannuation are assumed by the Crown Entity. The entity 

accounts for the liability as having been extinguished, resulting in the amount assumed being shown as part of the non-
monetary revenue item described as ‘Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities’.

  Long service leave is measured at present value in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits. This is based on the 
application of certain factors (specified in NSWTC 15/09) to employees with five or more years of service, using current 
rates of pay. These factors were determined based on an actuarial review to approximate present value.

  The superannuation expense for the financial year is determined by using the formulae specified in the Treasurer’s 
Directions. The expense for certain superannuation schemes (i.e. Basic Benefit and First State Super) is calculated as a 
percentage of the employees’ salary. For other superannuation schemes (i.e. State Superannuation Scheme and State 
Authorities Superannuation Scheme), the expense is calculated as a multiple of the employees’ superannuation 
contributions.

 (iii) Consequential on-costs
  Consequential on-costs to employment are recognised as liabilities and expenses where the employee benefits to which 

they relate have been recognised. This includes outstanding amounts of payroll tax, workers’ compensation insurance 
premiums and fringe benefit tax.

(h) Comparative Information
 Except when an Australian Accounting Standard permits or requires otherwise, comparative information is presented in respect of 

the previous period for all amounts reported in the financial statements.

(i) Accounting Standards issued but not yet effective
 The entity did not early adopt any new accounting standards and interpretations that are not yet effective. The entity has 

assessed the impact of all new standards and interpretations and considers that no standard that is significant to the entity has 
been published.
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2017
$000

2016
$000

       

2 . ACCEPTANCE BY THE CROWN ENTITY OF EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND OTHER LIABILITIES

  Superannuation — Defined benefit plans 360 384 

  Long service leave 400 893 

  Payroll tax 20 20 

    780 1,297 

3. RECEIVABLES

  Current    

  Receivables from the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences 2,946 2,549 

    2,946 2,549 

       

  Non-current    

  Receivables from the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences 56 59 

  56 59 

 4. PAYABLES

  Current    

  Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs 90 15 

  Payroll tax and fringe benefits tax payable 151 141 

    240 156 

5. CURRENT /  NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES — PROVISIONS 

  Employee benefits and related on-costs    

  Annual leave         1,796 1,513 

  Annual leave on-costs            169 120 

  Payroll tax on annual leave            102 83 

  Long service leave on-costs 424 458 

  Payroll tax on long service leave 271 278 

    2,762 2,452

  Aggregate employee benefits and related on-costs    

  Provisions — current 2,706 2,393 

  Provisions — non current 56 59 

  Accured salaries, wages and on-costs (Note 4) 90 15 

    2,852 2,467 

Total current provisions not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date amount to $343,000 (2016: $397,000).

6. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE

 No capital, lease or other expenditure commitments existed at the balance sheet date (2016: Nil).
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7. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

 The Trust Is unaware of the existence of any contingent liabilities at the balance sheet date (2016: Nil).

8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 The entity’s principal financial instruments are outlined below. These financial instruments arise directly from the entity’s 
operations or are required to finance the entity’s operations. The entity does not enter into or trade financial instruments, 
including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes. 

 The entity’s main risks arising from financial instruments are outlined below, together with the entity’s objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative and qualitative disclosures are included throughout these 
financial statements.

 The Audit and Risk Committee has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of risk management and reviews and 
agrees policies for managing each of these risks. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced 
by the entity, to set risk limits and controls and to monitor risk. Compliance is reviewed by the internal auditors, with reporting to 
the Audit and Risk Committee, periodically.

(a) Financial instruments categories

Financial Assets Note Category
Carrying Amount

2017
$000

2016
$000

Receivables1 3 Loans and Receivables (at amortised cost) 3,002 2,608

           

 
 
 

Financial Liabilities Note Category
Carrying Amount

2017
$000

2016
$000

Payables2 4 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 90 15 

 Notes
 1. Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (i.e. not within the scope of AASB 7).
 2.  Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (i.e. not within the scope of AASB 7).

(b) Credit risk

 Credit risk arises when there is the possibility that the counterparty will default on their contractual obligations, resulting in a 
financial loss to the entity. The maximum exposure to credit risk is generally represented by the carrying amount of the financial 
assets (net of any allowance for impairment).

 Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the entity. No collateral is held by the entity. The entity has not granted any financial 
guarantees. 

 Receivables 
As at 30 June 2017, the entity had debtors of $3.002 million which represent personnel services receivable from the Trust.

(c) Liquidity risk

 Liquidity risk is the risk that the entity will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due. The entity’s exposure to 
liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current assessment of risk.

 The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether or not invoiced. 
Amounts owing to suppliers (which are unsecured) are settled in accordance with the policy set out in NSW TC 11/12.

 The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Museum’s financial liabilities, together with the interest rate exposure.
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Maturity analysis and interest rate exposure of financial liabilities

$000
Interest Rate Exposure

$000
Maturity Dates

 
 

Weighted 
Average 
Effective  
Int. Rate

Nominal 
Amount1

Fixed  
Interest  

Rate

Variable 
Interest  

Rate

Non-interest 
bearing < 1 yr 1–5 yrs > 5 yrs

  2017                

  Payables n/a 90 - - 90 90 - -

      90 - - 90 90 - -

                   

  2016                

  Payables n/a 15 - - 15 15 - -

      15 - - 15 15 - -

 Notes
 1. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities and therefore may not reconcile to the 

statement of financial position.

(d) Market risk

 Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices. The entity has no exposure to interest rate or foreign currency risk and does not enter into commodity contracts. 

(e) Fair value measurement

 Financial instruments are recognised at cost, the amortised cost of financial instruments recognised in the statement of financial 
position approximates the fair value, because of the short-term nature of many of the financial instruments.
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END OF AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1. BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Professor Barney Glover PhD, MSc, BSc(Hons), DipEd, 
MAICD  
Term: 01.01.15−31.12.17  
President (from 13.07.16)  
Vice-Chancellor and President, Western Sydney University  
Emeritus Professor, Charles Darwin University  
BESydney Ambassador, Business Events Sydney  
Member, International Education Advisory Board (Study 
NSW)  
Member, The Committee for Sydney Executive Board  
Member, NSW Arts Advisory Council  
Member, NSW Innovation and Productivity Council  
Fellow, Academy of Technological Sciences and Engineering  
Fellow, Royal Society of NSW  
Board Member, Australian American Fullbright Commission 
and Educations Services Australia  
Australian Government Representative, University of the 
South Pacific Grants Committee  
Formerly Chair, Universities Australia (2015–2017),  
Vice-Chancellor, Charles Darwin University (2009–2013), 
Member, Australian Institute of Police Management, 
Governance and Risk Committee (2014–2016), Board 
Member, Education Services Australia (2016–2016), Chair 
Rare Voices Australia (2013–2015), Deputy Vice-Chancellor 
Research, University of Newcastle (2006–2009), Pro 
Vice-Chancellor & Director Research and Development, 
Curtin University (1997–2006), Director Research and 
Graduate Studies, University of Ballarat (1991–1997)  
Meetings; eligible 6, attended 6, leave 0.  

Ms Lisa Chung LLB, FAIM, FAICD  
Term: 01.01.17–31.12.19  
Deputy President (from 04.11.15)   
Chairman, Benevolent Society; Urbis Pty Ltd  
Non-Executive Director, APN Outdoor Group Ltd, 
Australian Unity, Artspace  
Member, Advisory Committee UOW Early Start, Chief 
Executive Women   
Former Director, Northcott Society and Institute of 
Management NSW/ACT  
Former partner, Maddocks.  
Meetings; eligible 6, attended 5, leave 1.  

Mr Robert Cameron AO, BEMin (Hons), MBA, GradDip 
Geoscience, FAusIMM, FAIM, FAICD  
Term: 11.01.12−31.12.14; 01.01.15−31.12.17  
Non-Executive Chairman, County International Ltd  
Member, Minerals Industry Advisory Council, UNSW  
Chairman, Hunter Valley Training Company Ltd  
Board Member, Pacific Smiles Ltd  
Board Member, UNSW Foundation Limited  
Board Member, UNSW Dean’s Engineering Industrial 
Steering Committee  
Formerly Chairman, Centennial Coal Company Limited 
(Formerly its founder, Managing Director and CEO (1994–
2011), Board Member, Maitland Private Hospital, Board 
Member Hunter Valley Grammar School  
Meetings; eligible 6, attended 4, leave 2.  

Ms Elizabeth Crouch B Ec FAICD  
Term: 01.01.16−31.12.18  
Deputy Chancellor, Macquarie University  
Director, Macquarie University Hospital  
Non-Executive Director, SGS Planning and Economics  
Non-Executive Director, McGrath Estate Agents  
Deputy Chairman, North Harbour Rays  
Chair, Audit and Risk, City of Sydney  
Chair, Office of Environment and Heritage  
Board Member, Western Sydney Local Health District  
Facilitator and Mentor, The Orijen Group  
Formerly Non-Executive Director Chandler Macleod 
(2010–15) Chair RailCorp (2010–12) Chief Executive HIA 
Limited (1997–2006)  
Meetings; eligible 6, attended 6, leave 0.  

Mr Tim Ebbeck BEc, FCPA, MAICD, FAIM  
Term: 11.01.12−31.12.14; 01.01.15−31.12.17  
Company Director, Ebbeck TIG Consulting  
Non-Executive Director, Nvoi Limited  
Non-Executive Director, Nextgen Pty Ltd  
Non-Executive Director, GeoOp  
Syndicate Chairman, The CEO Institute  
Formerly Corporate Advisory Techfront Australia (2016–
2017), Board Director CPA Australia (2013–2016), Managing 
Director, Oracle Australia and New Zealand (2013–2016), 
Chief Commercial Officer, NBN Co (2012–2013), President 
and CEO, SAP Australia and New Zealand (2008–2012), 
CFO, Asia Pacific of TMP Worldwide; South Pacific 
Compaq Computers (2002–2002) 
Meetings; eligible 6, attended 6, leave 0.  

Janet McDonald AO  
Term: 01.01.16−31.12.18  
Deputy Chair, South Eastern Sydney Local Health District  
Life Fellow, Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences  
Meetings; eligible 6, attended 6, leave 0.  

Professor Salah Sukkarieh  
Term: 13.07.16−31.12.18  
Professor, Robotics and Intelligent Systems, School of 
Aerospace Mechanical and Mechatronic Engineering, 
University of Sydney  
Director, Research and Innovation, Australian Centre for 
Field Robotics  
Director, Rio Tinto Centre for Mine Automation  
Director, HICRIS and Farm Automation  
Fellow, Australian Academy of Technological Sciences and 
Engineering (ATSE)  
Meetings; eligible 6, attended 4, leave 2.  

Lynne Anderson GAICD  
Term: 01.01.17–31.12.19  
Chief Executive, Australian Paralympic Committee  
Board Member, Gold Coast Titans NRL Club and Australian 
International Military Group  
Former Deputy Chair, Parramatta Stadium Trust  
Former Board Member, 2002 Melbourne World Masters 
Games, Sponsorship Australia, Repucom and Camp Quality  
Meetings; eligible 2, attended 2, leave 0.  
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Dr Alex Birrell PhD, BVSc, MBA, AICD  
Term: 01.01.17–31.12.19  
CEO, PAFtec Pty Ltd  
Co-founder of Head Over Heels Pty Ltd  
Former Director of Commercialisation at ATP Innovations  
Former Committee Member of Central Sydney Area Health 
Service Ethics Committee and University of Sydney Ethics 
Committee  
Meetings; eligible 2, attended 2, leave 0. 

2. PRINCIPAL OFFICERS

Director: 
Dolla Merrillees BA, GradDip (Museum Studies)  
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007 

Director, Corporate Resources, Chief Financial Officer:  
Andrew Elliott B Comm (Accy), CPA, GIA (Cert), MAICD  
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007 

Co-Director, Public Engagement:  
(until 11 September 2016)  
Arani Duggan B.Des  
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007 

Co-Director, Public Engagement:  
(until 15 August 2016)  
Lily Katakouzinos BA (Hons) AA  
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007 

Director, Programs & Engagement:  
(from 12 September 2016)  
Tristan Sharp BA Dip.Ed MA  
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007 

Director, Curatorial Collections and Exhibitions:  
(until 1 October 2016)  
Rebecca Bushby BA Dip.App.Sc GDipMan (Arts & Cultural 
Management)  
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007 

Director, Curatorial Collections and Exhibitions:  
(from 4 October 2016)  
Peter Denham BBA (Public Administration) MA (Cultural 
Leadership)  
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007 

Director, Development and External Affairs:   
Leann Meiers BA, MAICD 
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007

Director, New Museum Project:  
(until 16 June 2017) 
Michael Parry B Eng (Computer Systems) B ASc. 
(Computer Science)  
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007 

3. LIST OF EXHIBITIONS 

Exhibition and displays that opened during the period  
1 July 2016 to July 2017 were: 

POWERHOUSE MUSEUM 

Collider  
6 August – 30 October 2016  
Level 3  
An immersive exhibition from Science Museum, 
London, Collider blended theatre, video and sound art with 
real artefacts from CERN, recreating a visit to the famous 
particle physics laboratory. Visitors could witness the 
uncovering of the Higgs boson, explore the 27 km collider 
and its cathedral-sized detector caverns, and discover how 
studying the subatomic world can lead to a fuller 
understanding of our Universe.  

Egyptian Mummies: Exploring Ancient Lives  
10 December 2016 – 30 April 2017  
Level 3  
Using the latest technology, including CT scan 
visualisations, six mummies selected from the British 
Museum were featured alongside their 3D imagery in this 
exhibition, revealing the secrets of mummification and 
providing unique insights into the way people lived and 
died in Ancient Egypt. Visitors had the chance to meet six 
individuals who lived and died between 1800 and 3000 
years ago. 

Icons  
15 October 2016 – ongoing  
Level 3  
Featuring a selection of over 70 celebrated and rarely 
displayed objects from the vast and diverse MAAS 
collection, Icons explores what makes a museum object an 
icon in the 21st century. From a grand concert piano to Sir 
Howard Florey’s penicillin samples, the objects are leading 
examples of human creativity and ingenuity, explored 
through themes including luxury, celebrity, status, 
spirituality, value and genius.  

Out of Hand: Materialising the Digital  
3 September 2016 – 18 June 2017  
Level 2  
Works by more than 60 artists, designers and architects 
from around the world including Barry X Ball, Zaha Hadid, 
Iris van Herpen and Ron Arad, as well as works from 
Australia and the Asia-Pacific, and objects from the MAAS 
collection were featured in Out of Hand. The exhibition 
examined the place and impact of digital technology in the 
design and production of objects. 

The Lab  
10 December 2016 – ongoing  
Level 2  
The Lab is a permanent education space. It is a hands-on, 
immersive multimedia space for visitors to explore and 
learn more about digital technologies and offers gamified 
learning experiences and play-based environments — 
including augmented reality, mixed reality and virtual 
reality — for visitors aged 5 and up. 
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Million Dollar Mermaid: Annette Kellerman  
10 August 2016 – 28 January 2018  
Level 1  
Annette Kellerman pioneered competitive swimming for 
women, starred in American silent films, published books 
and inspired generations of women. Her life and 
achievements are honoured in this exhibition. 

Experimentations (refresh)  
16 November 2016 – ongoing  
Level 1  
Experimentations is one of the Powerhouse Museum’s 
permanent exhibitions and in 2016 it was significantly 
updated. Popular and highly interactive, the exhibition is 
targeted at children aged 5–12 years, carers, teachers and 
family groups. It aims to provide an informal learning 
environment that inspires curiosity and questioning, and 
allows visitors to play and experiment with materials and 
processes. 

Shape 2016   
25 February – 7 May 2017  
Level 2  
A selection of outstanding major projects from the HSC 
Design and Technology, Industrial Technology and Textiles 
and Design courses is displayed annually in Shape.  

Presented in association with the Board of Studies, Teaching 
and Educational Standards NSW 

The Wiggles Exhibition (refresh)  
4 March 2017 – ongoing  
Level 1  
Launched in 2011 to celebrate 20 years of The Wiggles, this 
popular family exhibition about the internationally 
successful children’s entertainment group was refreshed 
and reopened featuring profiles of the current Wiggles 
members and lots of new fun facts, activities and objects 
for our younger visitors. 

Student Fashion 2016  
25 March – 8 October 2017  
Level 2  
Student Fashion is an annual display that provides a 
glimpse of the exciting potential of the next generation of 
Australian fashion designers. It showcases outfits from the 
final-year ranges of top students from four Sydney-based 
fashion design schools. 

Love is … Australian Wedding Fashion  
13 May 2017 – 30 April 2018  
Level 4  
Love is … Australian Wedding Fashion features more than 
50 wedding outfits plus accessories covering nearly 200 
years of Australian weddings. The exhibition includes 
exquisite historical gowns, spectacular contemporary 
designer fashion, as well as garments reflecting Australia’s 
culturally diverse communities. Memorabilia, photographs 
and letters reveal the stories and traditions behind the 
outfits. 

MicroGravity  
27 May – 21 July 2017  
Level 2  
MicroGravity displayed a small selection of artworks and 
objects that connected to the Gravity (and Wonder)
exhibition, a 2016 exhibition collaboratively produced by 
MAAS and Penrith Regional Gallery & The Lewers Bequest. 

The International Exhibition of Sherlock Holmes  
3 June – 8 October 2017  
Level 3  
The International Exhibition of Sherlock Holmes is an 
experiential exhibition which invites visitors to follow the 
footsteps of Sir Arthur Conan Doyle’s most revered 
character, Sherlock Holmes. Through the exhibition visitors 
learn investigation techniques, apply the techniques to a 
murder mystery challenge and experience artefacts and 
memorabilia from Arthur Conan Doyle and the modern 
films and TV shows. 

Collection Focus Showcase: Egyptian Antiquities  
30 November 2016 – 30 April 2017   
Level 3   
In conjunction with Egyptian Mummies: Exploring Ancient 
Lives, the best of the Museum’s Egyptian antiquities were 
on display.  

Lunar New Year  
25 January – 1 July 2017  
Level 2  
A small group of New Year posters and propaganda posters 
portraying elements of Chinese political visual culture were 
displayed to celebrate the Lunar New Year.  

Theatre showcases  
1 February – 31 July 2017  
Level 2  
Three small displays in the theatre foyer featured the 
archives of Sydney designers Isobel Anderson Stuart and 
Dahl Collings; textiles produced by artists working at 
the Merrepen Arts Centre south-west of Darwin; and 
traditional woven Aboriginal fishing traps highlighting 
Indigenous craft practices. 

1967 Referendum 50th Anniversary   
12 May 2017 – 4 February 2018  
Level 3  
The 1967 referendum received the highest ‘yes’ voted ever 
recorded nationally, and established full civil rights for 
Indigenous Australians. In 2017, MAAS commemorated the 
50th anniversary of this milestone with a display of works 
from the collection by Indigenous artists. 
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SYDNEY OBSERVATORY 

Winning Sky Photos: The David Malin Awards 2016  
13 Aug 2016 – 30 Oct 2016 
The top entries from the David Malin Awards 
astrophotography competition are displayed annually at 
Sydney Observatory. The competition encourages 
photographers to use their vision, imagination and skill to 
produce inspiring and beautiful images of the sky. 

The support of Canon Australia and the CSIRO’s Australia 
Telescope National Facility is acknowledged. The tour of the 
exhibition is organised by Sydney Observatory. 

Mabo Decision 25th Anniversary  
27 May 2017 – 28 February 2018  
A selection of MAAS objects and Mabo family objects are 
on display for this 25th anniversary. The showcase tells the 
story of Eddie Koiki Mabo, the man whose High Court 
challenge in 1992 led to the recognition of native title in 
Australia, and his connections to the land and the stars. 

MUSEUMS DISCOVERY CENTRE 

Visible Display Store   
17 September 2016 – ongoing  
The newly refurbished Visible Display Store opened in 
September 2016. It houses thousands of objects across six 
rooms that show the depth and breadth of collections 
from the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences, the 
Australian Museum and Sydney Living Museums. Between 
them, these museums care for millions of objects and 
specimens, providing insights into engineering, 
architecture, science, art, transport, fashion, design, 
health, technology, natural history, domestic life, 
Indigenous and Pacific cultures and more. Many of the 
objects in the Display Store have not been on public 
display before. 

OFF-SITE EXHIBITIONS 

Circus Family Act 
7–29 January 2017  
Riverside Theatre, Parramatta  
MAAS objects representing circus history, ranging from 
clown costumes to posters and toys, were displayed in the 
foyer of the Riverside Theatre for the Sydney Festival. 

Australian Antiques and Art Dealers Association (AAADA)   
7–11 September 2017   
Randwick Race Course   
A showcase of selected ceramic pieces from the MAAS 
collection.

Gravity (and Wonder)  
30 September 2016 – 7 July 2017  
Penrith Regional Gallery, Penrith NSW  
Marking the beginning of a long-term partnership between 
Penrith Regional Gallery & The Lewers Bequest and 
MAAS, Gravity (and Wonder) invited visitors to explore the 
art and science of gravity as an invisible force and a 
phenomenon surrounded by mystery and wonder. A 
vibrant range of events, workshops and programs 
extending the themes of the exhibition. 

Winning Sky Photos: The David Malin Awards 2016  
A display of top entries from the David Malin Awards 
Astrophotography competition toured regional NSW and 
interstate following its launch at Sydney Observatory. 

The support of Canon Australia and the CSIRO’s Australia 
Telescope National Facility is acknowledged. The tour of the 
exhibition is organised by Sydney Observatory. 

• Lavington Library, Albury NSW 
8 November 2016 – 8 January 2017 

• Royal Institution of Australia (RiAus), Adelaide SA  
18 January 2017 – 19 March 2017 

• Museum of the Riverina, Wagga Wagga NSW  
28 March 2017 – 21 May 2017 

• Scienceworks, Spotswood VIC  
31 May 2017 – 19 July 2017

4. LOANS

MAAS loaned 380 collection objects to the following 
institutions in 2016–17: 

Albert Kersten Mining & Minerals Museum, Broken Hill, NSW 

Art Gallery of New South Wales, Sydney, NSW 

Arts Centre Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC 

ArtScience Museum, Singapore 

Artspace Mackay, Mackay QLD 

Australian Antique & Art Dealers Association, Apollo Bay, VIC 

Australian Aviation Museum, Bankstown Inc., Bankstown, 
NSW 

Australian Centre for the Moving Image, Melbourne, VIC 

Australian Museum, Sydney, NSW 

Australian Nuclear Science and Technology Organisation 
(ANSTO), Lucas Heights, NSW 

Canberra Museum and Art Gallery, Canberra, ACT 

Hamilton Art Gallery, Hamilton, VIC 

Heide Museum of Modern Art, Bulleen, VIC 

HIV & Related Programs (HARP) Unit, Darlinghurst, NSW 

Manly Art Gallery and Museum, Manly, NSW 

Meadowbank College of TAFE, Meadowbank, NSW 

Museum and Art Gallery of the Northern Territory,  
Darwin, NT 

Museum of Australian Democracy at Eureka, Ballarat, VIC 

Museum of Australian Democracy at Old Parliament 
House, Parkes, ACT 

Museum of Old and New Art (MONA), Hobart, TAS 

Museum Victoria, Carlton, VIC 

Museums and Galleries NSW, Sydney, NSW 
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National Art School, Darlinghurst, NSW 

National Gallery of Victoria, Melbourne, VIC 

National Museum of Australia, Acton, ACT 

National Trust of Australia (NSW), Sydney, NSW 

Newcastle Museum, Newcastle, NSW 

Office of Communities, NSW Government, Sydney, NSW 

Office of the Hon. Troy Grant MP, Dubbo, NSW 

Penrith Regional Gallery and The Lewers Bequest, Emu 
Plains, NSW 

Reserve Bank of Australia, Sydney, NSW 

Sancta Sophia College, Camperdown, NSW 

Sydney Festival, Riverside Theatre, Parramatta, NSW 

Sydney Living Museums, Sydney, NSW 

Sydney Tramway Museum, Sydney, NSW 

TAFE NSW Western Institute, Castle Hill, NSW 

The Sheep’s Back, Naracoorte, SA 

TradeCoast Central, Brisbane, QLD 

Transport Heritage NSW Ltd, Eveleigh, NSW 

Tumbarumba Historical Society Museum, Tumbarumba, NSW 

Tweed Regional Museum, Murwillumbah, NSW 

UNSW Galleries, Paddington, NSW 

Uralla Historical Society Inc, Uralla, NSW 

Victoria & Albert Museum, London, UK 

Wellcome Collection, London, UK 

5. ACQUISITIONS

Model, Carcoar Dam, fibreglass / wood / plastic / metal, 
designed by Water Conservation and Irrigation Commission, 
made by Manly Hydraulics Laboratory and A Hedstrom, 
New South Wales, Australia, 1969. Gift of Water NSW, 
2016. 2016/23/1

Model, Chaffey Dam, fibreglass / wood / plastic / metal, 
designed by Water Conservation and Irrigation Commission, 
made by Manly Hydraulics Laboratory and A Hedstrom, 
New South Wales, Australia, 1979. Gift of Water NSW, 2016. 
2016/23/2

Model, Lostock Dam, fibreglass / wood / plastic / metal, 
designed by Water Conservation and Irrigation Commission, 
made by Manly Hydraulics Laboratory and A Hedstrom, 
New South Wales, Australia, 1969. Gift of Water NSW, 2016. 
2016/23/3

Model, Pindari Dam, fibreglass / wood / plastic / metal, 
designed by Water Conservation and Irrigation Commission, 
made by Manly Hydraulics Laboratory and A Hedstrom, 
New South Wales, Australia, 1969–1979. Gift of Water 
NSW, 2016. 2016/23/4

Model, Toonumbar Dam,  fibreglass / wood / plastic / 
metal, designed by Water Conservation and Irrigation 
Commission, made by Manly Hydraulics Laboratory and A 
Hedstrom, New South Wales, Australia, 1971. Gift of Water 
NSW, 2016. 2016/23/5

Teapot, Utanalog, porcelain, designed by Unfold Studios, 
made by Stockmansporcelain, Belgium, 2016. Purchased 
with funds from the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences 
Foundation, 2016. 2016/24/1

Swimsuit, Annette Kellerman brand, knitted wool, made by 
Asbury Mills, United States of America, 1920–1932. 
Purchased with funds from the Museum of Applied Arts 
and Sciences Foundation, 2016. 2016/25/1

Group of ephemera including booklets, cards, magazines, 
clippings about Annette Kellerman (11), paper / card, USA / 
France / Australia, 1903–1959. Purchased with funds from 
the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Foundation, 
2016. 2016/25/2

Bikini and box, N12, 3D printed nylon, designed and made 
by Continuum Fashion, United States of America, 2011. 
Purchased with funds from the Museum of Applied Arts 
and Sciences Foundation, 2016. 2016/26/1

Pair of shoes with box, STRVCT, 3D printed nylon, 
designed and made by Continuum Fashion, United States 
of America, 2015. Purchased with funds from the Museum 
of Applied Arts and Sciences Foundation, 2016. 2016/26/2

Prosthetic limb cover and packaging, ‘Rivet’, 3D printed 
ABS nylon, designed and made by UNYQ, United States of 
America, 2016. Purchased with funds from the Museum of 
Applied Arts and Sciences Foundation, 2016. 2016/27/1

Electronic chess game, Novag Constellation Expert, 
printer, wood / plastic / metal / electronic components, 
designed and made by Novag Industries Ltd, Hong Kong, 
1985. Gift of Lorand Loblay, 2016. 2016/28/1

Dress, Kinematics Petals Dress II, selective laser sintered 
nylon tessellated triangular panels from 3D scan, designed 
and made by Nervous System Inc, Somerville, 
Massachusetts, United States of America, 2016. Purchased 
with funds from the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences 
Foundation, 2016. 2016/29/1

Hyphae lamp with power cord, 3D-printed nylon / 
electronic components, designed and made by Nervous 
System Inc, Somerville, Massachusetts, United States of 
America, 2016. Purchased with funds from the Museum of 
Applied Arts and Sciences Foundation, 2016. 2016/29/2
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Chandelier, ‘USA’ from art installation ‘Crystal Palace: The 
Great Exhibition of the Works of Industry of All Nuclear 
Nations’, uranium glass / UV lights / metal, made by Ken + 
Julia Yonetani, Katoomba, New South Wales, Australia, 
2013. Purchased with funds donated through the annual 
appeal and from the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences 
Foundation, 2016. 2016/30/1

Sphere with stand and case, silicon, made by Achim 
Leistner for CSIRO, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 
1994. Gift of Achim Leistner, 2016. 2016/32/1

Ticket, monthly pass to The Sydney International Exhibition 
of 1879, paper, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1879. 
Gift of David Allen, 2016. 2016/33/1

Grinding and polishing equipment, (8), metal / plastic / 
glass / nickel / brass / felt, made by CSIRO, Lindfield, New 
South Wales, Australia, 1986. Gift of CSIRO, 2016. 
2016/34/1

‘Pride’ plaque, chipboard / plaster / adhesive / papier 
maché / tissue paper / paint / foil / metal / aluminium / 
plastic / acrylic, designed and made by Luke Atkinson, 
used by the Sydney Lesbian and Gay Community Centre, 
Australia, 1995. Gift of Annette Willis, 2016. 2016/35/1

Badges (3), ‘Pride’, aluminium / plastic / acrylic / metal, 
used by the Sydney Lesbian and Gay Community Centre, 
1990–1998. Gift of Annette Willis, 2016. 2016/35/2

Postcards (3), ‘Pride’, card, made in Australia, used by 
Sydney Lesbian and Gay Community Centre, 1995. Gift of 
Annette Willis, 2016. 2016/35/3

Invitation, ‘Fruit Loops, An Exhibition of New Queer Art’, 
card, used by Sydney Lesbian and Gay Community Centre, 
Australia, 1995–1998. Gift of Annette Willis, 2016. 
2016/35/4

Ensemble, skirt and jacket, 132 5. Issey Miyake, women’s, 
polyester with metallic paint. Designed and made by Issey 
Miyake, Japan, 2010, owned by Gene Sherman, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia. Gift of Dr Gene Sherman, 
2016. 2016/36/1

Jacket, sleeveless, women’s, designed and made by Issey 
Miyake, Japan, 2006/2007, owned by Gene Sherman, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia. Gift of Dr Gene 
Sherman, 2016. 2016/36/2

Jacket, women’s, polyester, made by Comme des Garcons, 
Japan, 2000s (?), owned by Gene Sherman, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia. Gift of Dr Gene Sherman, 2016. 
2016/36/3

Skirt, women’s, synthetic tulle, designed and made by Issey 
Miyake, Japan, 2000s(?), owned by Gene Sherman, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia. Gift of Dr Gene 
Sherman, 2016. 2016/36/4

Skirt, women’s, silk, designed and made by Yohji 
Yamamoto, Japan, 2000s (?) owned by Gene Sherman, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia. Gift of Dr Gene 
Sherman, 2016. 2016/36/5

Coat, women’s, silk, cupro and wool, designed and made 
by Yohji Yamamoto, Japan, 2000s (?) owned by Gene 
Sherman, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia. Gift of  
Dr Gene Sherman, 2016. 2016/36/6

Jacket, women’s, wool and polyamide, by Comme des 
Garcons, Italy, 2000s (?) owned by Gene Sherman, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia, 1980’s–2007. Gift of Dr Gene 
Sherman, 2016. 2016/36/7

Skirt, black cotton, with uneven hemline and spider’s web 
pattern, designed and made by Issey Miyake, Japan, 
1990s(?) owned by Gene Sherman, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia. Gift of Dr Gene Sherman, 2016. 2016/36/8

Skirt, women’s,  finely pleated, by Issey Miyake, Japan, 
1990s (?) owned by Gene Sherman, Sydney, New South  
Wales, Australia. Gift of Dr Gene Sherman, 2016. 2016/36/9

Jacket, women’s, polyester, by Comme des Garcons, 
Japan, 1990, owned by Gene Sherman, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia. Gift of Dr Gene Sherman, 2016. 2016/36/10

Trousers, women’s, rayon velvet on polyester, by Comme 
des Garcons, France, 1990s(?) owned by Gene Sherman, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia. Gift of Dr Gene 
Sherman, 2016. 2016/36/11

Cape, women’s, wool, angora and nylon, by Comme des 
Garcons, Japan, 1990s, owned by Gene Sherman, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia. Gift of Dr Gene Sherman, 
2016. 2016/36/12

Skirt, women’s, with folds, by Comme des Garcons, 1995, 
owned by Gene Sherman, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia. Gift of Dr Gene Sherman, 2016. 2016/36/13

Jacket, women’s, cotton, by Comme des Garcons, Japan, 
1990s (?) owned by Gene Sherman, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia. Gift of Dr Gene Sherman, 2016. 2016/36/14

Dress, ‘inBloom’, 3D printed; flexible PLA, XYZ Workshop; 
Melbourne 2014. Purchased with funds from the Museum 
of Applied Arts and Sciences Foundation, 2016. 2016/37/1

Ceramic vessels, vases (2), cup, 3D printed porcelain, 
Alterfact, Mebourne 2016. Purchased with funds from the 
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Foundation, 2016. 
2016/38/1

Swimsuit, womens, ‘The Annette Kellermann Bathing Suit’, 
knitted wool / plastic, designed by Annette Kellerman, 
made by Asbury Mills, United States of America, 1916–
1930. Purchased with funds from the Museum of Applied 
Arts and Sciences Foundation, 2016. 2016/39/1

Swimsuit, womens, ‘The Annette Kellermann Swimming 
Tights’, cotton / plastic, designed by Annette Kellerman, 
made by Asbury Mills, United States of America, 1916–
1930. Purchased with funds from the Museum of Applied 
Arts and Sciences Foundation, 2016. 2016/39/2

Evening dress performance costume, organza / sequins / 
tulle / taffeta / metal, used by Kerrie Biddell, designed and 
made by Bill Goodwin, Australia, 1971. Gift of Di Bird, 2016. 
2016/40/1
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Boots (pair), women’s, leather / wood / sequins, made by 
William Cooks Shoes, used by Kerrie Biddell, Australia, 
1971–1980. Gift of Di Bird, 2016. 2016/40/2

Photograph, black and white, Kerrie Biddell with the Daly 
Wilson Big Band, card, made in Australia, used by Kerrie 
Biddell, 1971. Gift of Di Bird, 2016. 2016/40/3

Dress and ‘Aero’ shoes, ‘Lucid’ collection, Autumn/Winter 
2016–17,  acrylic/ copolyester Tygon tubing/ cotton/ cupro 
2016–17,  acrylic/ copolyester Tygon tubing/ cotton/ cupro 
(dress), designed and made by Iris van Herpen, The 
Netherlands with collaborating artist Philip Beesley, 
Canada; leather/ wood/ paint/ acrylic (‘Aero’ shoes) 
designed by Iris van Herpen in collaboration with Julia 
Lundsten, Finsk, United Kingdom, 2016. Purchased with 
funds from the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences 
Foundation, 2016. 2016/41/1

Brooch, ‘Banksia’, 18ct Australian gold, attributed to 
Hogarth, Erichsen & Co, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, c. 1857–1860. Donated through the Australian 
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program, 2016. 2016/42/1

Signs (2), cardboard / paint, used by J.C. Williamson Ltd at 
Theatre Royal, Sydney, 1950–1970. Gift of Sharron & John 
Benett, 2016. 2016/43/1

Poster, rock music, The Proteens, paper, designed by 
Debbie Baer, 1980. Gift of Caryn Shipp, 2016. 2016/44/1

Poster, rock music, Flaming Hands, paper, designed by 
John Foy, 1982. Gift of Caryn Shipp, 2016. 2016/44/2

Badge, miniature clapper board, ceramic / sticky tape / 
metal, The Proteens. Gift of Caryn Shipp, 2016. 2016/44/3

Documents (11), The Proteens and other bands, paper, 
Australia, 1980–1982. Gift of Caryn Shipp, 2016. 2016/44/4

Photographs (20), The Proteens and other bands, paper/ 
card, used by The Proteens, Australia, 1979–1980. Gift of 
Caryn Shipp, 2016. 2016/44/5

Custom assembled audio recording equipment, mixing 
desk, tape recorder, cassette duplicator, limiters, cassette 
duplicator component and associated cords, metal / plastic 
/ electronic components, Alan Morrison, Sydney, Australia, 
c. 1978. Gift of The Morrison Sisters, Alisa and Virginia, 
2016. 2016/45/1

Photovoltaic mini-module, ‘Spectrum Splitting Prism’, glass 
/ silicon cell / triple-junction cell, designed and made by 
the Australian Centre for Advanced Photovoltaics, 
University of New South Wales, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 2014–2016. Donated by the School of 
Photovoltaic and Renewable Energy Engineering (SPREE). 
This minimodule was fabricated as part of the Power Cube 
project, funded by ARENA (Australian Renewable Energy 
Agency), UNSW, NREL (National Renewable Energy 
Laboratory) and RayGen Resources Pty Ltd. 2016/46/1

Posters (2), ‘Aussie’, paper / ink, designed and made by 
Peter Drew, Adelaide, South Australia, 2016. Purchased 
with funds from the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences 
Foundation, 2016. 2016/47/1

Posters (2), ‘Real Australia says welcome’, paper / ink, 
designed and made by Peter Drew, Adelaide, South 
Australia, 2016. Purchased with funds from the Museum of 
Applied Arts and Sciences Foundation, 2016. 2016/47/2

Posters (2), ‘Australia says Welcome’, paper / ink, designed 
and made by Peter Drew, Adelaide, South Australia, 2016. 
Purchased with funds from the Museum of Applied Arts 
and Sciences Foundation, 2016. 2016/47/3

Posters (2), ‘Advance Australia Fair, Second verse’, paper / 
ink, designed and made by Peter Drew, Adelaide, South 
Australia, 2016. Purchased with funds from the Museum of 
Applied Arts and Sciences Foundation, 2016. 2016/47/4

Posters (2), ‘Camel riding camel’, paper / ink, photograph 
by C P Scott, Western Australia, 1916, poster designed and 
made by Peter Drew, Adelaide, South Australia, 2016. 
Purchased with funds from the Museum of Applied Arts 
and Sciences Foundation, 2016. 2016/47/5

Posters (2), ‘Dorothy Sym Choon AUSSIE’, paper / ink, 
designed and made by Peter Drew, Adelaide, South 
Australia, 2016. Purchased with funds from the Museum of 
Applied Arts and Sciences Foundation, 2016. 2016/47/6

Posters (2), ‘Bhagwan Singh AUSSIE’, paper / ink, designed 
and made by Peter Drew, Adelaide, South Australia, 2016. 
Purchased with funds from the Museum of Applied Arts 
and Sciences Foundation, 2016. 2016/47/7

Posters (2), ‘MONGA KHAN 1916 AUSSIE FOLK HERO’, 
paper / ink, designed and made by Peter Drew, Adelaide, 
South Australia, 2016. Purchased with funds from the 
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Foundation, 2016. 
2016/47/8

Posters (2), ‘Khalik family poster’, paper / ink, designed and 
made by Peter Drew, Adelaide, South Australia, 2016. 
Purchased with funds from the Museum of Applied Arts 
and Sciences Foundation, 2016. 2016/47/9

Posters (2), ‘Stop the boats!’, paper / ink, designed and 
made by Peter Drew, Adelaide, South Australia, 2016. 
Purchased with funds from the Museum of Applied Arts 
and Sciences Foundation, 2016. 2016/47/10

T-shirts (2), ‘Real Australians says Welcome’, cotton / ink, 
designed and made by Peter Drew, Adelaide, South 
Australia, 2016. Purchased with funds from the Museum of 
Applied Arts and Sciences Foundation, 2016. 2016/47/11

Bumper stickers (2), ‘Real Australians Say Welcome’, paper 
/ ink / glue, designed and made by Peter Drew, Adelaide, 
South Australia, 2016. Purchased with funds from the 
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Foundation, 2016. 
2016/47/12

Digital photographs (20), ‘Real Aussies say welcome’, 
digital, photographed by Peter Drew, Australia, 2014–2016. 
Purchased with funds from the Museum of Applied Arts 
and Sciences Foundation, 2016. 2016/47/13

Massage machine, handmade, found objects: metal / 
plastic / fabric / electronic components, Majid Rabet, 
Villawood, Sydney, 2011. Gift of Majid Rabet 2016. 2016/48/1
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Handmade tools, comprising of a hammer, screw-driver 
and circuit tester, found objects: metal / plastic / wood / 
electronic components, Majid Rabet, Villawood, Sydney, 
Australia, 2011. Gift of Majid Rabet 2016. 2016/48/2

Model of Sydney Harbour Bridge, made by Majid Rabet 
while in Immigration Detention, dry pasta / cardboard / 
rock, Majid Rabet, Villawood, Sydney, Australia, 2011. Gift 
of Majid Rabet 2016. 2016/48/3

Artwork of a flower made using noodles and cheese made 
by Majid Rabet while in Immigration Detention, dry pasta / 
paper / processed cheese / paint, Majid Rabet, Villawood, 
Sydney, Australia, 2011. Gift of Majid Rabet 2016. 2016/48/4

Hand made painting tools, made by Majid Rabet while in 
Immigration Detention, cat hair / plastic / metal, Majid 
Rabet, Villawood, Sydney, Australia, 2011. Gift of Majid 
Rabet 2016. 2016/48/5

Handmade microphone, made by Majid Rabet while in 
Immigration Detention, plastic / metal, Majid Rabet, 
Villawood, Sydney, Australia, 2011. Gift of Majid Rabet 
2016. 2016/48/6

Photographic positive, opalotype portrait of Arthur Joseph 
Thurman on white ‘milk’ glass, albumen, gelatin or 
permanent carbon print, produced by Eden Studios, 
Sydney, 1890–1900. Gift of Allen and Kenneth Heathcote, 
2016. 2017/1/1

Collection of workers posters and new year posters, ink on 
paper, China, 1960s–1990s. Purchased with funds from the 
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Foundation, 2016. 
2017/2/1–40

Railway ticket vending machine (TVM1), rolls of tickets (2), 
operator’s manual and update notes (2), Sydney Trains/
CityRail, metal cabinet/electronic components, designed 
and made by Southern Cubic Ltd, San Diego, California, 
USA, and Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1992, used 
at Stanmore railway station, New South Wales, Australia, 
1993–2016. Gift of Transport for NSW, 2016. 2017/3/1

Motorcycle, full size, BMW R50, 500 cc, 26 hp, boxer 
twin-cylinder, touring and sport model, registration ‘DU 
582’, known as ‘Du’, handbooks, maintenance manual and 
accessories, metal / rubber, made by Bayerische Motoren 
Werke Ag, (BMW Aktiengesellschaft), Munich, Germany, 
1965, with DriRider saddlebags (2) and DriRider tank bag, 
used by the artists, photographers, writers and adventurers 
George and Charis Schwarz to ride around the world in 
1965–1968 then in Sydney, Australia 1968–2016. Gift of 
Charis and George Schwarz, 2016. 2017/4/1

Motorcycle protective clothing, 2 sets, trousers (stag hide), 
jackets (made by Belstaff, England), helmets, gaiters, 
gloves, overshoes, wrist bands, kidney belts, leather / 
cotton / metal, used by George and Charis Schwarz to ride 
their 1965 BMW Model R50, 500cc motorcycle, 1965–2016. 
Gift of Charis and George Schwarz, 2016. 2017/4/2

Collection of unique travel mementoes, stone / bone / fibre 
/ fur / metal, collected by artists, photographers writers 
and adventurers, George and Charis Schwarz, during their 
ride around the world on their 1965 BMW model R50 
motorcycle, 1965–1968. Gift of Charis and George 
Schwarz, 2016. 2017/4/3

Archive, comprising passports, maps, photographs, lists, 
printed material, letters, tourist brochures, books, and 
documentation, collected by George and Charis Schwarz 
during their motorcycle ride around the world 1965–1968 
and relating to their 1965 BMW motorcycle’s awards and 
publication, 1965–2016. Gift of Charis and George 
Schwarz, 2016. 2017/4/4

Archive of Wirths’ Circus, compiled by Mark St Leon, 
paper /card, Australia, 1912–1956. Gift of Mark St Leon, 
2016. 2017/5/1

Archive of booking agent and circus proprietor Frank 
Wirth, compiled by Mark St Leon, paper, USA, 1929–1961. 
Gift of Mark St Leon, 2016. 2017/5/2

Archive of the Kelroy circus family, paper / card / plastic, 
compiled by Mark St Leon, 1925–1960. Gift of Mark St 
Leon, 2016. 2017/5/3

Photographs (2), card and envelope, J. C. Carter as circus 
performer ‘Diavolo’, paper, used by Mark St Leon, USA, 
1905–1910. Gift of Mark St Leon, 2016. 2017/5/4

Circus poster, May Wirth with Ringling Brothers Barnum & 
Bailey Circus, reproduction of 1925 poster, paper, made in 
USA, 1960–1979. Gift of Mark St Leon, 2016. 2017/5/5

Circus poster, May Wirth with Ringling Brothers Barnum & 
Bailey Circus, reproduction of 1924 American poster, 
plastic film / foamcore, printed in Australia, 1988–1993. 
Gift of Mark St Leon, 2016. 2017/5/6

Circus poster, Con Colleano with Ringling Brothers Barnum 
& Bailey Circus, reproduction of 1937 American poster, 
plastic film / foamcore, printed in Australia, 1988–1993. 
Gift of Mark St Leon, 2016. 2017/5/7

Circus poster, framed, Kay Bros Circus with Lillian St Leon, 
paper / wood / metal / plastic, USA, 1937. Gift of Mark St 
Leon, 2016. 2017/5/8

Photograph, circus artist Lillian St Leon, made by Curt Fox, 
paper, USA, 1929. Gift of Mark St Leon, 2016. 2017/5/9

Waistcoat, brocaded silk/ embroidered silk buttons/ linen, 
probably made in Ireland or the United Kingdom, c.1815. 
Gift of Christopher Cullen and Dinah Harvey, 2017. 2017/6/1

3D printer, user assembled, ‘Thing-o-matic’, wood/
circuitry/wiring/ABS plastic, designed by MakerBot 
Industries, New York, United States of America, 2010. Gift 
of Samuel Choy, 2017. 2017/7/1

MakerBot Gen4 Interface Board, wood/plastic/circuitry, 
designed by MakerBot Industries, New York, United States 
of America, made and owned by Sam Choy, Sydney, 
Australia, 2011–2016. Gift of Samuel Choy, 2017. 2017/7/2
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Replacement keys for Interface Board, plastic, designed 
and made by Sam Choy, Sydney, Australia. Gift of Samuel 
Choy, 2017. 2017/7/3

Filament holder, plastic, designed and made by Sam Choy, 
Sydney, Australia, 2011–2016. Gift of Samuel Choy, 2017. 
2017/7/4

ABS filament, magenta, plastic, made by MakerBot 
Industries, New York, United States of America, owned by 
Sam Choy, Sydney, Australia, 2011–2016. Gift of Samuel 
Choy, 2017. 2017/7/5

Automated build platform, wood/circuitry/wiring, designed 
by MakerBot Industries, New York, United States of 
America, made and owned by Sam Choy, Sydney, Australia, 
2011–2016. Gift of Samuel Choy, 2017. 2017/7/6

Unassembled automated build platform, wood/circuitry/
wiring, designed by MakerBot Industries, New York, United 
States of America. Gift of Samuel Choy, 2017. 2017/7/7

Cupcake CNC build surface kit, wood/perspex/ metal, 
designed by MakerBot Industries, New York, United States 
of America. Gift of Samuel Choy, 2017. 2017/7/8

MakerBot motherboard v2.4, metal/solder, designed by 
MakerBot Industries, New York, United States of America. 
Gift of Samuel Choy, 2017. 2017/7/9

MakerBot motherboard v2.4, metal/solder, designed by 
MakerBot Industries, New York, United States of America. 
Gift of Samuel Choy, 2017. 2017/7/10

Extruder controller v3.6, metal/solder, designed by 
MakerBot Industries, New York, United States of America. 
Gift of Samuel Choy, 2017. 2017/7/11

Extruder controller v3.6, metal/solder, designed by 
MakerBot Industries, New York, United States of America. 
Gift of Samuel Choy, 2017. 2017/7/12

Promotional items for Thing-o-matic and MakerBot 
Industries, designed by MakerBot Industries, New York, 
United States of America. Gift of Samuel Choy, 2017. 
2017/7/13

The University of Sydney logo. Gift of Samuel Choy, 2017. 
2017/7/14

3D printed rabbit, ABS plastic, made by Sam Choy, Sydney, 
Australia. Gift of Samuel Choy, 2017. 2017/7/15

3D printed form, ABS plastic, made by Sam Choy, Sydney, 
Australia. Gift of Samuel Choy, 2017. 2017/7/16

3D printed whistle, ABS plastic, made by Sam Choy, 
Sydney, Australia. Gift of Samuel Choy, 2017. 2017/7/17

3D printed container, ABS plastic, made by Sam Choy, 
Sydney, Australia. Gift of Samuel Choy, 2017. 2017/7/18

3D Printed Lego figure with face template, ABS plastic, 
designed and made by Sam Choy, Sydney, Australia. Gift of 
Samuel Choy, 2017. 2017/7/19

3D printed lion head, ABS plastic, designed and made by 
Sam Choy, Sydney, Australia. Gift of Samuel Choy, 2017. 
2017/7/20

3D printed rings (3), ABS plastic, designed and made by 
Sam Choy, Sydney, Australia. Gift of Samuel Choy, 2017. 
2017/7/21

3D printed beads for bikes (6), ABS plastic, designed and 
made by Sam Choy, Sydney, Australia. Gift of Samuel Choy, 
2017. 2017/7/22

Box chronometer, wood / glass / metal / ivory, made by 
John Carter, Cornhill, London, England, probably 1873–
1878. Gift of Sydney City Skywatchers, 2017. 2017/8/1

Models (2), wind tunnel, ‘One Central Park’, plywood / 
carbon fibre / foam / aluminium / steel/ resin, designed 
and made by CPP Wind Engineering & Air Quality 
Consultants, Sydney, Australia, 2010. Gift of Graeme 
Wood, CPP Wind Engineering & Air Quality Consultants, 
2017. 2017/9/1

Fibre optic manometry catheter and prototypes (2), with 
plastic box, fibre optic material / stainless steel / silicon / 
stiffening wire / bonding gel / polyurethane tubing / 
plastic, designed and made by John Arkwright, Ian 
Underhill, Neil Blenman, Simon Maunder, Australia, 2005– 
2008. Gift of CSIRO, 2017. 2017/10/1

‘Banksia’ vessel, handpainted high-fired earthenware, Fiona 
Hiscock, Melbourne, 2015. Gift of Fiona Hiscock, 2017. 
2017/11/1

Computer processor, monitor and keyboard, plastic / glass 
/ metal, made by TeleVideo, Sunnyvale, California, USA, 
1983–1990. Gift of Harrie Bruce Murrell, 2017. 2017/12/1 

Television, Brionvega Cuboglass in flight case with manual 
and remote, metal / glass / plastic / electronic 
components, Design Centre Brionvega in collaboration 
with Mario Bellini, manufactured by Brionvega Spa, Milano, 
Lissone, 1992. Purchased with funds from the MAAS 
Foundation, 2017. 2017/13/1

User assembled 3D printer, ‘Cupcake CNC’, wood / 
circuitry / wiring, designed by MakerBot Industries, New 
York, United States of America, 2009, made and owned by 
Gavin Smith, Sydney, Australia, 2009, used by Gavin and 
Robots and Dinosaurs, Sydney, Australia, 2009–2012. 
Donation of Gavin Smith, 2017. 2017/14/1

Dress, ‘Senorita’, Resort 2016–17, polyester, designed and 
made by Alice McCall, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 2016. Gift of Alice McCall, 2017. 2017/15/1

Dress, ‘Tian Do Mo Hun’, womens, silk / hand painted, 
designed by Xiong Ying for Heaven Gaia, Spring / Summer 
2015 collection, Beijing, China, 2014. Gift of Xiong Ying, 
2017. 2017/16/1

Fan, silk / bamboo, painted in black ink, designed by Xiong 
Ying for Heaven Gaia, Spring / Summer 2015 collection, 
Beijing, China, 2014. Gift of Xiong Ying, 2017. 2017/16/2
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Material confiscated from inmates of NSW Corrective 
Services facilities, shivs (33), throwing star, pliers, .22 
Ramset explosive charges (21) metal / wood / plastic, 
Cooma Correctional Centre, Cooma, NSW, Australia, 2017. 
Gift of Corrective Services Museum, 2017. 2017/17/1

Material confiscated from inmates of Corrective Services 
NSW facilities, water boiling elements (2), metal / plastic / 
electronic components, Cooma Correctional Centre, 
Cooma, NSW, Australia, 2017. Gift of Corrective Services 
Museum, 2017. 2017/17/2

Material confiscated from inmates of Corrective Services 
NSW facilities, tattooing machines (4), metal / plastic / 
NSW facilities, tattooing machines (4), metal / plastic / 
electronic components, Cooma Correctional Centre, 
Cooma, NSW, Australia, 2017. Gift of Corrective Services 
Museum, 2017. 2017/17/3

Material confiscated from inmates of Corrective Services 
NSW facilities, drug smoking implements (6), metal / wood 
/ plastic, Cooma Correctional Centre, Cooma, NSW, 
Australia, 2017. Gift of Corrective Services Museum, 2017. 
2017/17/4

Health and medical charts, anatomy (16) in box, canvas / 
wood / cotton / metal, made by the Denoyer-Geppert 
company, c.1945 –1963. Ex Museum stock, 2017. 2017/18/1

Furniture comprising wine tables (2), chairs (4), display 
cabinet, glasses (7)  timber/glass, makers unknown, made 
in London or Paris about 1880s, owned by H. C. Russell, 
used at Sydney Observatory residence 1888–1907. 
Purchased with funds from the MAAS Foundation, 2017. 
2017/19/1

Brooch ‘Banksia Serrata Lincolnii Caledoniensis’, 925 
oxidised silver, 18ct gold, Norman Cherry, Lincoln, 
Lincolnshire, United Kingdom,  2012. Purchased with funds 
from the Yasuko Myer Bequest, 2017. 2017/20/1

Television Transmitter, metal / electronics / plastic, made 
by AWA. Gift of Lawrence Historical Society Inc., 2017. 
2017/21/1

Hat, ‘Pussyhat’, wool, designed by Kat Coyle, California, 
United States of America, 2016, handknitted by Anne 
Summers, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2017. Gift 
of Anne Summers, 2017. 2017/22/1

Electronic analogue computer and accessories, PACE 
TR-20, metal / plastic / electronic components, designed 
and made by Electronic Associates Inc, New Jersey, United 
States of America, 1965, used by the University of 
Technology Sydney Electrical Engineering Department, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1965–1980. Gift of the 
University of Technology, Sydney, 2017. 2017/23/1

Portable computer, IBM 5100, plastic/metal, designed and 
made by International Business Machines (IBM), America, 
1975–1982, owned by University of Technology Sydney. Gift 
of the University of Technology Sydney, 2017. 2017/24/1

Earthenware vessels (3), designed by Unknown Fields 
Division, in collaboration with the London Sculpture 
Workshop, London, UK, 2015. Purchased with funds from 
the MAAS Foundation, 2017. 2017/25/1

Photo essay ‘Rare Earthenware’ project, designed by 
Unknown Fields Division, film and photography in 
collaboration with Toby Smith, animation assistance from 
Christina Varvia, London, UK, 2015. Purchased with funds 
from the MAAS Foundation, 2017. 2017/25/2

Hanbok outfit and storage box, women’s, silk, cotton, 
polyester, silver, cardboard, made by Geryeo Judan (Korea 
Silk Shop), Jongro, Seoul, Korea, 2000 worn by Min-Jung 
Kim in Australia 2000–2011. Gift of Min-Jung Kim, 2017. 
2017/26/1
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6. LEGISLATIVE CHANGES

There were no legislative changes which affected the 
Museum in 2015–16.

7. OVERSEAS TRAVEL 

R Waite, Head of Communications, 10 Jul – 21 Jul, 
Germany, England. Represented MAAS at Communicating 
the Museum conference.  

J Coombes, Head of Strategic Collections, 1 Jul – 12 Jul, 
Italy. Presented and participated in the triennial 
International Council of Museums Conference. 

M Parry, Director New Museum, 19 Jul – 22 Jul, England. 
Met with key stakeholders in London including the Victoria 
and Albert Museum, Museum of London and the Barbican 
Centre regarding major redevelopment projects and 
potential exhibition partnerships (recall to duty — 
accommodation and daily allowance only).  

R Leong, Senior Curator, 2 Aug – 12 Aug, USA. Negotiated 
the Reigning Men: Fashion in Menswear 1715–
2015 exhibition scheduled for 2018 with LACMA staff.  

M Parry, Director New Museum, 28 Aug – 1 Sept. New 
Zealand. Invited to participate in the inaugural Mahuki, Te 
Papa’s Innovation Accelerator workshop (funded 
externally).  

J Hews, Partnerships & Festivals Manager, 17 Sept – 25 
Sept, England. Presented and participated in the British 
Council’s Design Connections 2016.  

D Merrillees, Director, 18 Sept – 1 Oct, Israel, England, Italy, 
Netherlands, Hong Kong. Attendance and participation at 
the Applied Arts Directors Network Conference. 

K Butler, Senior Curator, 24 Sept – 6 Oct, China, South 
Korea, Singapore. Object loan negotiation and acquisition 
of four items for the MAAS collection and research 
for Design in Transit exhibition scheduled for 2017. 

J Delzoppo, Acting Head of Production, 11 Oct – 21 Oct, 
USA. Gained overview and negotiated The International 
Exhibition of Sherlock Holmes scheduled for June 2017. 

J Hews, Partnerships & Festivals Manager, 16 Oct – 21 Oct, 
Taiwan. Represented MAAS and spoke at the International 
Design Week Forum.  

R Boesel, Steam Education Officer, 24 Oct – 30 Oct, New 
Zealand. Provided technical and engineering assistance to 
the Museum of Transport and Technology (funded 
externally).  

C Eagle, Steam Education Officer, 24 Oct – 30 Oct, New 
Zealand. Provided technical and engineering assistance to 
the Museum of Transport and Technology (funded 
externally).  

D Collins, Head of Digital & Technology, 30 Oct – 9 Nov, 
USA. Attended and represented MAAS at the Museum 
Computer Network conference. 

J Coombes, Head of Strategic Collections, 3 Nov – 10 Nov, 
England. Oversaw the deinstallation, packing, transport of 
MAAS loan objects of Opera House models for 
the Engineering the World: Ove Arup and the Philosophy of 
Total Design exhibition at the Victoria & Albert Museum 
(funded externally). 

A Baskaran, Digital Studio Manager, 13 Nov – 23 Nov, USA. 
Presented and participated in the MuseumNext 2017 
conference.  

A Brennan, Registrar, 21 Nov – 25 Nov, England. Oversaw 
the de-installation, packing, transport of Egyptian 
Mummies: Exploring Ancient Lives exhibition as a risk 
mitigation linked to insurance. 

K Hogan, Registrar, 1 Dec – 7 Dec, Netherlands. 
Oversaw the de-installation, packing, transport and return 
to MAAS of MAAS collection objects from the Cube 
Design Museum as a risk mitigation linked to insurance 
(funded externally).

P Denham, Director Curatorial, Collections and Exhibitions, 
16 Mar – 1 Apr, Singapore, France. Attendance at seminar in 
Paris titled ‘Cultural institutions in the service of urban and 
territorial development’, at the invitation of the French 
Government. 

N Mortimer, Exhibition Project Coordinator, 4 Apr – 8 Apr, 
Taiwan. Attended ‘Future Park’ in Taipei to review and 
negotiate the exhibition scheduled for December 2017.  

O Conlan, Media Technologies Manager, 4 Apr – 8 Apr, 
Taiwan. Attended ‘Future Park’ in Taipei to review and 
negotiate the exhibition scheduled for December 2017.  

L Clark, Registrar, 11 May – 17 May, Hong Kong. Oversaw 
the de-installation, packing, transport and delivery of 
Egyptian Mummies: Exploring Ancient Lives exhibition as a 
risk mitigation linked to insurance (fully funded externally). 

K Dyer, Curator Contemporary, 20 Jun – 25 Jun, 
Singapore. Conducted four workshops with Dr Lizzie 
Muller (UNSW).

8. MAJOR WORKS STATEMENT

There was one major capital work project undertaken by 
the Museum over the 2016/17 financial year. The Museum 
classifies major works as a single project funded by NSW 
Treasury Capital Grant in excess of $5 million. 
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9. STAFFING NUMBERS BY DEPARTMENT 2015–17

FTE at June 30  2015  2016  2017  Difference 

Directorate             

Executive Support  3  3  4.8  1.8 

Infrastructure Engagement  0.8  0.8  0  -0.8 

Directors  5  5  5  0 

Total  8.8  8.8  9.8  1 

Curatorial Collections & Exhibitions             

Curatorial   19  22.4  20.6  -1.8 

Library Services  4  4  4  0 

Strategic Collections  2  3  2  -1 

Exhibitions  9  8.6  9.6  1 

Workshop  5  5  4  -1 

Registration  13  17.2  19.8  2.6 

Conservation  14.2  16.6  15.6  -1 

Production  2  1  1  0 

Editorial & Publishing  5  4  5  1 

Total  73.2  81.8  81.6  -0.2 

Corporate Resources             

Human Resources  5  5  4  -1 

Governance, Planning and Reporting  3  3.8  3  -0.8 

Finance  12.7  12.6  11.4  -1.2 

Property Services  4  4  5  1 

Mechanical Services  4  4  1  -3 

Facilities and Asset Management  2  3  4  1 

Security Operations  5  5  5  0 

Records  2  2  2  0 

Volunteer Programs  2.7  2.5  2.5  0 

Total  40.4  41.9  37.9  -4 

Development and External Affairs             

Communications  2.6  3.8  5.6  1.8 

Development  2.6  4  5.2  1.2 

Research & Analysis  0  1  0  -1 

Government Relations and External Affairs  1  1  0  -1 

Commercial  1  1  1  0 

Events  3.6  4.6  4.6  0 

Memberships Program  1.8  0.8  1.8  1 

Shop        1  1 

Total  12.6  16.2  19.2  3 

Programs and Engagement             

Sydney Observatory  5  4.4  2.8  -1.6 

Regional Programs  2  1  0  -1 

Discovery Centre  1  3  3  0 

Digital and Media  2  2  3  1 

Information and Communications Technology  5.6  6.6  5.6  -1 

Media Technologies  5  5  5  0 

Partnerships and Festivals  5  5  5  0 

Education and Digital Learning  3  5  7  2 

Programs  3.4  3  3  0 

Visitor Services and Venues  17.4  22.4  25.4  3 

Digital Studio  5.6  7.8  8  0.2 

Total  55  65.2  67.8  2.6 

MUSEUM TOTAL (non-casual)  190  213.9  216.3  2.4 
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10. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY (EEO) STATISTICS  

A. Trends in the Representation 
of EEO Groups % of Total Staff

EEO Group Benchmark 
or Target 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Women 50% 47% 53% 48% 47% 53% 58% 62% 63%

Aboriginal people and Torres Strait 
Islanders

2% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1.20% 1.20%

People whose first language was 
not English

20% 18% 38% 17% 16% 17% 11% 10% 8%

People with a disability 12% 6% 9% 7% 7% 7% 5% 0% 5%

People with a disability requiring 
work-related adjustment

7% 1% 1% 1% 1% 2% 0% 0% 0%

B. Trends in the Distribution of 
EEO Groups Distribution Index

EEO Group Benchmark 
or Target 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Women 100 108 108 108 105 108 107 108 108

Aboriginal people and Torres Strait 
Islanders

100 n/a n/a n/a n/a 2 n/a n/a n/a

People whose first language was 
not English

100 97 97 97 97 62 n/a n/a n/a

People with a disability 100 n/a n/a n/a n/a 16 n/a n/a n/a

People with a disability requiring 
work-related adjustment

100 n/a n/a n/a n/a 4 n/a n/a n/a

Notes: 
1. Includes casual staff.
2. A Distribution Index of 100 indicates that the centre of the distribution of the EEO group across salary levels is equivalent to that of other staff. 

Values less than 100 mean that the EEO group tends to be more concentrated at lower salary levels than is the case for other staff. The more 
pronounced this tendency is, the lower the index will be. In some cases the index may be more than 100, indicating that the EEO group is less 
concentrated at lower salary levels. The Distribution Index is automatically calculated by the software provided by the Department of Premier and 
Cabinet.

3. The Distribution Index is not calculated where EEO group or non-EEO group numbers are less than 20.

Comparison of staff by occupational category

Staff Numbers (EFT) Powerhouse Museum (non-casual)

Occupation Group 2009–10 2010–11 2011–12 2012–13 2013–14 2014–15 2015–16 2016–17

Manager and administrators 32 32 33 30 31.8 36.6 35 36

Professionals 112 118 110 102 60.5 53.7 77 78

Technicians and associate professionals 33 35 36 31 49 41.1 40 42

Tradespersons and related workers 17 18 17 12 20 12 13 10

Advanced clerical, sales and service workers 6 7 6 5 5 1 3 4

Intermediate clerical, sales and service workers 62 63.2 63.6 61.8 69.5 41 37 37

Intermediate production and transport workers 1 1 1 1 1 0 0 0

Elementary clerical, sales and service workers 5 4 4 3 3 2.6 8 9

Labourers and related workers 6.6 6 7 6 3 0 0 0

Other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 274.6 284.2 277.6 251.8 242.8 188 213 216

Notes:
1. Staff employed at the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences are part of the Department of Planning & Environment 
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11. SENIOR EXECUTIVE POSITIONS

During 2016–17 the following were members of the State 
Government Senior Executive Service:

Band Position title                                                                                        Gender

2 Director: Dolla Merrillees Female

1 Director Corporate Resources, Chief 
Financial Officer: Andrew Elliott

Male

1 Director Public Engagement: Tristan 
Sharp

Male

1 Director Curatorial Collections and 
Exhibitions: Peter Denham

Male

1 Director New Museum Project: Michael 
Parry

Male

1 Director Development & External Affairs: 
Leann Meiers

Female

Band     30-Jun-15 30-Jun-16 30-Jun-17

4    0 0 0

3             0 0 0

2      2 1 1

1      2 5 5

CEO under s11A                     0 0 0

Total                                            4 6 6

Number of female SES           3 4 2

Band     RANGE $ 
Average Remuneration

2015/16 2016/17

4    $452,251 – $522,500 0 0

3             $320,901 – $452,250 0 0

2      $255,051 – $320,900 $300,000 $307,500

1      $178,850 – $255,050 $214,226 $220,671

0.42% of MAAS employee-related expenditure was related to 
senior executives, compared with 0.43% in 2015/16

12. DIGITAL INFORMATION SECURITY 
ATTESTATION STATEMENT
I, Dolla Merrilees, am of the opinion that Museum of 
Applied Arts and Sciences had an Information Security 
Management System in place during the 2016–17 financial 
year that is consistent with the core requirements set out in 
the NSW Government Digital Information Security Policy. 

The controls in place to mitigate identified risks to the 
digital information and digital information systems of 
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences are adequate.

There is no agency under the control of Museum of 
Applied Arts and Sciences which is required to develop an 
independent ISMS in accordance with the NSW 
Government Digital Information Security Policy. 

13. GUARANTEE OF SERVICE

Our commitment to our customers

The Museum is committed to continuous improvement in 
its quality of service. We regularly evaluate our exhibitions, 
programs and services.

Our service standards

When you visit the Museum you will find:

• friendly, responsive and efficient staff;
• well-maintained exhibitions and buildings;
• a commitment to caring for objects in the collection and 

on loan to the Museum;
• accurate and appropriate information in response to 

your inquiries;
• a high standard of safety and security;
• appropriate facilities (rest areas, cafés, toilets, baby 

change room) for you to use;
• appropriate access and services for those with special 

needs (eg people with disabilities and those with a 
language background other than English);

• signage and information brochures that are helpful and 
easy to understand;

• printed information about Museum events in plain English;
• special services including:
 – guided tours in community languages, including sign 

language, on a booked basis (minimum two weeks’ 
notice), depending on availability of guides; 

 – guided tours for visitors with blindness or low vision on 
a booked basis (minimum two weeks’ notice) 
depending on availability of guides. For bookings and 
enquiries please call (02 9217 0222) or email book@
maas.museum. 

Our expectations of our visitors 

We expect you to treat our staff, volunteers and exhibitions 
with care and respect. We reserve the right to refuse 
admission to patrons who behave inappropriately. 

Improving our consumer response

We welcome your comments and any suggestions you may 
have for improving our services. In response to feedback 
from customers, over the last year MAAS has centralised 
our feedback services to ensure a consistent and timely 
response. If you are visiting the Museum and have any 
comments please email feedback@maas.museum and 
MAAS will consult with the relevant areas within the 
museum and respond within 10 days. If you are in the 
museum, a comments form is available at the cloaking desk 
if you have feedback you wish to put in writing and we will 
respond via email. 

Following the launch of the new MAAS online collection 
this year, MAAS has been able to update many of our 
incomplete records with feedback from the general public. 

Our commitment to you 

Any written suggestion or complaint you make to the 
Museum will be responded to within 10 working days.
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14. PUBLIC ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Under section 7.3 of the Government Information (Public 
Access) (GIPA) Act 2009 the Museum has reviewed the 
currency and nature of information made publicly available 
and has reported on this in the reporting template below. 
In addition to the information on the management, 
governance and operations available on our website the 
following policy and procedural documents, reflecting the 
major operations areas of the Museum, are available. The 
Museum has reviewed information available to the public 
under Section 7(3) of the Act. 

As at 30 June 2017 the following policies were available on 
the MAAS website: https://maas.museum/about/
governance/policies-and-plans/ 

• Acquisition and Accession Policy 
• ATSI Repatriation Policy 
• Australian Indigenous Cultural and Intellectual Cultural 

Property Protocol 
• Collection Development Policy 
• Incoming Loans Policy 
• Restitution Policy 

General Policies and Plans

• Code of Conduct 
• Gifts and Benefits Policy 
• Pesticides Notification Plan 
• Privacy Management Plan 
• Sydney Observatory Lighting Policy 

Indigenous Policies and Plans

• Reconciliation Action Plan 

The Museum received 2 access applications in regard to 
the Government Information (Public Access) Act 2009 in 
2016–17 and accepted both of these applications as valid 
applications under the GIPA Act. 

The following information has been submitted to the NSW 
Information and Privacy Commission as part of annual 
reporting obligations of agencies under section 125 of the 
Government Information (Public Access) Act 2009.

PUBLIC INTEREST DISCLOSURE REPORTING AS 
REQUIRED BY PUBLIC INTEREST DISCLOSURE ACT 1994 
(ALSO TO BE PROVIDED TO THE NSW OMBUDSMAN)

Public Interest Disclosures: 
Number of officials who made PIDs — 0 
Number of PIDs received — 2 
Number of PIDs finalised — 0

The Museum adopted a new Public Interest Disclosures 
Policy during the reporting year which was ratified by the 
Board of Trustees and subsequently brought to the 
attention of all staff via internal email, and e-learning on 
both the intranet and our website.

PRIVACY REVIEWS UNDER THE PRIVACY AND 
PERSONAL INFORMATION PROTECTION ACT 1998

The Museum did not receive any privacy reviews during 
the reporting year under the Privacy and Personal 
Information Protection Act 1998.
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Clause 7A: Details of the review carried out by the agency under section 7 (3) of the Act during the reporting year and the details
of any information made publicly available by the agency as a result of the review

Reviews carried out by the agency Information made publicly available by the agency

Yes Yes

During this reporting year, MAAS has redesigned the MAAS Online Collection at https://collection.maas.museum/ The new
Online Collection delivers a host of new features including; - Simple and fast search - Large images and a visual design layout
- Filtered/Faceted search - Related objects and recommendations, across articles, events, products - Social sharing features -
Sets: a way to explore the collection based on themes - Responsive templates: a site that works on mobile devices MAAS also
releases information proactively by way of blogs - Inside the Collection, Observations, DHub, and articles from the MAAS
Magazine that are also published online. https://maas.museum/inside-the-collection/ https://maas.museum/observations/
https://www.dhub.org/ https://maas.museum/magazine/category/maas-magazine/ A website has also been set up which is
dedicated to the new MAAS museum project and provides the general public with updated information on this project.
https://new.maas.museum/

Clause 7B: The total number of access applications received by the agency during the reporting year (including withdrawn
applications but not including invalid applications)

Total number of applications received

2

Clause 7C: The total number of access applications received by the agency during the reporting year that the agency refused
either wholly or partly, because the application was for the disclosure of information refered to in Schedule 1 to the Act
(information for which there is conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure)

Number of Applications
Refused

Wholly Partly Total

  0 0 0

% of Total 0% 0%  
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Schedule 2 Statistical information about access applications to be included in annual report 

Table A: Number of applications by type of applicant and outcome*

  
Access
Granted
in Full

Access
Granted
in Part

Access
Refused
in Full

Information
not Held

Information
Already

Available

Refuse to
Deal with

Application

Refuse to
Confirm/Deny

whether
information is

held

Application
Withdrawn

Total
% of
Total

Media 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%
Members of
Parliament

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 100%

Private sector
business

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

Not for profit
organisations
or community
groups

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

Members of
the public (by
legal
representative)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

Members of
the public
(other)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1

% of Total 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 100%

* More than one decision can be made in respect of a particular access application. If so, a recording must be made in relation
to each such decision. This also applies to Table B.
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Table B: Number of applications by type of application and outcome*

  
Access
Granted
in Full

Access
Granted
in Part

Access
Refused
in Full

Information
not Held

Information
Already

Available

Refuse to
Deal with

Application

Refuse to
Confirm/Deny

whether
information is

held

Application
Withdrawn

Total
% of
Total

Personal
information
applications*

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

Access
applications
(other than
personal
information
applications)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 100%

Access
applications
that are
partly
personal
information
applications
and partly
other

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1

% of Total 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 100%

* A personal information application is an access application for personal information (as defined in clause 4 of Schedule 4 to
the Act) about the applicant (the applicant being an individual).



123ANNUAL REPORT

Government Information (Public Access) Act – Annual Report for Agency Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences

Page: 4By  on  for FY: 2016-17David Marcus 12/09/2017 12:39 PM

Table C: Invalid applications
Reason for invalidity No of applications % of Total

Application does not comply with formal requirements (section 41 of the Act) 0 0%

Application is for excluded information of the agency (section 43 of the Act) 0 0%

Application contravenes restraint order (section 110 of the Act) 0 0%

Total number of invalid applications received 0 0%

Invalid applications that subsequently became valid applications 0 0%

Table D: Conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure: matters listed in Schedule 1 of Act

    
Number of times

consideration used*
% of Total

Overriding secrecy laws 0 0%

Cabinet information 0 0%

Executive Council information 0 0%

Contempt 0 0%

Legal professional privilege 0 0%

Excluded information 0 0%

Documents affecting law enforcement and public safety 0 0%

Transport safety 0 0%

Adoption 0 0%

Care and protection of children 0 0%

Ministerial code of conduct 0 0%

Aboriginal and environmental heritage 0 0%

Total 0  

*More than one public interest consideration may apply in relation to a particular access application and if so, each such
consideration is to be recorded (but only once per application). This also applies in relation to Table E
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Table E: Other public interest considerations against disclosure: matters listed in table to section 14 of Act

    
Number of times

consideration used*
% of Total

Responsible and effective government 0 0%

Law enforcement and security 0 0%

Individual rights, judicial processes and natural justice 0 0%

Business interests of agencies and other persons 0 0%

Environment, culture, economy and general matters 0 0%

Secrecy provisions 0 0%

Exempt documents under interstate Freedom of Information legislation 0 0%

Total 0  

Table F: Timeliness
     Number of applications* % of Total

Decided within the statutory timeframe (20 days plus any extensions) 1 100%

Decided after 35 days (by agreement with applicant) 0 0%

Not decided within time (deemed refusal) 0 0%

Total 1  
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Table G: Number of applications reviewed under Part 5 of the Act (by type of review and outcome)
     Decision varied Decision upheld Total % of Total

Internal review 0 0 0 0%

Review by Information Commissioner* 0 0 0 0%
Internal review following recommendation under
section 93 of Act

0 0 0 0%

Review by NCAT 0 0 0 0%

Total 0 0 0

% of Total 0% 0%    

*The Information Commissioner does not have the authority to vary decisions, but can make recommendations to the original
decision-maker. The data in this case indicates that a recommendation to vary or uphold the original decision has been made by
the Information Commissioner. 

Table H: Applications for review under Part 5 of the Act (by type of applicant)

 
Number of applications

for review
% of Total

Applications by access applicants 0 0%
Applications by persons to whom information the subject of access
application relates (see section 54 of the Act)

0 0%

Total 0  

Table I: Applications transferred to other agencies.

 
Number of applications

transferred
% of Total

Agency-Initiated Transfers 0 0%

Applicant - Initiated Transfers 0 0%

Total 0  
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15. VOLUNTEERS

John A’beckett
Joanne Acton
Vinod Ahluwalia
Scott Allan
Malcolm Anderson
Chloe Appleby
Dominique Armstrong
Beth Bailey
Tulliz Bakar
Gara Baldwin
Andrea Balen
Barbara Ballantyne
Nicole Balmer
Peter Bamford
Clare Banks
Natasha Baramilis
Jennifer Barber
Georgia Barker
Marion Barker
Michael Barnett
Brianna Barwise
Judith Bedford
Kate Belfield
Michael Belfield
Katherine Bell
Celia Berry
Emily Biddle
Tanya Blake
Terry Blanch
George Bolton
Alexandra Boyd
Edna Boyd
Harry Brackenbury
Joyce Bradbury
Hannah Bradshaw
Rowan Braham
Rex Broadbent
Roly Broady
Mary-Jane Brodribb
Ken Bruce
Robert Burford
Maree Burnett
Neil Burtt
Roderick Byatt
Neil Cadzow
Judith Campbell
Victor Candor
Jacinta Carruthers
John Chambers
Sophie Champion
Shimmona Chen
Lesley Cherry
Lynne Cheshire
Jaya Chilla
Aliza Chin
Stephanie Chinneck
Grace Chiu
Kenneth Chuang
Katrina Churchill
Nadiye Cicek
Wendy Circosta

Kate Clancy
Bonnie Clark
Jean Clark
Greg Coan
Geoff Cocks
Joachim Cohen
Robert Cole
Jacqueline Colefax
Shannon Collis
Jon Comino
John Cooper
Leon Corn
Maddison Cox
Graham Dare
Nakita Dass
Himaja Dave
Emma Davies
Marcus Day
Aaron De Souza
Pearl De Waal
Ian Debenham
Robert Degotardi
Siobhan Dickson
Morwenna Dixon
Kevin Dodds
Chantelle Dollimore
Jennifer Donovan
Alice Dove
Wayne Eagle
John Ebner
Alan Edwards
Madison Edwards
Jay Ekers
David Elliott
Roger Elliott
Vicki Elsom
Jose Fagel
Sharon Fang
Julia Foong
Samantha Ford
Theresa Foster
Emma Gallagher
Nicole Gammie
Robert Gardiner
Lynette Gaze
Christina Geeves
Shima Gholami
Maureen Gibson
Judith Giesaitis
Rebecca Glover
Kylie Gonder
Frederick Gooch
Cindy Gordon
Andrew Grant
Dorothy Green
Mary Green
Jenny Gu
Isaac Gunther
Alan Gutteridge
Maggie Habgood
Dinah Hales
Val Hamey
Doreen Harland

Anthony Harris
Emma Harrison
Rachel Hart
Lesley Harwood
Aidan Hayman
Lauren Hearne
Lynette Hearne
Kim Hebden
Ingrid Heggie
Josef Heinrich
Rosalie Heywood
Cherie Hingee
Susanne Hledik
Genevieve Holt
Garry Horvai
Marcia Horvai
Ashleigh Hosemans
John Howse
Zhi-Qing Huang
Ray Huckin
Debra Hudson
Nina Huelin
Kristal Jackson
Vincent Jadraque
Margaret Jaggar
Madeline Jenkins
Alfred Johnson
Merle Johnson
Cierwen Jones
David Joseph
Kate Juttner
Jack Karnaghan
Sangeetha Karthikeyan
Kate Keeble
Matti Keentok
Amy Keighran
Bree Kelly
Megumi Kikuchi
Diana Kincaid
Edna Koritschoner
Shonal Kumar
Egmont Lademann
Suet Yi Lai
Mercedes Lane
Denise Larcombe
Kim Chun Lau
John Lauder
Jo Law
Caitlin Lawler
Paul Laxton
Nicolle Leary
Claire Lee
David Lee
Lucas Lenci
Stella Leonardi
Julia Lepre
Michael Leslie
Pamela Leuzinger
Monty Leventhal
Nicole Li
Wenjie Li
Angela Lin
Jasmin Lin
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Lizi Lin
Meg Lisle
Qianqian Liu
Matthew Lloyd
Tom Lockley
Christine Lowndes
Jasper Luck-Chee
Rebecca Lush
Gail Luthy
Ann MacArthur
Patricia MacDonald
Molly Anne Macinante
Vanessa Mack
Hong Man
Srisai Mangipudi
Peter Martin
Georgia Mason-Cox
Herb Mathews
Vanessa Mawby
Nathan McDonald
Julie McFarland
Geoff McGirr
Helen McGregor
Sandra McKirdy
Jason McLachlan
Dorothy McLean
Aaron Medcalf
Sharon Mee
Lawrence Menz
Bridget Minatel
Ritwik Misra
Kathleen Mist
Jenny Mitchell
Hette Mollema
Ernie Mollenhauer
Jill Monro
Norman Myers
Isabel Navarro-Marote
Helen Neale
Elana Nerwich
Chiu Ng
Franklin Nieh
Barry Nielson
Ayah Nizam
Farrah Nouri
Trevor Oates
Ross O’Brien
Kelvin O’Keefe
Tom O’Keeffe
Heather Oliver
Leonard Palmer
Ashlea Parsons
Christinne Patton
David Peddar
Beverley Pescott
James Pettigrew
Jade Pham
Jann Ticha Phromthong
Richard Pike
Tracey Pilgrim
Jenny Pockley
Jim Poole
Lauren Poole

Elyse Potter
Nathalile Prat
Weicheng Qian
Sascha Qin
Narelle Quinn
Peter Radcliffe
Shaiyana Rafiq
Judith Rainsford
Lynn Rattray
Diane Reed
Simon Reeves
Peter Rennie
Monique Rickett
Samuel Riley
Sarah Rish
Joanne Ritchie
Michael Ritchie
Charlotte Roberts
Jacqueline Ruston
Robert Ryan
Arshman Sahid
Christina Salopek
Alexis Sawyer
Olga Sawyer
Edith Scerri
Caitlin Sclater
Petro Semeniuk
Vanessa Shaflender
Meg Shepherd
Daniel Simmonds
Cedric Siu
Nathalie Skallias
Sue Slattery
Keryn Smart
Alexander So
Chi Kiu  So
Merilyn Stapylton
Winston Stearn
Alan Stennett
Meg Stevenson
Michael Stevenson
Meredith Stewart
Kirra Stuart
Christina Sumner
Ainsley Sydun
Eleni Thanos
Madison Thew
Katelyn Thomas
Ethan Thorpe
Diana Tilley-Winyard
Belinda Tomov
Barbara Towart
Maria Townsend
Aiyana Tranter
Penelope Trigas
Hardik Trivedi
Phoebe Tsui
David Uren
Jocelyn Vieira
Claire Vincent
Athena Vlotis
Jim Vodanovich
Hannah Vogel

Connie Voutos
Jutta Waiblinger
Helen Walters
Xiaodi Wang
Yixing Wang
Norma Warnecke
Peter Warren
Meagan Warwick
Colin Watts
Maureen Welsh
Robyn Wienholt
Jenny Williams
Ken Williams
Joshua Willsher
Donna Wilson
Erin Wilson
Antony Wober
Victor Wongdoo
John Wright
Dongzhi Wu
Anthony Yan
Remy Young
Man-Ling Yuen
Mary Zarate
Zac Zinn
Arina Zinoveva
Stefan Zolin
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16. AWARDS

Gravity (and Wonder) 
Winner — Temporary or Travelling exhibition Level 2, 
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences and Penrith Regional 
Gallery, and The Lewers Bequest, Curators: Katie Dyer and 
Dr Lee-Anne Hall

Winner — Museums Australasia Multi Media and 
Publication Design Awards, Poster Category  Museum of 
Applied Arts and Sciences, Designer: Filip Bartkowiak

Out of Hand: Materialising the Digital 
Highly commended — Temporary or Travelling exhibition 
Level 4 Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences, Curator 
Matthew Connell

Egyptian Mummies: Exploring Ancient Lives 
Highly commended — Temporary or Travelling exhibition 
Level 4, Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences, Curator 
Melanie Pitkin

17. SPONSORS 

Strategic Partners  
NSW Making it Happen 
Destination NSW

Principal Partners 
Microsoft  
Miele 
Tiffany & Co 
Western Sydney University 
Office of the Chief Scientist and Engineer             

Major Partners 
ERCO 
Garde Robe 
Macquarie University 
Target  
The Woolmark Company 
Transport for NSW 
Westfield Sydney

Supporting Partners 
Jaycar Electronics 
Office of the Government Architect 
University of Technology Sydney  
Winton Capital 
Etihad Airways

Preferred Hotel Partner 
QT

Preferred Wine Partner 
Tamburlaine Organic Wines

Corporate Members 
AMP Limited  
MathWorks Australia 
And those who wish to remain anonymous

Media Partners 
Daily Telegraph 
Sunday Telegraph 
New Scientist  
Torch Media  
Avant Card 

18. DONORS

Governor ($50,000+) 
Masasuke Hiraoka, in memory of Masa Hiraoka, Setsu 
Hiraoka and Yasuko Hiraoka Myer 
Dick Smith AC

President’s Circle ($10,000 – $49,000) 
Crown Resorts Foundation 
Packer Family Foundation 
Professor Barney Glover and Maree Collins

Leader ($5,000 – $9,999) 
Lisa Chung 
Leanne Menegazzo 
Robert Cameron AO and Paula Cameron of the Cameron 
Family Charitable Endowment 
Robert Swieca & John Robinson 
A bequest by Mr William Scrymgeour Tatlow to the 
Powerhouse Museum

Custodian ($1,000 – $4,999) 
AMP Foundation 
Bambi Blumberg 
Caroline Sherman 
Dixie Coulton 
Dr Gene Sherman AM 
Elizabeth Pakchung 
Eugenia Langley 
James Longley 
Joanna Cooper 
Juliet Lockhart 
Linda Chung 
Lynne Anderson 
Margaret Noonan 
Ola Kay 
Penelope Seidler AM 
Ruth Vincent 
Vera Vargassoff 
William Chapman

Investor ($500 – $999) 
Anne Spencer 
David Swift 
Ian Thom 
John and Diana Houstone 
Ross McNair 
Sydney City Skywatchers

Supporter ($2 – $499) 
Andrew Lamond 
Andy Paterson 
Anna Broady 
Annette Gray 
Anthony Buckley AM 
Arani Duggan 
Arcadi Cipponi 
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Beibei Zhou 
Belinda Allen 
Brenan Dew 
Brooke Baker 
Bruce Ballantyne 
Capt. Murray Doyle AAM 
Charles French 
Chontelle Clark 
Christina Macha 
Christine Kibble 
David Calmyre 
David Lovell 
David Simmons 
Deborah Alderton 
Denis Adams 
Desiree Kelly 
Diana Parnell 
Dolla Merrillees 
Donna Hogan
Dr Elizabeth Houlihan 
Dr Fiona Tito Wheatland 
Dr Gordon Pike 
Dr John Gambrill 
Dr Rita Crews OAM 
Dr Rob Hall 
Dr Stephen McNamara 
Eesha Phanse 
Elaine Potter 
Eleanor Boustead 
Elisabeth Steindler 
Elisabeth Webber 
Elizabeth Sakker 
Ella Condon 
Elly Puckeridge 
George COTIS 
Graham Whitehead 
Irene Carson 
James E S White 
Jan Van Dyk in honour of Oscar Van Dyk 
Janet McDonald AO 
Jeffery Walker 
Jennifer Game 
Jennifer Pang 
Jo Blackman 
Joan Richards OAM 
John A Vipond 
John Nelson 
John Roberts 
John Worden 
Joshua Charles 
Joy Gerard 
Joyce Gibson 
Judith Campbell 
Julie Hanlon 
Juliette Howden 
Kathy Wenban 
Kumar Rethnasamy 
Leann Meiers 
Leanne Tam 
Leigh and Christina Birtles 
Lesley Chapman 
Loretta Mcpherson 
Lorna and Douglas Sanger 

Lorraine Stenning 
Louise Marett 
Lu Zhao 
Luka Melvin 
Mark Nicholson 
Mark Sieckman 
Marnie Ogg 
Michelle Aitken 
Mike Burnett 
Namrata Tamang 
Northern Sydney Astronomical Society 
Olive Langham 
Olivera Kovacevic 
Pam Brock 
Patris Fudeh 
Paul Jennings 
Paul Waizer 
Pawan Lalwani 
Peter Denham
Peter Underwood 
Peter Vail 
Petr Novak 
Rachael Davies 
Rebecca Bushby 
Rena Zhang 
Rhonda Riley 
Richard Curley on behalf of the Macarthur Astronomical 
Society 
Richard Kell AM 
Robert Ramoves 
Robin Low 
Ronald Ferguson 
Rosie Wagstaff 
Russell Incoll 
Ruth Cox 
Ryan Pierce 
Sabina Rubens 
Sally Westlake 
Sandra Jones 
Sandra Kwon 
Sarah Fitzherbert 
Sarah Taylor 
Selena Choo 
Sharon Stanley 
Sian Graham 
Sidney Cullen 
Steven Franks 
Steven Hufton 
Sue Woodhead 
Susan Munro 
Tennille Noach 
Tina Graham 
Tristan Sharp 
Vicki Bourne 
Victor Solomons 
Virginia Bailey 
Vivienne Johnson 
Wendy Ma 
Yael Bornstein 
and those who wish to remain anonymous.
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19. PAYMENT OF ACCOUNTS

Payment Performance Indicators 2016/17

Value of Accounts due and payable by the Museum at the end of each quarter

as at
30-Sep-16

$

as at
31-Dec-16

$

as at
31-Mar-17

$

as at 
30-Jun-17

$

Current 332,670 123,040 202,940 204,572

Less than 30 days overdue 1,180 4,564 229,629 0

Between 30 & 60 days overdue 9,812 218,231 0

Between 60 & 90 days overdue 0 314 2,039 9,000

More than 90 days overdue -2,171 -3,349 -4,049 -2,121

341,491 124,569 648,790 211,451

These amounts do not include accruals of expenses for which no claim for payment had been made at the end of the quarter.

Amount & value of accounts paid by the Museum on time in each quarter

Quarter ending
Accounts Paid Paid on Time

No. $’000 No. % $’000 %

30 September 2016 1,666 10,353 1,339 80.4% 9,074 87.6%

31 December 2016 1,165 7,791 960 82.4% 6,654 85.4%

31 March 2017 1,641 6,755 1,351 82.3% 5,924 87.7%

30 June 2017 1,521 6,116 1,399 92.0% 5,732 93.7%

The Museum’s policy is to endeavour to ensure that all payments to suppliers are made promptly and in line with State Government 
guidelines. In some circumstances, certain issues relating to claims for payment require further clarification with suppliers. In such 
cases payment is made promptly once agreement is reached on matters requiring clarification. No Interest was paid in relation to late 
payments.  

20. BUDGET ESTIMATES

Budgets for the year under review and for the next financial year are set out hereunder in accordance with section 7(1)(a)
(iii) of the Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) Act 1984. The budgets have been prepared on an accrual basis.

Expenditure 2016/17 
$000’s

2017/18 
$000’s

Operating Expenses

Employee Related 25,629 25,985

Other Operating Expenses 16,959 13,976

Depreciation and Amortisation 5,940 15,274

Total Expenditure 48,528 55,235

Revenue    

Recurrent Grant 29,674 28,544

Capital Grant 10,616 2,368

Sale of Goods and Services 7,610 7,200

Investment Income 265 125

Grants and Contributions 4,500 3,700

Other Revenue 250 250

Acceptance of State Liabilities 923 757

Gain on disposal of non current assets                   -                   - 

Total Revenue 53,838 42,944
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21. CONSULTANTS 

Engagements costing less than $50,000

Service Provided Number of 
Engagements

Cost $

Strategic/Business Planning 1 22,874

Finance and Accounting 1 750

Facilities Management 2 11,444

Collection Management 1 1,800

Total Consultancies 36,868

There were no other consultants engaged by the Museum in 2016–17

22. CREDIT CARD USAGE STATEMENT 

The Museum has a Credit Card Policy which has been issued to all users. No irregularities were recorded in 2015/16 and 
credit card use has been in accordance with the Premier’s Memoranda and Treasurer’s Directions. 
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POWERHOUSE MUSEUM
500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007 
Postal address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007 
Administration hours: 9.00 am to 5.00 pm  
Monday to Friday 
Phone (02) 9217 0111 
Open 10.00 am to 5.00 pm every day  
(closed Christmas Day) 
School holidays open 9.30 am to 5.00 pm 
Powerhouse Infoline (for information about what’s 
on): phone (02) 9217 0444 
maas.museum

Admission Charges
Adults $15 
Children (under 16) free 
Concessions (Australian Pensioners, Seniors, Social 
Security and Veterans Affairs cardholders) $8 
Student card holders $8 
Education group bookings (contact the Museum for 
charges) 
Members free 
Members of ICOM, Members of Museums Australia 
Inc free 
Group concessions: discounts apply for groups of 10 
or more  
Additional admission charges apply to some 
temporary exhibitions

SYDNEY OBSERVATORY
1003 Upper Fort Street, Millers Point NSW 2000 
Postal address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007 
Phone: (02) 9921 3485 
Open daily 10.00 am to 5.00 pm 
Open nightly Monday to Saturday. Open Sunday 
nights during school holidays 
Closed Christmas day/night, Boxing Day/night and 
Easter Friday day/night 
Summer (Dec/Jan): 1 session at 8.30 pm 
Spring/Autumn: 1 session at 8.15 pm 
Winter: 2 sessions at 6.15 & 8.15 pm 
Bookings required 
maas.museum

Admission Charges — Day
Adult $10 
Children (under 16) or concession $8 
Family (1 adult and up to 3 children; or 2 adults and 
up to 2 children) $26 
Member adult $8 
Member child (under 16 years) or concession $6 
Member family (1 adult and up to 3 children; or 2 
adults and up to 2 children) $22

Admission Charges — Night
Adult $18 
Children (under 16) $12 
Concession $14

Family (1 adult and up to 3 children; or 2 adults and 
up to 2 children) $50 
Member (adult) $16 
Member (child) $11 
Member (family) $43 
Includes 3D Space Theatre, telescope viewing and a 
guided tour 
Discounts are offered to MAAS Members for all 
activities 
Other discounts may apply

MUSEUMS DISCOVERY 
CENTRE
172 Showground Road, Castle Hill NSW 2154 
Postal address: PO Box 8025, Baulkham Hills NSW 2153 
Administration hours: 9.00 am to 4.30 pm  
Monday to Friday 
Phone: (02) 9762 1300 
Open Monday to Friday: 10.00 am to 5.00 pm 
museumsdiscoverycentre.com

Admission Charges
Adult $10 
Concession $8 (Australian Pensioners, Seniors,  
Social Security and Veterans Affairs cardholders) 
Children (under 16) free

MAAS MEMBERS
Members Lounge open 10.00 am to 4.30 pm daily 
(closed Christmas Day) 
Phone: (02) 9217 0600 
Email: membership@maas.museum

VOLUNTEERS
If you are interested in volunteer work or have any 
enquiries, please contact (02) 9217 0676 for details.
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